Università degli Studi del Piemonte Orientale "Amedeo Avogadro"

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Ph.D. in Chemistry & Biology Drug discovery and development SSD BIO-14

XXX cycle a.y. 2014-2017

"In vitro" and "in vivo" studies on innate immune cells



Alvaro Brittoli

Supervisor: Prof. Grazia Lombardi Co-Supervisor: Prof. Giulio Spagnoli Co-Supervisor: Dr. Emanuele Trella

Ph.D. program coordinator Prof. Luigi Panza

Università degli Studi del Piemonte Orientale "Amedeo Avogadro"

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Ph.D. in Chemistry & Biology

XXX cycle a.y. 2014-2017

"In vitro" and "in vivo" studies on innate immune cells

Alvaro Brittoli

Supervisor: Prof. Grazia Lombardi

Co-Supervisor: Prof. Giulio Spagnoli

Co-Supervisor: Dr. Emanuele Trella

Ph.D. program coordinator Prof. Luigi Panza

Nothing is more damaging to the adventurous spirit within a man than a secure future. The very basic core of a man's living spirit is his passion for adventure. The joy of life comes from our encounters with new experiences, and hence there is no greater joy than to have an endlessly changing horizon, for each day to have a new and different sun.

Christopher Johnson McCandless

To my grandfather

Table of Contents

List of abbreviations	VII
Preface	1
Chapter I: "In vitro" studies on galectin-3 in human natural killer cells	3
1. Introduction	5
1.1 The Sugar Code	5
1.2 Lectins	5
1.3 Galectins	6
1.4 Galectin-3	8
1.4.1 The carbohydrate recognition domain	9
1.4.2 The N-terminal domain	10
1.4.3 Galectin-3 ligand specificity	12
1.5 Galectin-3 expression and distribution in human tissues	14
1.5.1 Galectin-3 expression in human non-hematopoietic	
tissues	15
1.5.2 Galectin-3 expression and cellular localization in	
human hematopoietic cells	16
1.5.3 Regulation of galectin-3 gene expression	18
1.6 Cellular localization	23
1.7 Function of extracellular and intracellular galectin-3 in	
regulating cellular homeostasis	23
1.7.1 Function of extracellular galectin-3	23
1.7.2 Gal-3 function in endocytosis	23
1.7.3 Cell adhesion	25
1.7.4 Function of nuclear and cytoplasmic galectin-3	26
1.7.5 Regulation of cell cycle	26
1.7.6 Galectin-3 in gene regulation	27
1.7.7 Galectin-3 as a factor in pre-mRNA	28

1.8 Galectin-3 at the edge between life and death	29
1.8.1 The pro/anti-apoptotic effect of galectin-3	29
1.8.2 Regulation of cell growth and differentiation by	
endogenous and exogenous galectin-3	33
1.9. Function in immune system	34
1.9.1 T cells and B cells	35
1.9.2 Monocytes/macrophages	37
1.9.3 Neutrophils	38
1.9.4 Mast cells and eosinophils	38
1.9.5 Adhesion and migration of immune cells	39
1.9.6 Galectin-3 at the interface between innate and adaptive	
immunity	41
1.9.7 Recognition of foreign pathogens	42
1.9.8 Role in immune system regulation	44
1.10 Natural killer cells	45
1.10.1 Natural killer cells activation and functions	48
2. Outline of the thesis	55
3. Materials and methods	57
3.1 Human NK cell isolation and cell cultures	57
3.2 PCR and real-time PCR	57
3.3 Western blot	58
3.4 Flow cytometry	59
3.5 Confocal microscopy	60
3.6 NK cell degranulation assay	60
3.7 Statistical analysis	61
4. Results	63
4.1 Galectin-3 gene expression in human resting NK cells	63
4.2 Galectin-3 mRNA in human activated NK cells	63
4.3 Galectin-3 protein in human activated NK cells	64

4.4 Galectin-3 protein localization in human NK cells	66
4.5 Galectin-3 functional studies in human NK cells	70
5. Discussion	73
6. Conclusion and outlook	79
References	81
Chapter II: CD154/40L recombinant vaccinia virus induces direct and	
macrophage-mediated in vitro and in vivo antitumor effects	95
1. Introduction	97
1.1 Cancer and immune therapeutic strategy	97
1.2 The CD40 receptor and CD40 ligand	102
1.2.1 The CD40 receptor : CD40 ligand (CD154) pathway	103
1.2.2 The CD40 receptor : CD40 ligand (CD154) in the	
immune system	106
1.2.3 Targeting CD40 receptor to harness the immune	
system against cancer	110
1.3 Macrophages	114
1.3.1 Macrophages and cancer	116
1.3.2 Targeting the CD40 pathway to enhance antitumor	
macrophage activity	121
1.4 Vaccinia virus and cancer immunotherapy	124
2. Outline of the thesis	129
3. Materials and methods	131
3.1 Immunohistochemistry	131
3.2 CD40 ligand-expressing recombinant Vaccinia Virus	
(rVV40L)	131
3.3 Established tumor cell lines	131
3.4 In vitro generation of CD14+ derived macrophages	132
3.5 CD40 triggering on tumor cells	132

3.6 Activation of CD14+ monocytes and macrophages	
differentiation	133
3.7 Co-culture of M1 and M2 macrophages with established	
tumor cell lines	133
3.8 Cross-presentation assays	133
3.9 Migration assay	134
3. 10 In vivo experiments	134
3.11 Gene expression analysis	135
3.12 Flow cytometry	135
3.14 ELISA	135
3.15 Histological evaluation	136
3.16 Statistical analysis	136
4. Results	137
4.1 CD40 receptor expression in clinical tumor specimens	137
4.2 rVV40L infection induces apoptosis of CD40(+) tumor cell	
lines	138
4.3 Impaired CD40 signaling pathway is associated with tumor	
cell resistance to rVV40L induced apoptosis	142
4.4 Modulation of M1/M2 functional profiles by rVV40L	
infection	144
4.5 CD40 receptor-stimulated M1 and M2 macrophages	
promote the recruitment of CD8+ T cells	150
4.6 rVV40L promotes M1-mediated cross-presentation of	
tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) to CD8+ T cells	154
4.7 rVV40L promotes in vivo tumor regression through	
macrophage activation	155
5. Discussion	159
6. Conclusion and outlook	165
References	167

List of publications	177
Acknowledgments	179

List of abbreviations

aa amino acids

ADCC antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity

AdCD40L CD40L-expressing recombinant adenovirus

AGE advanced glycation end products

AIP ALG-2 interacting protein

Alix ALG-2 linked protein x

AP activator protein

APC antigen presenting cell

Apo apoptosis antigen

ATF activating transcription factor

Bcl B-cell lymphoma

CCL C-C motif chemokine ligand

CCR C-C motif chemokine receptor

CD40/CD40R/CD40(+) CD40 receptor

CD40L CD40 ligand

CDC complement-dependent cytotoxicity

CEA carcinoembryonic antigen

CM complete medium

CRD carbohydrate recognition domain

CRE cAMP-dependent response element

CREB cAMP-response elementbinding protein

CRM1 chromosome maintenance region 1

CXCL C-X-C motif chemokine ligand

CXCR C-X-C motif chemokine receptor

DAMPs damage-associated molecular patterns

DCs dendritic cells

DISC cell death-inducing signaling complex

EGF epidermal growth factor

ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinase

ESCRT endosomal sorting complex required for transport

Fc fragment crystallizable

FceRI high-affinity IgE receptors

Fuc fucose

Gal galactose

Gal Galectin

Gal-1 galectin-1

Gal-3 galectin-2

GI gastrointestinal

Glc glucose

GM-CSF granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor

GPI glycosylphosphatidylinositol

GRIFIN galectin-related interfibre protein

GSK glycogen synthase kinase

H&E hematoxylin and eosin

HCC hepatocellular carcinoma

HIPK homeodomain-interacting protein kinase

HLA human Leucocyte Antigens

HLA-DR human leukocyte antigenantigen D Related

hnRPN heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins

IFN interferon

Ig Immunoglobulin

IL interleukin

iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase

IRF interferon regulatory factor

IS the immunological synapse

JNK c-Jun N-terminal kinase

KIRs killer cell Ig-like receptors

LacNAc N-acetyllactosamine

LAK lymphokine-activated killer cell

LAMPs lysosomal-membraneassociated glycoproteins

LcK lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase

LDL low density lipoproteins

LPS lipopolysaccharide

mAb monoclonal antibody

Mac macrophage antigen

MAPK mitogen activated protein kinase

mCD40L transmembrane form of CD40 ligand

M-CSF macrophage colonystimulating factor

MDSC myeloid derived suppressor cells

MEK mitogen-activated protein

MHC major histocompatibility complex

MIC MHC class I polypeptiderelated sequence

MOI multiplicity of infection

NAc N-acetyl

NCRs natural cytotoxicity receptors

Neu neuraminic acid

NF-IL6 nuclear factor for interleukin-6

NF-kB nuclear facto kappa B

NK natural killer

NO nitric oxide

NORE1a novel Ras effector 1a

NSCLC non-small-cell lung cancer

OC ovarian cancer

PAMPs pathogen associated molecular patterns

PB peripheral blood

PBMC peripheral blood mononuclear cells

PDA pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma

PI propidium iodide

PI3K phosphoinositide 3-kinase

PLC_y phospholipase C_y

Ras rat sarcoma

Rassf5 Ras association domaincontaining protein 5

RCC renal cell carcinoma

RNI reactive nitrogen intermediates

ROI reactive oxygen intermediates

rVV40L recombinant vaccinia virus encoding for CD40L

rVVMART-1 FG MelanA/MART-1 full gene

rVVs recombinant vaccinia viruses

sCD40L soluble form of CD40 ligand

sCD40L/s40L soluble form of CD40 ligand

SIE sis-inducible element

Sp specificity protein

STAT signal transducer and activator of transcription

TAMs tumor-associated macrophages

Tcf T cell factor

TCM T central memory cell

TEM T effector memory cell

TEMRA T effector memory RA

TGF transforming growth factor

Th T helper lymphocyte

TLR toll like receptor

TMA Tissue microarray

TNF tumor necrosis factor

TNFR tumor necrosis factor receptor

TRAFs TNFR-associated factors

TRAIL necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

Tregs regulatory T cells

TTF thyroid-specific transcription factor

VCAM vascular cell adhesion molecule

VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

VV Vaccinia Virus

WT wild type

M2 alternatively activated

macrophages

M1 classically activated macrophages

Preface

During the three years of my Ph.D. course, I was involved in two different research projects, both concerning cellular components of the innate immune system: natural killer cells and macrophages.

In particular, my principal project (University of Eastern Piedmont, Italy) aims to clarify the expression and role of a protein, galectin-3, on natural killer cells.

The other one (University of Basel, Switzerland) deals with the use of a viral vector to boost the antitumor activity of macrophages.

Chapter I

"In vitro" studies on galectin-3 in human natural killer cells

Introduction

1. Introduction

1.1 The Sugar Code

An enormous amount of events take place among cells, either intra-, inter-, or extracellularly and the whole apparatus of proteins and nucleic acids is not sufficient to adequately perform all of them. A third category of bio-molecules with the ability to transmit a multitude of different messages seems to be required for assuring fine cellular processes, such as cell adhesion and communication.

Sugars, in the form of mono-, oligo-, or poly-saccharides, as well as glycoconjugates, are a perfect example of such type of bio-molecules. These compounds are, in fact, endowed with a large capacity in information-storing and a great ability to transfer information through protein bio-recognition.

As reported by Gabius (2000), oligo-saccharides surpass peptides by more than seven orders of magnitude in the theoretical ability to build isomers, when the total of conceivable hexamers is calculated. Most of the carbohydrates, in fact, contain at least one asymmetric carbon atom with a number of possible stereoisomers that grow rapidly with molecular weight. In addition, each carbohydrate has approximately four functional groups that can be used to establish connections with other sugar units in a linear and/or in a nonlinear/branched fashion. All the complex information stored in the glycostructures decorating the surface of a cell, protein, or lipid molecule can be deciphered by a protein having the ability to bind sugar, such as, for example, the lectins (Gabius 2000).

1.2 Lectins

The name lectin derives from the latin word *legere*, whose meaning is to pick/choose or select. Lectins represent a group of structurally diverse proteins able to bind and recognize simple/complex sugar moieties protruding from glycolipids or glycoproteins (Ghazarian et al. 2011). Carbohydrate-binding proteins can be roughly

classified into two main groups: lectins and sulfated glycosaminoglycan-binding proteins. The lectin superfamily phylogenetically comprises ancient proteins, defined by their ability to bind either soluble carbohydrates or glycoconjugates, mediating a large array of biological processes, including cell to cell interactions, communications at both inner and outer side of the cellular membrane and modulation of immune responses.

The broad range of functions carried out by this heterogeneous group of proteins are possible thanks to their ability to bind many different types of carbohydrates, which are present in the extracellular matrix, at the cell surfaces, or into secreted glycoproteins. Lectins can read the sugar code, recognizing even slight difference in the complex structure of oligosaccharides and/or in simple monosaccharides, binding only to specific sugars.

Originally isolated from plants, they are widely distributed in nature, ranging from bacteria and virus to animals. Today, based on the structures of animal lectins at least 15 structural families of mammalian lectins exist, where galectins and C-type lectins are the largest families (Gupta 2012).

1.3 Galectins

Galectins are a family of highly conserved proteins whose members are characterized by a highly conserved carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD), consisting of approximately 130 amino acids (aa) (Barondes et al. 1994) which bind small β -galactosides/poly-N-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc)-enriched glycoconjugates (Gupta 2012). These proteins were initially classified as S-type lectins, where the S (sulphydryl or thiol) was used to indicate the dependence on reducing conditions for activity, a specific property of galectin-1 (Gal-1), the first studied galectin (Gupta 2012).

To date, up to 15 galectins have been identified in mammals and, based on their molecular architecture and structural differences in CRD presentation, they can be

6

classified into 3 main groups, as proposed by Hirabayashi and Kasai in 1993 (Fig. 1A).

The prototype group are galectins containing one CRD, that can exist as monomer (galectins -5, -7, -10) or homodimers with two polypeptides containing a CRD each (galectins -1, -2, -11, -13, -14, -15), and a short N-terminal sequence. It should be mentioned that classification of galectin-11, initially identified as GRIFIN (galectin-related interfibre protein), is still under debate, since this galectin misses two of the seven crucial aa conserved in the CRD, and it displays no binding activity trough sugar molecules (Rabinovich et al. 2007).

Tandem repeat galectins are monomers with two non-identical CRDs joined by a short peptide linker region (galectins -4, -6, -8, -9, -12).

By contrast, galectin-3 (Gal-3) is the only member discovered so far of the chimeratype with a unique structure, characterized by one CRD connected to a long Nterminal domain. This latter is involved in Gal-3 oligomerization which results in the formation of Gal-3 multimers exposing several CRDs, enabling bivalent or multivalent binding of carbohydrate ligands (Dumic et al. 2006; Sato et al. 2009; Fortuna-Costa et al. 2014).

Structure and classification



Figure. 1. Schematic representation of the structure of different members of the galectin family. (A) prototype galectins containing one or two homodimeric CRD, tandem repeats containing two different CRD connected by an aminoacidic linker and the unique chimera-type Gal-3 composed by a CRD and a collagen-like sequence. (B) schematic representation of Gal-3 oligomerization into pentamers through the N-terminal domain allowing the multivalent binding of glycans forming a lattice structure (adapted from Rabinovich and Toscano 2009).

1.4 Galectin-3

Gal-3 is the currently accepted name for a protein, initially identified as Mac-2, a surface protein expressed on murine macrophages (Ho and Springer 1982), formerly also known as CBP-35, LBP, L-34, L-29, or ϵ BP (Gupta 2012). Human Gal-3, is a 31 kDa protein encoded by a single gene (*LGALS3*), which is located on chromosome 14, locus q21–q22 and spans on a total of 17 Kb. The gene has an open reading frame of 750pb and consists of 6 exons and 5 introns that are translated into a protein of 250 aa. In particular, the transition start site is found within the exon II, which contains also the initial methionine, the first six aa and part of the 5' untranslated sequence. The exon III contain entirely the long and flexible, collagen-like N-

Introduction

terminal domain, while exon IV-VI codify for the C-terminal domain (Argüeso and Panjwani 2011; Gupta 2012; Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

1.4.1 The carbohydrate recognition domain

Gal-3 shares whit Gal-1 and Gal-2 ~25% sequence identity and their CRD have a similar three-dimensional structure and identical topology (Seetharaman et al. 1998). This latter, is composed of two anti-parallel β -sheets with five and six β -strands (F1-5 and S1-6) (Seetharaman et al. 1998), forming a globular structure that accommodates the carbohydrate-binding site, composed by the side chains of the aa forming the 6-stranded β -sheet (Hughes 2001). This structure is responsible for the lectin activity of Gal-3. In particular, the two β -sheets composing the CRD are arranged in a convex side (F1-5) and a concave side (S1-6) with this latter forming a groove able to accommodate a linear tetrasaccharide (Fig. 2) (Leffler et al. 2002). The CRD can be schematically divided into four sub-binding sites: A, B, C, D, where the C subsite is made of approximately 6 conserved aa and is responsible for the β galactoside binding. The other sites participate in the binding activity, either by increasing or decreasing the protein affinity, depending on the saccharide moiety linked to the galactose bound in the C subsite (Salomonsson et al. 2010). Beside carbohydrate recognition/binding, the CRD is also involved in the anti-apoptotic activity associated with Gal-3 (for further details see paragraph 1.8.1). This domain, in fact, presents the NWGR as sequence, which is also highly conserved within the BH1 domain of the anti-apoptotic B-cell lymphoma (Bcl)-2 family, and the interaction with this latter is responsible for the resistance to apoptotic stimuli (Yang et al. 1996). The importance of this sequence for Gal-3 is demonstrated by the fact that it is highly conserved among different species, and that a single amino acid substitution of Gly to Ala in the NWGR sequence abrogates the anti-apoptotic properties (Akahani et al. 1997). The NWGR motif is also essential for the carbohydrate recognition activity since the tryptophan (W) amino acid is directly involved in the sugar binding (Yang et al. 1998).

Finally, despite Gal-3 oligomerization has been proposed to occur through the N-terminal domain (type-N model), recently a new model (named type-C self-association) has been proposed. Accordingly, oligomerization would be mediated by the carbohydrate recognition site: the carbohydrate-binding site of one CRD would bind at the other side of the next CRD, and the N-terminal domain would participate by enhancing this association. Both models remain equally probable, and whether and when each model occurs in a cellular system remain to be demonstrated (Lepur et al. 2012).



Figure 2. High Resolution X-Ray Structure of Human Gal-3 in complex with LacNAc visualized as stick model (PDB: 1KJL). (A) secondary structure of the Gal-3 CRD; (B) The solvent accessible surface of Gal-3 CRD with the position of A-D binding site shown above the binding groove, the C binding site was shown in white (adapted from Salomonsson et al. 2010; Hsieh et al. 2015).

1.4.2 The N-terminal domain

The N-terminal domain is a relatively flexible structure, consisting of two distinct portions: a collagenase sensitive, proline, glycine, alanine, and tyrosine rich motif, followed by 12 aa sequence also called the small N-terminal domain, containing a casein kinase I serine phosphorylation site. The former, consisting of 100–150 aa

residues, has homologous repeats (8 to 13 in vertebrates) (Ippel et al. 2016) of a consensus sequence Pro-Gly-Ala-Tyr-Pro-Gly, followed by three additional aa with a number of repetitions that vary among different species and lack of charged or large side-chain hydrophobic residues. This part of the N-terminus domain has 35.5% identity with collagen α 1 (II) chain of bovine cartilage, and this explains the designed name of this domain as collagen-like N-terminal domain (Raz et al. 1989; Gupta 2012). In addition to collagen, this portion of the N-terminal domain has a 25% homology with some heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRPN) (Dumic et al. 2006).

At least four functional properties can be ascribed to the N-terminal domain:

i) Upon binding of specific glycoconjugates, Gal-3 changes its conformation, resulting in N-terminal domain self-assembly and consequent protein oligomerization (Sato et al. 2009). This process leads to the formation of a multimer (such as dimer or pentamer) (Gong et al. 1999; Ahmad et al. 2004), which possesses multivalent CRD (Sato and Nieminen 2002) even under non-reducing conditions or in the presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate (Henderson and Sethi 2009), leading to cross-linking of cell receptors;

ii) The N-terminal portion of the protein (small N-terminal domain) is involved in its secretion. In fact, the deletion of the initial 12 aa, completely abrogates secretion of this protein through a new mechanism independent from the classical secretory pathways (ER and Golgi system) (for further details see paragraph 1.6) (Dumic et al. 2006);

iii) Despite the carbohydrate binding is largely N-terminal independent (Dumic et al. 2006), molecular modeling and mutagenesis studies demonstrated that the aa present in the N-terminal domain can participate in sugar binding (Barboni et al. 2000).
Particularly, the N-terminal domain would contribute to carbohydrate binding through the stabilization of the substrate-bound lectin complex (Barboni et al. 2000).
These studies were performed with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) as binding partner,

demonstrating that Gal-3 is able to bind the side chain of the O-antigen of LPS, which contains polymers of LacNAc, a known ligand for the CRD of this lectin. Alternatively, for LPS devoid of beta-galactosides, Gal-3 can interact through the N-terminal domain, with the lipid A core region of LPS (Mey et al. 1996). The use of a monoclonal antibody (mAb) that recognizes an epitope within the N-terminal domain of Gal-3 completely abrogates the binding of this lectin to LPS (Fowler et al. 2006);

iv) Post-translational phosphorylation of a serine residue (Ser⁶) in the small Nterminal domain of the protein, has been associated with several Gal-3 functions: a) this modification acts as an "on/off" switch for its sugar-binding capability controlling downstream biological effects (Mazurek et al. 2000) b) similarly to Bcl-2, whose phosphorylation at Ser⁷⁰ appears to be critical for its anti-apoptotic function, non-phosphorylated Gal-3 mutants result in loss of Gal-3 anti-apoptotic activity and fail to induce cell cycle arrest (Yoshii et al. 2002).

1.4.3 Galectin-3 ligand specificity

The minimal sugar unit recognized by galectins is represented by a galactose residue linked to an adjacent monosaccharide in the β configuration (β -galactoside), such as that found in the LacNAc residues (Galactose [Gal] β 1-4N-acetylglucosamine [GlcNAc]). Each member of the galectin family presents slightly, yet significant, differences in the CRD that can tune the affinity of each galectin for its ligands (Sato et al. 2009).

Gal-3 can bind both N- and O-glycans (Sundblad et al. 2011) and it was originally identified to bind preferentially to Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3(4)GlcNAc (Cardoso et al. 2016); specific modifications of the β -galactoside core, however, can enhance or reduce the affinity towards Gal-3. α -N-acetylgalactosamine modifications of the Gal residue in the β -galactoside core, indeed, significantly increase the affinity for Gal-3, while modifications with α 2-6- sialic acid reduce the affinity for the same protein (Hirabayashi et al. 2002). Moreover, the extension of the non-reducing end of the disaccharide with 2- o 3- substituents on the outer galactose, such as Nacetylneuraminic acid (NeuNAc) α 2,3 or GalNAc α 1,3 and fucose (Fuc) α 1,2 substituents greatly enhances the affinity for Gal-3 (Krześlak and Lipińska 2004). In addition, also galactomannans and polymannans can be bound by Gal-3 (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017). Usually the affinity of Gal-3 toward its glycan ligands is lower (approximately 10⁻⁶ M) than those typically observed for protein-protein interactions (approximately 10⁻⁸ M); however, the affinity increases for branched glycans and/or polylactosamine structures over simple saccharides. In fact, as previously mentioned, upon ligand binding Gal-3 can oligomerize through the Nterminal domain resulting in multiple CRD presentation. The multivalent binding of carbohydrate-containing glycoproteins or glycolipids by Gal-3 increases the avidity of the protein for its ligand, promoting the formation of organized glycan-galectin clusters, termed "lattices", and mediating cross-linking of glycosylated molecules (Fortuna-Costa et al. 2014) (Fig. 1B).

Further, since Gal-3 possesses an extended binding site, when compared to Gal-1 (Sato and Nieminen 2002), this protein displays a high affinity for glycan presenting repeated LacNAc residues, as found in polylactosaminoglycans (polylactosamine effect). Amniotic fibronectin, which contains a tetra antennary complex composed of four parallel lactosamine residues presented by a mannose core structure, is an example (Sato and Hughes 1992). Interestingly, no effect is displayed against plasma fibronectin, that presents only two bi-antennary chains.

Mutational and structural studies of the human Gal-3 carbohydrate binding site (formed by β -strands S4–S6) in complex with LacNAc molecule revealed the aa directly implied in sugar binding. In particular, the galactose C-4 hydroxyl group interacts with His-158, Arg-162, Asn-160 and a water molecule (W1). The C-6 hydroxyl group interacts directly with Glu-184, Asn-174 and W3, while Arg144 can interact with the monomer linked to O-3 of the terminal galactose. Other favorable

stacking interactions are provided by Trp-181 with the hydrophobic galactose surface.

The N-acetylglucosamine moiety is more exposed to the solvent; therefore, only the C-3 hydroxyl group can interact with Glu-184 and Arg-162. The other interactions involving the GlcNAc moiety are mediated through its N-acetyl group bonded to Arg 186 and through a water molecule (W2) to Glu-165 and this probably accounts for the approximately 5-fold higher binding affinity of human Gal-3 for LacNAc over lactose (Seetharaman et al. 1998; Krześlak and Lipińska 2004).

Since position 4 and 6 of the galactose in the β -galactoside present key interactions with the protein, modifications of these positions are not tolerated. On the contrary, appropriate modifications of position 2 and 3 are well tolerated and can enhance the affinity of this protein for its ligand (Leffler et al. 2002; Salomonsson et al. 2010).

This chimera-type galectin not only interacts with glycan, but also with peptide motifs. Despite Gal-3 carbohydrate-binding activity appears to be critical for Gal-3 function, this lectin presents also many different molecular interactions that are largely carbohydrate independent, some of them involving the carbohydrate binding groove (Wang et al. 1995; Paron et al. 2003; Elad-Sfadia et al. 2004; Shimura et al. 2005; Gupta 2012). For example, Gal-3 is able to interact with Bcl-2, an anti-apoptotic protein, which is not a glycoprotein (Yang et al. 1996).

1.5 Galectin-3 expression and distribution in human tissues

Data on Gal-3 expression in tissues of human adults and during embryonic stages are more limited if compared to mice. However, different studies (see below) have provided evidences about the expression pattern and distribution of this lectin in nonhematopoietic and hematopoietic human tissues.

1.5.1 Galectin-3 expression in human non-hematopoietic tissues

Gal-3 is broadly expressed in several human tissues and cells in a spatio-temporal fashion (Sundblad et al. 2011). During human embryogenesis, Gal-3 expression is mainly confined in epithelial cells of the skin, respiratory and digestive tract, excretory tubes of the kidney and to the uroepithelium. In the adult, Gal-3 expression resembles that found in embryogenesis, with protein expression restricted to the epithelial cells of different organs and to myeloid cells infiltrating the tissue. In particular, robust expression of this lectin was found during lung analysis in epithelial cells of the bronchus, chondrocytes of the bronchial cartilage, and in alveolar macrophages (Mathieu et al. 2005). Gal-3 expression is also described in the gastric epithelial cells, the colon, the colonic epithelial cells, and in the intestinal macrophages (Lippert et al. 2008). In the gut, Gal-3 expression is restricted to the crypt cells and macrophages of lamina propria (Mercer et al. 2009). Interestingly, the expression of this protein in endometrial and decidual tissues is tightly regulated through the menstrual cycle. Since Gal-3 has many immunomodulatory properties (for further details see paragraph 1.9), this observation led to hypothesize that Gal-3 might contribute not only to the regulation of the endometrial function, but also to the modulation of the endometrial immune system during the implantation process (von Wolff et al. 2005; Sundblad et al. 2011). Finally, Gal-3 expression has been detected also in prostate glands, in the cytoplasm of luminal cells, and intratubular fibroblasts of the breast, in the cytosolic and membrane-enriched fraction of chondrocytes, as well as in the coronary artery smooth muscle cells (Sundblad et al. 2011).

Under physiologic conditions, due to its ability to shape the immune response, Gal-3 expression in epithelia of the digestive tract and lungs might be involved in mucosal defense, modulating both host-pathogen interactions and immune attacks (Sundblad et al. 2011).

<u>1.5.2 Galectin-3 expression and cellular localization in human</u> hematopoietic cells

Gal-3 has been reported to be ubiquitously expressed in many immune cells, where it contributes to regulate both the innate and adaptive immune responses (Chen et al. 2005; Liu 2005; Rabinovich et al. 2007). First identified in macrophages (Ho and Springer 1982), Gal-3 was found in monocytes (Liu et al. 1995), dendritic cells (DCs) (van Stijn et al. 2009), mast cells and basophils (Craig et al. 1995), eosinophils (Rao et al. 2007), neutrophils (Wu et al. 2017), T and B cells (Craig et al. 1995; Chen et al. 2005), with a level of relative expression which is tightly regulated by the cellular activation state.

In human monocytes, this lectin is constitutively expressed at low levels, both intracellularly and at the cell surface; however, its expression increases dramatically at both mRNA and protein levels, as monocytes differentiate into macrophages (Nangia-Makker et al. 1993; van Stijn et al. 2009). In this latter, Gal-3 was found in the cytoplasm/nucleus and at the plasma membrane surface. Interestingly, alternative macrophage polarization (M2) is associated whit higher levels of Gal-3 when compared to classically (M1) polarized macrophages, with a pattern of expression that follows the subsequent scheme: monocyte << M1 < M2 (Novak et al. 2012). Despite the difference in the levels of expression, cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineages are able to secrete this lectin in the extracellular media when properly stimulated (Liu et al. 1995)

In a similar manner, differentiation of human monocytes into DCs leads to an increment in the Gal-3 protein levels with only a moderate increase in Gal-3 mRNA. Moreover, during cellular differentiation, the monocyte surface expression of this lectin slowly disappears, with Gal-3 protein that mainly localizes intracellularly in immature DCs (van Stijn et al. 2009). Conversely, in activated DCs, this lectin is principally restricted to lipid raft domains of membrane ruffles and lamellipodia, where it contributes to regulate cell motility (Hsu et al. 2009). Similarly to monocytes

and macrophages, Gal-3 secretion was reported also for DCs. Proteomic analysis of DC-derived exosomes demonstrates, in fact, that these cells can release in the extracellular microenvironment, membrane vesicles containing Gal-3 (Théry et al. 2001).

Through light microscopy immunohistochemistry and ultrastructural immunogold labeling, Gal-3 expression and localization were studied in human mast cells and basophils. In particular, in mast cells, this lectin was detected in the nucleus (over heterochromatin whereas euchromatin was unlabeled) and/or the cytoplasm. Of note, cytoplasmic labeling was principally concentrated over secretory granules. Gal-3 localization in basophils was similar to that found in mast cells, but with a general low intensity of staining (Craig et al. 1995).

Finally, Gal-3 expression was also reported for two other populations of innate immune cells: neutrophils and eosinophils. In the former, Gal-3 localize mainly intracellularly, despite at a lower level compared to other innate cells (Wu et al. 2017). In addition, it and can be secreted by these cells upon treatment with mannan structure derived from microbial pathogens (Linden et al. 2013). Conversely, in human eosinophils, this chimeric protein is confined to the cells surface, with a level of expression that increases in allergic subjects (Rao et al. 2007).

In sharp contrast with the constitutive expression of Gal-3 in innate immune cells, this lectin is absent, or only scarcely expressed, in lymphocytes and lymphoid cell lines. Resting T and B cells, for example, do not express Gal-3, but this protein can be induced following interleukin (IL)-4 stimulation or CD40 cross-linking in B cells (Acosta-Rodríguez et al. 2004), and by TCR engagement, or mitogen exposure, in T cells (Joo et al. 2001; Dumic et al. 2006). Likewise, also virus and/or parasite infections are able to induce Gal-3 expression in these cells (Dumic et al. 2006).

1.5.3 Regulation of galectin-3 gene expression

Despite the amount of data available on Gal-3 expression in hematopoietic/nonhematopoietic tissues, the regulation of gene transcription remains poorly understood.

The analysis of the promoter sequence of *LGALS3* revealed that this region contains, among others, two nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) and three putative activator protein (AP)-1 sites (Kadrofske et al. 1998). Particularly, in glioblastoma cells, the expression of this protein is regulated by Jun (a component of AP-1 transcription factor) and NF-kB, where Jun seems to be important for the basal expression of Gal-3, while NF-kB is implicated in the gene induction following cell damage (Dumic et al. 2000).

The presence in the promoter of cAMP-dependent response element (CRE) implies that cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) might participate in the Gal-3 gene regulation.

Particularly, the implication of CREB and NF-kB in Gal-3 gene regulation was studied in human T lymphotropic virus-I infected T cells (Hsu et al. 1996). In the latter, Gal-3 is under the regulation of both the CREB/activating transcription factor (ATF) and, to a lesser extent, the NF-kB transcription factor. Curiously, NF-kB regulation of Gal-3 expression is controlled by nuclin, an apoptosis-associated protein, which can interfere with NF-kB in order to inhibit the expression of Gal-3 (Liu et al. 2004). On the contrary, in macrophage cells, Gal-3 expression seems to be principally regulated by the rat sarcoma (Ras)/mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathway (Kim et al. 2003).

Further analysis revealed that the promoter contains also numerous GC box motifs, which can be bound by the ubiquitously expressed specificity protein (Sp)1 transcription factor, a feature which is commonly observed in the promoters of the housekeeping genes (Fogel et al. 1999). Nevertheless, Gal-3 expression at both
mRNA and protein levels, following serum addition to serum-starved fibroblasts, represents a feature of early genes, and sis-inducible element (SIE) was suggested to be a potential candidate for the growth-induced activation of *LGALS3* expression after serum addition (Dumic et al. 2006)

Finally, epigenetic mechanisms could also be involved in Gal-3 expression. The gene promoter and the first exon, in fact, present a high content of GcP island and the methylation status seems to contribute to Gal-3 expression in pituitary tumors (Ruebel et al. 2005).

As evidenced by the different regulatory elements found in the Gal-3 promoter and the different transcription factors involved in LGALS-3 transcription, Gal-3 expression results to be a complicated process probably depending on cell type, environmental stimuli and malignant transformation.

1.6 Cellular localization

Gal-3 is a structurally unique protein expressed in many normal tissues and immune cells with a cellular localization that strongly depends on the cell type and its proliferation status. In addition, the cellular distribution of this protein can change during differentiation or neoplastic transformation (Dumic et al. 2006) (Fig. 3).

Introduction



Figure 3. **Intracellular trafficking of Gal-3 based on experimental evidence.** Gal-3 can be either found the extracellular space, attached to cell surface, in the cytoplasm, in secretory vesicles or in the nucleus. Moreover, it can be secreted from cells in a manner that is independent from classical secretory pathway (adapted from Hughes 2001).

Initially synthesized on free ribosomes in the cytoplasm (Mehul and Hughes 1997), Gal-3 is able to shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm in a manner that is still unclear. Using a truncated form of Gal-3 was discovered that mutants containing truncations of the amino-terminal half of this protein, were dispensable for nuclear import (Davidson et al. 2006). On the contrary, mutants of the same construct, containing truncations from the carboxyl terminus, showed loss of nuclear localization. Then, site-directed mutagenesis of this latter portion of the polypeptide suggested that nuclear import was dependent on the ITLT sequence (residues 253-256). However, this sequence, by itself, is not sufficient to guarantee a correct nuclear localization: its activity, in fact, is strongly regulated by a neighboring leucine-rich nuclear export signal.

Conversely, another study suggested that Gal-3 could be either imported into the nucleus via active transport and/or passive diffusion (Nakahara et al. 2006). Concerning the active transport, the Authors of this study identified a nuclear localization signal (NLS)-like motif in its protein sequence, HRVKKL (residue 223-

228), similar to those of p53 and c-Myc, respectively. Moreover, they suggest that nuclear localization of Gal-3 is, at least in part, due to the importin- α/β , with the Arg224 amino acid residue of human Gal-3 essential for its active nuclear translocation and molecular stability.

In contrast with nuclear import, nuclear export of this protein seems to be mediated by chromosome maintenance region 1 (CRM1), a nuclear export receptor. Candidate nuclear export signals, recognized by CRM1, can be found between residues 240 and 255 of murine Gal-3. Direct mutagenesis studies identified residues 240-255 of the Gal-3 protein, as containing fundamental aa for nuclear exportation, and partially overlaps with the region (residues 252-258), previously identified as important for nuclear localization (Li et al. 2006).

As previously reported, Gal-3 can undergo to post-translation modifications (see paragraph 1.4.2). In particular, this protein can be phosphorylated at both Ser⁶ and Ser¹², of the NH2-terminal, even though the majority of phosphate is present at Ser⁶, while less than 10% at position Ser¹² (Dumic et al. 2006). The protein responsible for Gal-3 phosphorylation seems to be casein kinase I and/or II, since the major acidic residues on both sides of Ser⁶ make it a good substrate for this kinase. The presence of both unphosphorylated and phosphorylated Gal-3 has been reported in mouse 3T3 fibroblasts; where phosphorylated Gal-3 was found in both nucleus and cytoplasm, whereas unphosphorylated form was detected only in the cytoplasm. This observation suggests that the phosphorylation is a mechanism required for Gal-3 nuclear import, however, mutagenesis studies of Ser⁶ show that it is not essential for protein localization in this cellular compartment (Dumic et al. 2006).

Similarly to nuclear import/export, Gal-3 secretion mechanism is still under debating. Gal-3 lacks any recognizable canonical secretion signals able to direct this protein in the classical secretory pathways through the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi system (Hughes 1999). Nevertheless, it has been extensively demonstrated that

this protein can be secreted by immune (Théry et al. 2001; van Stijn et al. 2009; Linden et al. 2013) and many other cells (Hughes 1999; Menon and Hughes 1999). It has been proposed that Ga-3 can be released by cells through an incompletely understood mechanism, called ectocytosis (Menon and Hughes 1999), in which the protein forms aggregates underlying the plasma membrane and the release takes place through membrane blebbing.

In particular, the first step in the Gal-3 secretion consists in protein accumulation and capture at the cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane. This is a rate-limiting step and seems to be mediated by molecular chaperones and/or heat shock proteins.

Essential requirements for this retention appear to be the acylation by the lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase (LcK). In particular, Cos cells transfected with a fusion protein containing within the N-terminal domain a Lck acylation sequence were efficiently acylated, retained at the cytoplasmic level and released in higher amount when compared to wild type lectin.

The following step consists in the evagination of the plasma membrane and secretion of the Gal-3-containing extracellular vesicles, in which the protein is protected against proteolysis. Under culture conditions, the Gal-3 release from these extracellular vesicles is quite fast, with a half-life of about 1 h. Conversely, isolated vesicles were more stable and this suggests that vesicles breakdown and cargo release requires specific factor(s) secreted by cells (Krześlak and Lipińska 2004).

The N-terminal domain of the protein seems to be fundamental for secretion and localization into secretory vesicles (Menon and Hughes 1999). The addition of the N-terminal domain to a cytosolic protein, the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase, leads to efficient export in transfected Cos cells. The 89–96 YP(90)SAP(93)GAY short sequence was identified as fundamental for Gal-3 secretion; however, this short segment alone is insufficient to induce the secretion of fusion proteins and results active only when larger portions of the Gal-3 N-terminal sequence are present.

22

1.7 Function of extracellular and intracellular galectin-3 in regulating cellular homeostasis

The many intra- and extra-cellular localizations of this protein, together with the ability to interact with numerous glycosylated or unglycosylated binding partners (Fig. 4 and 5), allow Gal-3 to modulate several physiological processes, such as cellular homeostasis, apoptosis, cell activation, cell adhesion, organogenesis, angiogenesis, immune response, and to act as chemoattractant for many immune cells (Sundblad et al. 2011).

1.7.1 Function of extracellular galectin-3

On cell surfaces, carbohydrates due to their structural and conformational diversity represent an incredible reservoir of biological information, even greater than DNA or peptides (Gabius 2000; Cardoso et al. 2016). Gal-3, as sugar binding proteins, can decipher this "sugar code" orchestrating a variety of biological processes (Sundblad et al. 2011).

In particular, once in the extracellular spaces, this protein can flow into the circulation, interact with the extracellular matrix or be associated with the cell surfaces, exhibiting numerous autocrine and paracrine effects (Sundblad et al. 2011). In particular, Gal-3 can modulate biological functions by forming ordered galectinglycan arrays (lattices structure), cross-linking different cell surface glycoconjugates, or, alternatively, Gal-3 can engage specific cell surface ligands through the classical ligand-receptors interaction (Fig. 4) (Rabinovich and Toscano 2009; Sundblad et al. 2011).

1.7.2 Gal-3 function in endocytosis

In breast carcinoma cells, Gal-3 can participate in cellular endocytosis, through a caveolae-like pathway by means of which this protein promotes the endocytosis of CD29 (beta-1 integrin) in a lactose/temperature-dependent manner (Furtak et al.

2001). Interestingly, by the same pathway tumor cells can internalize from the extracellular spaces Gal-3 itself and this process is completely blocked by lactose (Furtak et al. 2001). In a similar manner, Gal-3 is involved in advanced glycation end products (AGE) and modified low density lipoproteins (LDL) endocytosis (Zhu et al. 2001).

In sharp contrast, Gal-3 can also interfere with endocytosis, extending the expression on cell surface of specific receptors and therefore altering cell responses during tumor progression. Gal-3 affinity for β -1,6-N-acetylglucosamine, in fact, mediates its binding to many glycoproteins expressed on cell surface, including lysosomalmembrane-associated glycoproteins (LAMPs)-1 and -2, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), mucin-1, macrophage antigen (Mac) -1/-3, transferrin receptor protein 1 (CD-71), protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type C (CD45), and the glycosylated receptors for the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), the epidermal growth factor (EGF), and the transforming growth factor (TGF)- β (Fortuna-Costa et al. 2014). Carcinoma transformation is often associated with the upregulation of the beta-1,6 N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase a Golgi enzyme which promotes the substitution of N-glycan with poly LacNac, the main ligand for Gal-3. This leads to Gal-3 cross-linking of N-glycans and lattice formation on EGF and TGF- β receptors at the cell surface, delaying their removal by constitutive endocytosis and prolonging cell activation (Partridge et al. 2004).

Of note, while extracellular Gal-3 plays a pivotal role in the balance of surface retention of glycosylated receptors against endocytosis, intracellular Gal-3 is equally important for proteins trafficking from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane. In a physiologic contest, cytosolic Gal-3 controls the expression of EGF receptors in mouse keratinocytes. In particular, in the absence of Gal-3, EGF receptor expression results dramatically reduced with the protein that accumulates intracellularly. Of note, in these cells, Gal-3 can regulate this process through the interaction and

modulation of ALG-2 linked protein x (Alix), a member of the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) apparatus (Liu et al. 2012).

1.7.3 Cell adhesion

Recognition of extracellular glycoproteins and glycosylated components of the extracellular matrix by Gal-3 plays a central role in cell adhesion/de-adhesion. Gal-3 was demonstrated to bind laminin, fibronectin, hensin, elastin, collagen IV, and tenascin-C/R (Dumic et al. 2006). Overexpression of this chimera-type protein in a human breast carcinoma cell line significantly enhanced adhesion to vitronectin, fibronectin and laminin (Materasse et al. 2000). Consistently, Gal-3 binding of Lamp-1/2, colon cancer mucin, the carcinoembryonic antigen, and the glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored glycoprotein C4.4A were suggested to participate in cancer cell adhesion to extracellular matrix (Dumic et al. 2006).

In addition, Gal-3 was found to interact with integrins, molecules involved in cell adhesion. Particularly, Gal-3 has been documented to associates with $\alpha 1\beta 1$ integrin in a lactose-dependent manner (Ochieng et al. 1998). Moreover, through a Gal-3 affinity column purification of binding partners it was found that Gal-3 is able to interact with the alpha-subunit (CD11b) of the CD11b/CD18 integrin (CR3, Mac-1 antigen), and with the heavy chain of CD98, an integrin-associated protein (Dong and Hughes 1997). This latter is a cell surface heterodimeric glycoprotein that participates in cell-cell and cell-substratum interactions, expressed on monocytes/macrophages and in activated lymphocyte (T and B cells) (Cantor and Ginsberg 2012). Gal-3 appears to be able to induce cross-linking of CD98, leading to activation of integrin-mediated adhesion (Hughes 2001).

Besides the previously reported data, also a negative effect mediated by Gal-3 on cell adhesion was reported. In vitro, Gal-3-enriched media were demonstrated to inhibit thymocyte interactions with thymic microenvironmental cells (Villa-Verde et al. 2002).

25



Figure 4. A cartoon schematically representing some extracellular binding partners identified for Gal-3. Red arrows indicate positive effects (adapted from Dumic et al. 2006).

1.7.4 Function of nuclear and cytoplasmic galectin-3

Depending on the cell type, differentiation and development status, Gal-3 can be predominantly nuclear, exclusively cytoplasmic, or spreads over these two compartments (Haudek et al. 2010). In the cytoplasmic compartment, Gal-3 interacts with numerous partners, implying a role for Gal-3 in the regulation of numerous intra-cytoplasmic events (Fig. 5).

1.7.5 Regulation of cell cycle

Cell cycle regulation is a complex process that requires intricate interactions among different proteins. Gal-3 expression, which is regulated by cell cycle (Moutsatsos et al. 1987), is also able to affect the cell cycle itself. Following expression of this lectin in BT549, a cell line that normally undergoes apoptosis induced by the loss of cell

anchorage (anoikis), Gal-3 mediates G1 phase arrest without detectable cell death. The acquisition of this anti-anoikis activity is accompanied by cyclin A and E (cyclins important for progression and maintenance of phase S) level downregulations, and upregulation of their inhibitory protein levels p21 and p27, as well as cyclin D.

These two phenomena may help the cells to bypass the critical apoptosis-sensitive point in early G1, arresting cells at an anoikis-resistant point (late G1). Furthermore, also the retinoblastoma protein, which is hyper-phosphorylated during the S/G2 phase and most of the M phase, in Gal-3 overexpressing cells, is kept in a hypophosphorylated form, showing that these cells fail to enter S phase (Kim et al. 1999). Similarly, in the same cell line overexpressing Gal-3, genistein, a soy-derived isoflavonoid able to induce apoptosis without any cell cycle arrest, induces arrest in G2/M phase without any apoptosis induction. The different phase arrests of the cell cycle might be dependent on genistein-induced upregulation of P21, but not P27 upregulation, thus leading to G2/M arrest (Lin et al. 2000).

These studies suggest that Gal-3 can regulate critical decision points through cell cycle progression, phase arrest (depending on the apoptotic stimuli) and induction of apoptosis.

1.7.6 Galectin-3 in gene regulation

Nuclear Gal-3 is also involved in gene transcription/regulation (Lin et al. 2002; Paron et al. 2003; Dumic et al. 2006). In particular, in human breast epithelial cells, Gal-3 is able to induce cyclin D promoter activity through stabilization and enhancement of the transcription factor binding to Sp1 and CRE sites. Moreover, in the same cells, Gal-3 overexpression is associated with changes in the expression levels of other proteins, such as cyclin A/E and p21/27. Since these cycle regulators contain in their promoter CRE and SP1 sites, they also represent possible candidates whose expression is regulated by Gal-3 (Lin et al. 2002).

The involvement of gene transcription was further demonstrated in papillary thyroid cancer cells, where Gal-3 directly interacts with the thyroid-specific transcription factor (TTF)-1 causing stimulation of TTF-1 binding activity (Paron et al. 2003; Dumic et al. 2006).

Further evidence came from a study demonstrating that, in the nucleus, Gal-3 colocalizes and binds to β -catenin/ T cell factor (Tcf) complex in a lactose-depended manner (even if β -catenin is not a glycoprotein). This interaction induces the transcriptional activity of Tcf-4 regulating c-Myc expression and promoting cell growth and proliferation (Shimura et al. 2004). Moreover, analysis of the Gal-3 and β -catenin sequences revealed that these two protein share structural similarity. In particular, both proteins contain the S⁹²XXXS⁹⁶ consensus sequence for glycogen synthase kinase GSK-3 β phosphorylation. Axin, a regulatory protein of the Wnt signaling pathway, can complex with both proteins promoting their GSK-3 β phosphorylation. The Authors of this study, therefore, suggest that Gal-3 is a key regulator of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway and of its target gene expression (Shimura et al. 2005).

1.7.7 Galectin-3 as a factor in pre-mRNA splicing

Nuclear Gal-3 can directly participate to the splicing machinery. It was found that Gal-3 can associate, in the nucleus, with ribonucleoprotein complexes and be involved in spliceosome assembly, acting as a pre-mRNA splicing factor (Wang et al. 1995). Despite in the previous study was showed that Gal-3 can interact directly with single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) and with RNA, more recently it has been demonstrated that Gal-3 might interact, in a weak protein-protein manner, with another splicing component, identified in Gemin-4, rather than through the direct binding to the splicing substrate (Wang et al. 2006).

1.8 Galectin-3 at the edge between life and death

An increasing number of literature data have provided evidence about a role of Gal-3 in the regulation of apoptosis (Hsu and Liu 2002). Despite it remains largely unclear how this protein is able to modulate this process, the mechanism seems to involve both the extracellular and the intracellular side of the membrane. In particular, Gal-3 can act in a dual manner either protecting or inducing cell apoptosis, depending on whether this protein is localized intracellularly (generally antiapoptotic) or extracellularly (mainly pro-apoptotic) (Dumic et al. 2006).

1.8.1 The pro/anti-apoptotic effect of galectin-3

Yang and colleagues (1996) demonstrated that transfection of the T-cell line, Jurkat, with the Gal-3 gene promotes the growth of the cell line in suboptimal culture conditions (culture medium containing only 1% bovine serum), when compared to untransfected cells. Further, intracellular expression of the protein was able to confer protection to apoptosis induced by CD95 (apoptosis antigen [Apo]-1/Fas) receptor ligation or by staurosporine. The intracellular anti-apoptotic role of Gal-3 was also demonstrated in large B-cell lymphomas, where transfection with a Gal-3 expressing plasmids resulted in a markedly increased resistance to anti-Fas-induced cell death (Hoyer et al. 2004). Similarly, targeted disruption of Gal-3 gene in peritoneal macrophages resulted in cells more prone to undergo apoptosis than those from Gal- $3^{(+/+)}$ mice when treated with apoptotic stimuli, suggesting that expression of Gal-3 in these cells may lead to longer cell survival (Hsu et al. 2000).

Gal-3 expression in the breast carcinoma cell line BT-549 and Evsa-T, which do not or slightly express Gal-3 respectively, protects cells from apoptotic insults (UV/anticancer drugs/tumor necrosis factor [TNF]- α). Interestingly, in BT-549 cells this latter phenomenon is also associated with phosphorylated Gal-3 transport from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (Matarrese et al. 2000; Takenaka et al. 2004).

29

The underlying mechanisms regulating the intracellular anti-apoptotic effect of Gal-3 are still under debate; many Authors identified several cytoplasmic binding partners and suggested that regulatory pathways are involved (Dumic et al. 2006). A possible mechanism seems to be the translocation of Gal-3, upon different apoptotic stimuli, from the cytoplasm/nucleus to the mitochondria, where it can interact with other apoptosis regulators and block the changes in mitochondrial membrane potential, the release of cytochrome C and therefore preventing apoptosis (Nangia-Makker et al. 2007).

In fact, Gal-3 can interact with Bcl-2 (Yang et al. 1996), a death suppressor, probably through the NWGR sequence, designated as the anti-death domain, present in both proteins, which it is fundamental for Bcl-2/Bax heterodimerization, Bcl-2/Bcl-2 homodimerization (Hanada et al. 1995) and Gal-3 anti-apoptotic effect (Akahani et al. 1997).

Besides Bcl-2, Gal-3 prevents the mitochondrial damage following cytochrome C release through the interaction with synexin, a $Ca^{2+}/phospilipid$ binding protein. Synexin can bind and mediate Gal-3 translocation to the perinuclear membrane of mitochondria. Downregulation of this protein impairs the ability of Gal-3 to exert its anti-apoptotic effect (Yu et al. 2002).

In response to cellular stress, P53, a master regulator of apoptosis, can induce cell death through Gal-3 repression. In particular, Gal-3 is downregulated by the specific cooperation of the homeodomain-interacting protein kinase (HIPK)2 and P53, and the expression of a non-repressible Gal-3 prevents HIPK2 and p53-induced apoptosis (Cecchinelli et al. 2006). Similarly, it was demonstrated that Nuclin, an apoptosis-associated protein, can interact with Gal-3 (Dumic et al. 2006) in the cytoplasm and interfere with NF-kB in order to inhibit expression of Gal-3 at both mRNA and protein levels (Liu et al. 2004).

Another important partner for Gal-3 is the activated form of K-Ras, a small GTPase protein able to respond to different extracellular stimuli, modulating different biological consequences, such as senescence/proliferation, death/survival. Gal-3 acts

as a specific binding partner of activated K-Ras and depending on cellular contest can stimulate anchorage independent cell growth, cellular proliferation, and inhibition of apoptosis via K-Ras-mediated Raf/mitogen-activated protein (MEK)/ extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activation (Shalom-Feuerstein et al. 2005; Levy et al. 2011), as well as phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) (Elad-Sfadia et al. 2004).

Finally, Alix and ALG-2 interacting protein (AIP)-1 might be implied in the antiapoptotic effect of Gal-3. These proteins are able to interact with ALG-2, a protein inhibiting paraptosis, a form of programmed cell death. Similarly, Alix and AIP-1, are also able to interact with Gal-3, as demonstrated in Jurkat cells, probably through the N-terminal of these proteins, containing a proline glycine alanine and tyrosinerich sequence, homologous to the N-terminal part of Gal-3 (Nangia-Makker et al. 2007).

In sharp contrast, exogenously added Gal-3 has been shown to induce apoptosis in human T cells, neutrophils, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) (Fukumori et al. 2003; Fernández et al. 2005; Stillman et al. 2006) and mouse activated T cells (Fukumori et al. 2003), while at the moment there is no evidence for an anti-apoptotic activity of exogenously added Gal-3 (Dumic et al. 2006). Concerning the mechanisms involved in Gal-3-induced apoptosis, at least in T cells, cell death seems to pass through the interaction with CD95, a member of the TNF superfamily. Activation of CD95 by apoptotic stimuli, can determine two different apoptotic signal pathways, one requires a large amount of activated caspase 8 at the cell death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) (mitochondria independent, type I cells), the other (mitochondria dependent, type II cells) depends on the apoptogenic activity at the mitochondria. It was demonstrated that the major difference among cells which respond to the apoptotic insult with the type I (such as SKW6.4 or H9) or type II (such as Jurkat or CEM) pathway is the intracellular level of Gal-3. Transfection of Gal-3 in Gal-3 null cells results in binding of this lectin to CD95, converting their

phenotype from type II in type I apoptotic cells (Fukumori et al. 2004). This suggests that Gal-3 can modulate the signaling through CD95 determining which apoptotic signaling pathway a cell will follow.

The differences in the intracellular levels between type I/II cells also reflect how these cells will react after extracellular Gal-3 exposure. In particular, exogenous Gal-3 can induce apoptosis in type II cells with activation of intracellular signaling leading to cytochrome C release and caspase 3 activation, while type I are more resistant. This is probably due to the high level of endogenous Gal-3 in type I cells that can balance the pro-apoptotic effect of extracellular Gal-3 with an anti-apoptotic effect of endogenous Gal-3. Interestingly, the pro-apoptotic effect of Gal-3 passes through the carbohydrate-dependent interaction with surface glycosylated receptors, since lactose is able to reduce this effect in a dose-dependent manner. The receptors responsible for this effect were identified in C29 and CD7 (Fukumori et al. 2003). In particular, these two receptors may work as oligomers while delivering the Gal-3 death signal, through the clustering ability of Gal-3 (already observed for T cell; Hsu et al. 2009). This would be in line with the observation that oligomerization of Gal-3 is important for the pro-apoptotic effect, since the NH2 terminus removal abrogates this effect (Fukumori et al. 2003).

The behavior of Gal-3 in response to the tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) is still elusive. This protein is a member of the TNF family of cytokines that promotes apoptosis, in a wide variety of tumor cells, but not in normal cells. Transfection of the TRAIL insensitive breast carcinoma cell line, BT-549, with Gal-3 gene, renders these cells sensitive to apoptosis suppressing the activity of Akt, a serine/threonine kinase, involved in resistance to TRAIL (Lee et al. 2003). Surprisingly, in J8 cells, a line of human bladder carcinoma, the levels of Gal-3 are elevated, and consistently the levels of constitutively activated Akt, rendering the cells resistant to apoptosis. This opposite result might be due to the use of two different cell lines, containing different Gal-3 associated proteins (Oka et al. 2005).



Figure 5., **A cartoon schematically representing some intracellular binding partners identified for Gal-3**. Blue lines indicate negative effects, red arrows indicate positive effects (adapted from Dumic et al. 2006).

1.8.2 Regulation of cell growth and differentiation by endogenous and exogenous galectin-3

Besides the previously reported implications of Gal-3 in life/death regulation, this protein can be a crucial mediator for cell growth and proliferation. In particular, incubation of human lung fibroblasts with recombinant Gal-3 leads to cell proliferation and DNA synthesis, in a dose-dependent manner (Inohara et al. 1998). Similarly, the addition of exogenous Gal-3 to mesangial cells cultured without serum is able to prolong cell survival, protect the cells from the negative effect of TGF- β ,

and to induce the synthesis and secretion of collagen type IV (Sasaki et al. 1999). In neural mouse cells, extracellular Gal-3 can serve as adhesion molecule, while it is also able to induce the outgrowth of neurites from dorsal ganglia explants (Pesheva et al. 1998). Still, Gal-3 stimulates not only the capillary tube formation of umbilical vein endothelial cells *in vitro*, but also angiogenesis *in vivo* (Nangia-Makker et al. 2000).

A role of endogenous Gal-3 in cell growth was also demonstrated for different cancer and normal cells with the use of antisense oligonucleotide or cDNA strategy (Hsu and Liu 2002). The blockage of Gal-3 expression in human breast cancer cells leads to a reversion of the transformed phenotype and a suppression of tumor growth (Vandenbrule et al. 1997; Honjo et al. 2001), while in T cells significantly decreases their proliferation (Joo et al. 2001). Similarly, the overexpression of Gal-3 in thyroid papillary carcinoma cells is necessary for the maintenance of anchorage independent growth (Yoshii et al. 2001).

Interestingly, opposite Gal-3 effects were observed for proliferation. In a cancer prostate cell line (LNCaP) transfection of Gal-3 gene reduces the proliferation rate in vitro compared to the vector control-transfected cell lines or to the parental LNCaP (Ellerhorst et al. 2002).

Finally, Gal-3 is able to inhibit the positive effect on proliferation of bone marrow cells given by recombinant granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Krugluger et al. 1997).

1.9. Function in immune system

During the last decades, compelling evidence has been accumulated regarding the ability of Gal-3 to affect both innate and adaptive immune system, modulating the course of immune responses, inflammation, cell growth, signaling and chemotaxis (Rabinovich et al. 2002; Dumic et al. 2006; Sundblad et al. 2011). This effect can be

mediated by either direct binding of extracellular Gal-3 to surface membrane receptors or by intracellular Gal-3 modulation of signaling pathways (Fig. 6) (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

1.9.1 T cells and B cells

As previously mentioned, Gal-3 expression in T lymphocyte is generally absent until induced by strong activating agents; in particular, a combination of receptor cross-linking and proliferative stimuli are required for high levels of Gal-3 expression. In these cells, the intracellular presence of this lectin is associated with an increase in cell proliferation, while cell growth is interrupted when Gal-3 expression is suppressed (Hsu et al. 2009 [A]).

Moreover, in activated T cells, Gal-3 is recruited along with Alix, one of its intracellular binding partner, to the cytoplasmic side of the immunological synapse (IS) (Chen et al. 2009). Alix is a protein involved in protein transport and regulation of cell surface expression of certain receptors, and, as demonstrated by Chen et al. (2009), Gal-3 and Alix recruitment to the IS is associated with low levels of early signaling events, attenuated signal transduction, and TCR downregulation in T cells. Therefore Gal-3, through the modulating of Alix's function at the IS can dampen T-cell activation and function.

The pivotal role of Gal-3 in T cells regulation is not only confined to the intracellular side of the membrane. Extracellularly delivered Gal-3 was reported to play a fundamental role in the regulation TCR signaling, modulating the required number of receptors at the site of antigen presentation. This process is dependent on the formation of multivalent complexes with the N-glycans exposed by TCR, that reduce the lateral mobility and recruitment to the site of antigen presentation, raising the threshold for T cell activation and preventing uncontrolled activation of these cells (Demetriou et al. 2001). The formation of this lattice structure seems to be important

Introduction

for T cell homeostasis, since disruption of this Gal-3-N-glycan interaction leads to hyperactive T cells and autoimmunity (Sundblad et al. 2011).

Finally, in T cells Gal-3 plays an important role in cell life and death; either inducing (when extracellularly added) or preventing (when endogenously expressed) apoptosis of T cells (for further details see paragraph 1.8.1).

Interestingly, it has been suggested that in the intestinal mucosa, Gal-3 might play an immunomodulatory activity on these lymphocytes. In particular, the basal expression of Gal-3 and its release by epithelial cells of the intestinal mucosa may help to prevent inappropriate immune responses against luminal antigens of food or commensal bacteria. On the contrary, Gal-3 downregulation during tissue inflammation may reflect a desired event, in order to promote an adequate immune response by supporting activated T cell proliferation and reducing activation-induced T cell death (Müller et al 2006).

The function of Gal-3 in the regulation of B cell physiology is far from being completely understood and only a few literature reports explore the role of this chimeric protein in B cell activation and differentiation. Similarly to T cells, also B cells express Gal-3 only after a strong stimulation, such as IL-4 and CD40 cross-linking. In these cells Gal-3 was demonstrated to be a critical mediator of cell differentiation and survival. In particular, endogenous expression of this protein promotes B cells survival and blocks their final differentiation into plasma cells, allowing the rising of a memory B cell phenotype (Acosta-Rodríguez et al. 2004). In addition, Gal-3, can be secreted by diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and binds back, in a carbohydrate-dependent manner, to the transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase CD45, promoting apoptosis resistance. Removal of cell-surface Gal-3 from CD45 renders these cells susceptible to chemotherapeutic agents (Clark et al. 2012).

36

Introduction

1.9.2 Monocytes/macrophages

Macrophages are a heterogeneous population of highly plastic cells that can adapt their functional phenotypes in response to stimuli present in the environment (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

In particular, macrophages can differentiate into M1 macrophages in response to toll like receptor (TLR) and interferon (IFN)- γ stimulation. These cells produce high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and reactive nitrogen/oxygen intermediates and promote a Th1-type response. In addition, they have strong microbicidal and tumoricidal activities. Alternatively, under the influence of IL-4/IL-13 or IL-10, they can differentiate into M2/M2-like macrophage, which in turn are more involved in tissue remodeling, parasite containment, tumor progression, and immunoregulatory functions (MacKinnon et al. 2008; Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

Increased Gal-3 expression and secretion is a feature of M2 macrophage activation, while in M1 macrophage activation, Gal-3 expression and release are lower (MacKinnon et al. 2008). With the use of a specific inhibitor, it has been demonstrated that Gal-3, released by alternative activate M2 macrophages in response to IL-4, is able to sustain this alternative activation, and that Gal-3 deficient mice display an impaired M2, IL-4-mediated, polarization (MacKinnon et al. 2008).

Gal-3 plays a critical role also in macrophage phagocytosis, as demonstrated by Sano et al. (2003). In particular, Gal-3-deficient cells exhibited reduced phagocytosis of IgG-opsonized erythrocytes and apoptotic thymocytes in vitro, while Gal-3 deficient mice showed attenuated phagocytic clearance of apoptotic thymocytes by peritoneal macrophages in vivo. Interestingly, extracellular Gal-3 does not contribute appreciably to phagocytosis, while the intracellular accumulation of Gal-3 around the phagosome seems to be responsible for this process.

In addition, Gal-3 has an important anti-apoptotic role in these cells since gene disruption leads to a lower number of macrophages, with altered morphology/phenotype and more prone to undergo apoptosis (Hsu et al. 2000).

In human monocytes, Gal-3, can binding to cell surface glycoconjugates inducing superoxide release and potentiating their IL-1 production, in a lactose-sensitive manner (Jeng et al. 1994; Liu et al. 1995). Finally, Gal-3 recognizes and binds the highly glycosylated CD13 molecule, expressed on monocyte surfaces, inducing homotypic aggregation of inflammatory monocytic cells (Mina-Osorio et al. 2007).

1.9.3 Neutrophils

Neutrophils are abundant specialized effector leukocytes, possessing high phagocytosis and microbicidal activities. They represent one of the first lines of defense to arrive at the site of tissue injury (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017) In neutrophils, similarly to T cells, exogenously added and endogenous Gal-3 have distinct effects. Extracellular Gal-3 enhances the ability of neutrophils to migrate, phagocytize, produce IL-8 and reactive oxygen species (ROS), bind and induce IgE-dependent cellular activation, as well as NADPH-oxidase activation and oxidative burst. In particular, candidate receptors able to induce neutrophil activation, oxidative burst, and NADPH-oxidase activation are the CD66a and CD66b protein (Feuk-Lagerstedt et al. 1999). On the contrary, endogenous Gal-3 dampens their activation and their pro-inflammatory activity (Truong et al. 1993; Nieminen et al. 2005; Wu et al. 2017; [A]).

1.9.4 Mast cells and eosinophils

Gal-3 induces the cross-linking of cell surface glycoproteins, possibly high-affinity IgE receptors (FccRI), that in turn trigger a signal transduction cascade, that activates and initiates degranulation in mast cells (Frigeri et al. 1993). Gal-3 function in these cells was studied by the use of transgenic mice. Gal-3 deficient mice showed reduced secretion of histamine, as well as IL-4, upon cell activation, and a general defect in mast cell responses (Chen et al. 2006).

Addition of Gal-3 induces a selective downregulation of IL-5 expression in human eosinophils, PBMC and in an Ag-specific T cell line (CD4+), in a lactose-dependent manner (Cortegano et al. 1998). These authors proposed that inhibition of IL-5 passes through IgG receptor (Fc γ RII or CD32), since incubation of PBMC from a Fc γ RII deficient mouse with Gal-3 leads to no changes in the expression of the IL-5 gene (Cortegano et al. 2000).



Figure 6. A cartoon summarizing the effect of Gal-3 on immune cells. Red arrows indicate a positive effect, blue arrows indicate a negative effect. Light red boxes indicate pro-inflammatory effects; light blue boxes indicate anti-inflammatory effects (adapted from Dumic et al. 2006).

1.9.5 Adhesion and migration of immune cells

Gal-3 is a fundamental protein in cell adhesion (by bridging cell to cell or cell to extracellular matrix) and migration of immune cells.

In neutrophils, this lectin is involved in neutrophil recruitment and extravasation to the infection site, adhesion to laminin in a carbohydrate- and amino terminal-dependent manner, and to endothelial cells through oligomerization of Gal-3 and cross-linking of neutrophils to the endothelium (Kuwabara and Liu 1996; Sato et al. 2002).

In a model of sepsis, Gal-3 deficient mice display a better survival rate and lower level of lung tissue damage compare to wild type animals, which display a high leucocyte infiltration (principally neutrophils), release of inflammatory cytokines/mediators, and vascular injury (Mishra et al. 2013; Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

Interestingly, despite Gal-3 is not a chemoattractant for neutrophils in vitro (Baseras et al. 2012), and Gal-3 deficient mice present a decrease in the number of infiltrating neutrophils (Bhaumik et al. 2013), suggesting that Gal-3 can indirectly induce neutrophil migration (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017). Similarly, once in the extracellular media, Gal-3 can act as chemoattractant for monocytes and macrophages, in a dose- and lactose-dependent manner (Sano et al. 2000).

The expression of Gal-3 on the surface of human eosinophils favors the recruitment of these cells to the site of inflammation, mediated by rolling and adhesion to the vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 molecule (Rao et al. 2007), while it is also responsible for the IgE-dependent activation of these cells (Truong et al. 1993). These findings support a function for Gal-3 during inflammatory and infectious diseases.

Endogenous Gal-3 has been demonstrated to be important for T cell adhesion to DCs or macrophage cells. During naive lymphocyte recruitment from blood to secondary lymphoid organs, the expressed of L-selectin on these cells, plays an important role in the initial attachment of T cells to high endothelial venules in lymph nodes, and

in cell activation. Gal-3 can enhance and optimize the initial interaction between L-selectin activated lymphocytes and DCs (Swarte et al. 1998; Sundblad et al. 2011).

1.9.6 Galectin-3 at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity

DCs play a central role in the regulation of adaptive and innate immune responses. These cells patrol the peripheral tissues, capturing and processing pathogens, migrating to draining lymph nodes where they determine the polarization of the adaptive immune response, which in turn is reflected on innate immunity (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

Infection with Trypanosoma cruzi induces the upregulation of Gal-3 and Gal-3 ligands in splenic DCs. Since DCs migration is reduced on Gal-3 coated surfaces, the secretion of this lectin during Trypanosoma cruzi can impair the migration of these antigen presenting cells to lymphoid organs and therefore reduce T cell activation (Vray et al. 2004). In another study of infection, investigating the role of Gal-3 during Toxoplasma gondii infection in a model Gal-3 deficient mice, it was found that Gal-3 deficient mice develop a general reduced inflammatory response of leucocyte infiltrating the intestines, liver, and brain but not the lungs, when compare to wild type animals (Bernardes et al. in 2006). Brain from Gal-3 deficient mice showed a significantly reduced number of infiltrating monocytes/macrophages and CD8+ cells, therefore suffering a higher parasite burden. DCs from Gal-3 null mice produce higher amounts of IL-12, which reflects in a higher Th1 response. Similarly, DCs from Gal-3 deficient mice infected with histoplasmosis produce higher IL-23/IL-17 and lower IL-12/IFN- γ cytokines. This leads to an increase in Th17 and in a reduction in Th1 cells with a lower fungal burden (Wu et al. 2013). Finally, studies with the use of siRNA evidenced how Gal-3 can modulate cytokine secretion by human DCs. In particular, the use of Gal-3 siRNA in TLR stimulated (LPS) DCs, is able to downregulate the expression of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23, while it upregulates IL-12p35 and IL-10 (Chen et al. 2015; Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017). Since the use of exogenous Gal-3 or neutralizing antibody are not able to revert this effect, the Authors conclude that the change in DCs cytokine profile is due to the intracellular and not to the extracellular version of the protein (Chen et al. 2015). These studies underline, once again, the importance of Gal-3 expression in the regulation of the immune response, since changes in DC cytokine secretion deeply influence CD4+ T cells, which in turn affects the innate immune response.

1.9.7 Recognition of foreign pathogens

Unlike adaptive immunity, that can tailor the specificity of receptors for foreign antigens, innate immunity is programmed to recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or host intracellular damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), that are released from dying cells upon damage induced by microorganisms (such as heat shock protein, interleukin-1 α and annexin) (Sato et al. 2009).

Cells of the immune system can be induced to release this DAMPs without dying, using a leaderless secretory pathway, in order to recruit and activate other innate immune cells and restore tissue homeostasis. As previously mentioned, Gal-3 can be passively released by dying cells, or actively secreted from cells upon specific stimuli, such as IFN- γ and LPS, though a leaderless pathway. The intriguing emerging idea is that Gal-3 can work as DAMP recognizing PAMP, recruiting in the site of infection immune and phagocytic cells (Sano et al. 2000; Bhaumik et al. 2013), potentiating their activities and thereby modulating the innate/adaptive immune responses (Jeng et al. 1994; Yamaoka et al. 1995; Sano et al. 2003; Fernández et al. 2005; Sato et al. 2009; Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

During *Helicobacter pylori* colonization of gastric tissues, Gal-3 mRNA is upregulated and the protein is released by bacteria infected cells (Fowler et al. 2006). As previously reported (for further details see paragraph 1.4.2), Gal-3 has been demonstrated to recognize and bind two independent sites of LPS. This interaction, either through the CRD or the N-terminal domain, was demonstrated for *Neisseria* gonorrhoea (John et al. 2002), *Helicobacter pylori* (Fowler et al. 2006), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Gupta et al. 1997), *E.coli* (Fermino et al. 2011) and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (Mey et al. 1996). Gal-3 binding to LPS results in oligomer formation, greatly enhancing neutrophil activation (Fermino et al. 2011). Interestingly, macrophages from Gal-3 deficient mice show an elevated production of pro-inflammatory cytokines upon LPS stimulation, when compared to wild type animal, and this prevents LPS-induced endotoxic shock, increasing both resistance to infection and Th1 response (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017). Further, evidences show the Gal-3 ability to recognize mycobacterial mycolic acids, the major constituents of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cell envelope. Despite this interaction inhibits the lectin self-association Gal-3 could be involved in the recognition of trafficking mycolic acids (Barboni et al. 2005).

In macrophages, Gal-3 and Dectin-1 (a receptor for β -glucans) strictly collaborate for the recognition of pathogen microorganisms. In particular, Gal-3 recognizes oligomannans, carbohydrates composing the wall of fungi such as *Candida albicans*, and both, Dectin-1 and Gal-3 must be presented in order to have a specific TNF- α secretion by these cells. Direct binding of Gal-3 to β -1,2-linked oligomannans can induce the death of *Candida albicans*, and this structure is important for discrimination of pathogenic (*Candida albican*) and non pathogenic (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) yeast (Díaz-Alvarez and Ortega 2017).

In addition, Gal-3 was shown to accumulate at the cytosolic face of the phagosome membrane in Mycobacterium-containing phagosomes during the course of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection. Conversely, Gal-3 null mice revealed a reduced capacity to clear late *Mycobacterium* infection (Beatty et al. 2002)

This lectin plays also an important role in parasite recognition. Gal-3 was reported to bind to GalNAc1-4GlcNAc (LacdiNAc) units present on soluble egg of *Schistosoma mansoni*, a human helminth parasite. In particular, since Gal-3 was found accumulated in granuloma tissue around egg shells and due its ability to mediate macrophage LacdiNAc-coated particle phagocytosis; van den Berg et al. (2004) proposed that Gal-3 can act as an opsonin to facilitate the uptake of LacdiNAc-containing glycoconjugates by leukocytes, contributing to the development of host immunity.

Finally, Gal-3 recognizes molecules associated with protozoan parasites *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Moody et al. 2000) and *Leishmania major*. Despite in the latter case Gal-3 recognition leads to the cleavage of Gal-3 (Pelletier and Sato 2002), it was proposed (Sato et al. 2014) that Gal-3, once released during *Leishmania major* infection, can facilitate the infiltration of neutrophils to the infected sites, reducing the initial parasite burden.

All these observations raise the possibility that Gal-3 is involved in the complex molecular mechanisms underlying the immune system recognition of infection agents to develop adequate immune responses.

1.9.8 Role in immune system regulation

As shown in the previous paragraphs, Gal-3 is a highly promiscuous protein, with different cellular localization within the tissue microenvironment. It can either control immune cells through the intracellular compartment or it can be released and directly interacts with foreign molecules/immune cells, either as monomer or oligomer. This great flexibility of Gal-3, in turn, reflects the different processes modulated by this protein.

An interesting hypothesis is that Gal-3, during homeostatic conditions, can bind to self-molecules expressed on cell surface of leukocyte, including macrophages, DCs, and T lymphocytes, lattices. Until Gal-3 keeps recognizing self-molecules the master switch of our innate immune system remains settled on 'OFF' (Sato and Nieminen 2002). If the protein is either cleaved or sequestrated by foreign pathogens, the immune system can be switched to 'ON', starting a proper immune response. As

previously reported, in fact, Gal-3 has the ability to form a lattice structure on T cell surface that raises their activation threshold, while following its absence the cells become hypersensitive for activation. Further, truncation of Gal-3 and therefore depletion of this protein, during *Leishmania major* infection, leads to an increment of immune responses, as observed during this parasite infestation (Sato and Nieminen 2002).

Importantly, Gal-3 would be implied not only in the beginning of immune responses, but also in the promotion of the inflammatory responses, through cell activation, cell migration, or inhibition of apoptosis, thus prolonging the survival of inflammatory cells (Hsu et al. 2000; Zuberi et al. 2004; Chen et al. 2005; Henderson and Sethi 2009)

Finally, Gal-3 can participate also in the resolution of inflammatory responses. In fact, Gal-3 plays an important role also in the removal of immune cells, an important mechanism to restore homeostasis after an inflammatory period. In particular, extracellular Gal-3 can lead to exposure of phosphatidylserine on activated leukocyte, a signal for macrophage phagocytosis (Stowell et al. 2008; van Stijn et al. 2009). Absence of Gal-3 shows reduced neutrophils apoptosis, and impaired clearance of these cells (Wright et al. 2017)

1.10 Natural killer cells

Natural killer cells (NK) are white blood, bone marrow-derived granular lymphocytes cells, which can exert direct cytotoxic activities against pathogeninfected or tumor cells with an activity similar to that of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (Sun and Lanier 2011). These cells belong to the innate arm of the immune system and play a pivotal role in host defense against infections and malignancies, as demonstrated in the murine model and in cases of NK cells deficiencies (Smyth et al. 2005; Orange 2006).

Introduction

Characterized as lymphocytes for their morphology, the expression of lymphoid markers and their origin from the common lymphoid progenitor, human NK cells are phenotypically identified by the absence of CD3 co-receptor and the expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule CD56.

In 2007, it was proposed by the Vivier's group that another marker able to specifically identified NK cells is the NKp46 receptor; however, this glycoprotein can also be found on T cells, while some subpopulations of NK do not express this surface marker (Walzer et al. 2007). Therefore, since there is still controversy on the use of this surface molecule for NK cells identification, the current phenotypic definition remain the CD56⁺CD3⁻ combination (Caligiuri 2008).

Human NK cells represent about the 10% of PBMC with a range that can vary between 5 to 20 % and about 2 billion of cell circuiting in the body of an adult at any given time, with an average turnover of two weeks (Caligiuri 2008; Vivier et al. 2008; Pampena and Levy 2015). These innate lymphoid cells are not a homogeneous population; on the contrary, they can be generally dived in two categories with very distinct phenotypic and functional characteristics: the CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim} subsets. The CD56^{brigh} population is generally found in lymph nodes, tonsils and secondary lymphoid organs while only a little fraction of these cells is found in the peripheral blood (PB) (10%). These cells do not, or only partly, express the CD16, the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) and lack killer cell Ig-like receptors (KIRs) expression (see next paragraph for further details on NK cells receptors) (Ferlazzo et al. 2004). Moreover, they display low amount of perforin and only little ability to kill target cells, while they can produce high amount of cytokines within minutes after activation (Ferlazzo et al. 2004; Caligiuri 2008; Vivier et al. 2008). In particular, $CD56^{brigh}$ represent the most vigorous producer of IFN- γ within the NK population. IFN- γ is a pro-inflammatory cytokine secreted during the early phase of the innate immune response, able to shape both, adaptive and innate immune response. This cytokine, in fact, induces CD8+ T cells to become cytotoxic lymphocytes and help CD4+ T cells to differentiate toward a Th1 phenotype (Mocikat et al. 2003; Martín-Fontecha et al. 2004). In addition, IFN- γ regulates B cell functions, such as immunoglobulin production and class switching, macrophage antimicrobial/antitumor activities and upregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules, DC maturation, leukocyte attraction, growth, and maturation (Wallach et al. 1982; Schroder et al. 2004; Vivier et al. 2008). Moreover, IFN- γ impairs proliferation of transformed and virally infected cells (Maher et al. 2007).

In sharp contrast, CD56^{dim} population presents an inverted ratio between secondary lymphoid tissue and bloodstream being relatively dominant in PB. These cells are characterized by a CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ phenotype and express both KIRs and NCRs. The CD56^{dim} subset is composed of cytotoxic effector cells able to efficiently lyse target cells upon activation and to secrete, although to a lower extent, chemokines and cytokines (most notably IFN- γ , TNF- α , C-C motif chemokine ligand (CCL)3 and CCL5) (Moretta et al. 2014).

In addition, another important characteristic that distinguishes these two subsets consist in the IL-2 receptor composition. $CD56^{brigh}$ cells express the hetero-trimeric, high affinity IL-2 receptor (IL- $2R\alpha[CD25]/IL-2R\beta[CD122]/IL-2R\gamma[CD132]$) which can sense picomolar concentration of this cytokine released from activated T cells (Caligiuri et al. 1990; Nagler et al. 1990). On the contrary, $CD56^{dim}$ cells only express the hetero-dimeric form of the receptor (IL- $2R\beta[CD122]/IL-2R\gamma[CD132]$) which can bind both IL-2/IL-15 and display only intermediate affinity for IL-2. These variations in the IL-2 receptor composition are reflected in a higher capacity of the CD56^{brigh} subset to proliferate when compared to the CD56^{dim} subset (Caligiuri 2008; Vivier et al. 2008). Finally, CD56^{brigh} and CD56^{dim} cells differ also for their homing capacity.

Introduction

The CD56^{brigh} subset, in fact, expresses the C-C motif chemokine receptor (CCR)7 and C-X-C motif chemokine receptor (CXCR)4, which are likely to coordinate these cells into lymph nodes (Campbell et al. 2001; Fehniger et al. 2003; Hanna et al. 2003). On the contrary, the CD56^{dim} expresses the CXCR1 and CX3CR1, which can recruit the cells into peripheral inflamed tissue (Campbell et al. 2001; Hanna et al. 2003).

Despite it remain largely unclear the different stages of maturation of NK cells, it was proposed that CD56^{bright} population could represent a more immature stage/precursor in NK cells development, while the CD56^{dim} represents the mature form of these innate lymphoid cells (Chan et al. 2007; Romagnani et al. 2007; Takahashi et al. 2007).

This was further supported by in vitro studies, demonstrating that cytokine stimulation is able to induce the expression of molecules (i.e., CD16, NCRs. KIRs and perforin), as well as functional characteristics (i.e., the cells become able to lyse sensitive target cells) similar to PB CD56^{dim} NK cells (Ferlazzo et al. 2004; Caligiuri 2008; Moretta et al. 2008; Vivier et al. 2008).

This scenario is further complicated by the fact that PB NK cells not only present these subsets, but they can express a different combination of activating and inhibitory receptors. This feature makes NK cells an extremely heterogeneous population able to sense different environmental stimuli and easily adapt to them (Mandal and Viswanathan 2015).

1.10.1 Natural killer cells activation and functions

As mentioned in the previous paragraph, the largest amount of NK cells found in the PB are CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ NK cells and that type of cells are responsible for the cytolytic activities.

This ability consists in the polarization and release by NK cells of lytic granules containing cytotoxic proteins, such as perforin and granzymes, which can generate a pore on the plasma membrane of target cell and therefore induce cell death (Moretta et al. 2008).

The name NK cells, derives from the observation that these cells can kill, as their name implies, their target without prior sensitization and without the need for target cell to present antigens on MHC molecules (Caligiuri 2008).

In sharp contrast with T and B cells, to fulfill their direct cytotoxicity on a specific target, these lymphocytes do not express clonal antigen receptors, produced by somatic recombination, instead, they are equipped with a wide array of germline-encoded activating and inhibitory receptors (Vivier et al. 2011).

Although NK cells can sense a lower number of antigens compared to the T and B cells, the broad range of receptors expression allow these cells to respond faster to danger signals, in contrast with a more delayed response of adaptive immunity (Montaldo et al. 2013).

The major activating receptors include the CD16 or low affinity FcγIIIA receptor, that is able to recognize the crystallizable fragment (Fc) region of antibodies blocked on cell surface. CD16 interaction with Fc leads to NK cells activation and degranulation, in a process defined antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (Vivier et al. 2008). However, NK cells can recognize target cells also in the absence of antibody coated cells, through many other activating receptors.

These include NKG2D, DNAM-1, and the NKp30/NKp44/NKp46 receptors, collectively named natural cytotoxic receptors.

Among the most characterized ones, NKG2D is a C-type lectin-like receptor whose ligands (the MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence [MIC]A and MICB) are normally not expressed in healthy and normal tissues, but they can be upregulated in virally infected cells or during malignant transformation. Similarly, Nkp30

49

recognizes the B7-H6 molecule expressed by certain tumors (Vivier et al. 2011) and absent on non transformed cells. Notably, while NKG2D, NKp30 and NKp46 are already present on unstimulated NK cells, NKp44 is upregulated only after cytokine stimulation and with NKp46 recognize hemagglutinins on virus infected cells (Mandelboim et al. 2001; Montaldo et al. 2013).

Furthermore, DNAM-1 is a surface glycoprotein that belongs to the Ig-like family, which is implicated in the recognition of cancer/virally infected cells. This adhesion molecule, in fact, recognize CD112 and CD155, two nectin molecules upregulated on aberrant or stressed cells (de Andrade et al. 2014).

All the receptors presented here can recognize cell surface antigens, expressed under pathological conditions, killing the dangerous cells.

Despite the great cytotoxic potential of NK cells, healthy cells are generally spared by their activity. Besides activating receptors, in fact, NK cells are decorated with a broad range of inhibitory receptors. Dozens of these molecules, collectively called killer cell Ig-like receptors, have been identified. These include receptors that recognize MHC class I molecule (human leucocyte antigens [HLA]-A,-B and -C), and the heterodimer C-type lectin-like CD94-NKG2A, which recognize the non classical HLA-E molecule. Once engaged, a KIR delivers to the NK cell a signal able to prevent cellular activation and to overcome a low level of activating signals.

Therefore, in order to fulfill their function, NK cells must encounter cells which present downregulation of MHC class I molecule (the missing self hypothesis), however, this signal alone is not sufficient to guarantee target killing, there must be simultaneously present also activating signals.

As a result, NK cell activation is a complex and sophisticated process tightly regulated by the integration of the positive and negative signals, generated by both activating and inhibiting receptors, which determine whether or not they have to kill

50

a specific target (Moretta et al. 2014). These mechanisms allow the tolerance to self and to specifically kill only potentially dangerous cells (Fig. 7).



Figure 7. Schematic representation of NK cells activation. A) balance of signals delivered by activating and inhibitory receptors regulates the recognition of healthy cells by NK cells. B) Cells that downregulate MHC class I molecules are detected as 'missing self' and are lysed by NK cells. C) Cells can overexpress induced stress ligands recognized by activating NK cell receptors, which override the inhibitory signals and elicit target cell lysis. D) antigen-specific antibodies bind to CD16 and elicit antibody-dependent NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Morvan and Lanier 2016).

The use of mouse models as studies on NK cells from human PBMC, helped to further clarify the mechanism underlying NK cells regulation (Bryceson et al. 2006; Fehniger et al. 2007). In particular, it was demonstrated that although NK cells are already equipped with activating and inhibitory receptors, similar to T cells, they require "priming" in order to be fully activated. Despite priming mechanisms remain to be fully characterized, cytokines produced by other immune cells, including IFN, IL-12, IL-2, IL-15 and IL-18, are strong activators of NK cell functions. Particularly, IL-2 and IL-15 cytokines have been demonstrated to transform resting NK cells into lymphokine-activated killer cell (LAK), which develop effector cytotoxic functions

Introduction

against cancer cells, otherwise resistant (Becknell and Caligiuri 2005; Zwirner and Domaica 2010).

As previously stated, NK cells found in the PB are not merely effector cells, but they also possess the ability to release, upon activation, cytokines (such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , GM-CSF, M-CSF) and chemokines (such as CCL2, CCL4 and CCL5) which, in turn, can recall and shape the activity of other immune cells. In particular, once in the peripheral inflamed tissues NK cells can start a cross-talk with other immune cells, determining, not only the initiation of the innate immune response, but also the polarization and amplification of the adaptive one(Caligiuri 2008; Moretta et al. 2008; Montaldo et al. 2013; Moretta 2014).

Through TNF and IFN- γ production, NK cells can promote DC maturation and kill immature DCs in order to remove myeloid cells, which are unresponsive to specific infectious stimuli paving the way for mature DCs.

NK cell-mediated lysis of pathogen-infected cells might lead to the release of microbial products, such as LPS, that along whit IFN-γ can promote macrophage polarization to a pro-inflammatory phenotype. NK cells-macrophages interaction goes beyond M1 polarization, in fact, NK cells can preferentially kill M2 macrophages, further sustaining a pro-inflammatory response. NK cell regulatory activity is not only exerted on myeloid cells, but also on T cells; in fact, as previously reported, NK cells can promote Th1 repose. Moreover, antigenic peptide released during NK cell cytotoxic activity against dangerous cells can promote the cross-presentation by DCs to CD8+ T cells therefore specifically addressing the adaptive immune response (Cooper et al. 2004; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Malhotra and Shanker 2011; Deauvieau et al. 2015).

The presence on the same subset of NK cells of effector and cytokine producing functions allow a rapid and effective (around 4h) immune intervention without the

need for coordination with other cell subsets localized in a different anatomic compartment.

The high grade of plasticity, the ability to respond directly to potentially dangerous cells combined with their regulatory activity on innate and adaptive immune cells make of NK cells a major player during the immune response.

Introduction
2. Outline of the thesis

In spite of the overall weight of evidences on the Gal-3 expression/function in human immune cells, data on NK cells are still very scarce and all observations are derived from mouse models.

In summary, from literature data:

• In 2002, Crider-Pirkle et al. found that during mouse pregnancy (from day 12) uterine NK (uNK) cells start to express Gal-3 at both mRNA and protein levels. uNK cells are a subset of NK lymphocytes that accumulate in large numbers in the decidua basalis and the metrial gland of the rodent implantation site. These cells influence the development of placental vasculature by production of proteases/matrix/biologically active factors and are less cytotoxic than peripheral NK cells;

• In 2005, Kang et al. performed a serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) at four different stages of NK cell differentiation, founding that Gal-3 expression deeply changes during development;

• In 2011, Radosavljevic et al. showed that Gal-3 null transgenic mice have a general reduction in the number of NK cells, which exhibit a higher cytotoxic activity than cells from wild type mice;

• In 2015, Chaudhari et al. reported that Gal-3 null transgenic mice present a severe dysregulation in NK cell-mediated immune responses, highlighting the importance of Gal-3 in NK cell functions.

The overall data strongly support the importance of Gal-3 in immune-mediated responses, but they also clearly suggest that the role of Gal-3 in NK cell functions has not yet been fully defined.

55

On this basis, the aim of my Ph.D. research was to:

- examine the expression and localization of Gal-3 in human resting/activated NK cells;
- analyze if changes in Gal-3 expression functionally correlate with human NK cell degranulation.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Human NK cell isolation and cell cultures

Human NK cells were isolated from buffy coats of healthy donors ($n \ge 6$), after their informed consensus, as previously described (Fallarini et al. 2017). After cell separation through negative selection (Miltenyi Biotec, Calderara di Reno, Italy), the percentage of CD3⁻CD56⁺ cells was routinely analyzed by FACS (S3 flow cytometer, Biorad, Segrate, Italy) using FITC anti-human CD56 (NCAM) Antibody [Clone: MEM-188 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA)], PerCP anti-human CD3 [Clone: BW264/56 (Miltenyi Biotec)] and always resulted $\ge 97\%$. Approximately 6 x 10⁶ NK cells were routinely obtained from each patient.

Human NK cells, human erythroleukemia K562 cells (a generous gift from Prof. M.C. Mingari, Department of Experimental Medicine, IRCCS AOU San Martino-IST, Genova, Italy), human monocytic leukemia THP-1 cells (ATCC TIB-202; American Type culture Collection, Manassas, VA, USA) and lymphoblastic leukemia Jurkat cells (ATCC TIB-152) were cultured (1×10^6 cells/ml) in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Carlo Erba, Cornaredo, Italy), 2mM L-glutamine, 100 µg/ml kanamycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate e 1% MEM amino acid solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy) in a humidified incubator at 5% CO₂ and 37°C. Recombinant human (rh) IL-2 (100 U/ml) and rh IL-15 (20 ng/ml) (PeproTech, London, UK) were added, if required, to the NK cells only at the beginning of the culture.

3.2 PCR and real-time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from 5 x 10^{5} /ml unstimulated/stimulated NK, THP-1 (positive control) and Jurkat (negative control) cells using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), according to manufacturer's instructions, and reverse transcribed into cDNA (Manuelli et al. 2014).

For PCR amplification, 3 μ l of cDNA were added to GoTaq Flexi DNA Polymerase (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) in 25 μ l reactions, containing 0.5 μ M of forward and reverse primers. Amplification products were visualized on 1% agarose gel, containing 1 μ g/ml ethidium bromide (Sigma–Aldrich). For real-time PCR, cDNA samples were equally diluted for subsequent PCR amplification with Maxima SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (Fermentas, Milan, Italy) and a final volume of 20 μ L, which contained 1 μ L of template cDNA, was used. Real-time PCR analysis was performed in triplicate for each sample in a CFX96 Real-Time PCR system (Bio Rad). The level of 18S RNA was measured and used for normalization of the target gene abundance. The primer sequences used for PCR and real-time PCR are listed in Table I.

Template	Primers
Galectin-3	forward 5'-GCAGACAATTTTTCGCTCCATG-3'
	reverse 5'-CTGTTGTTCTCATTGAAGCGTG-3'
GAPDH	forward 5'-GGTCGGAGTCAACAACGGATTTGG-3'
	reverse 5'-ACCACCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCA-3'
S18	forward 5'-TGCGAGTACTCAACACCAACA-3'
	reverse 5'-CTGCTTTCCTCAACACCACA-3'

Table I. Oligonucleotide primers used for PCR and real-time PCR

3.3 Western blot

Proteins were extracted from 1 x 10⁶/ml human unstimulated/stimulated (24 h) NK cells, THP-1 (taken as positive control for Gal-3 expression), K-562 (taken as positive control for Gal-1 expression), and Jurkat (negative control) cells (Fallarini et al. 2012).

Equal amounts of proteins $(35 \ \mu g)$ were separated on 12% polyacrylamide gel and electro-blotted on nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were blocked and then incubated with the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-human Gal-3 antibody

[Clone: EP2275Y (Abcam, Cambridge, UK); 1:5000], mouse anti-human Gal-1 antibody [Clone: C-8 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany); 1:500], or mouse anti-human β -Actin antibody [Clone: AC15 (Sigma-Aldrich); 1:5000] with gentle shaking overnight at 4 °C or for 1 h at room temperature (RT) for β -Actin. The blots were, then, incubated with a specific anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase (HRP) labeled secondary antibody (Ge Healthcare Life Sciences; 1:5000) or a specific anti-mouse HRP labeled secondary antibody (Sigma–Aldrich; 1:5000) for 1 h at RT.

Proteins were visualized with an enzyme linked chemiluminescence (ECL) detection kit, according to the manufacturer's instructions (Ge Healthcare Life Sciences). The protein signals were detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence system (Biorad). Band intensities were quantified by the computer program Image Lab from Biorad. All samples were analyzed independently and the final increase in Gal-3 protein was expressed as mean \pm SEM of at least six independent experiments.

3.4 Flow cytometry

5 x 10^5 /ml human NK cells were seeded in 24 multiwell plates and unstimulated/stimulated (24 h) with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml). THP-1 (positive control) and Jurkat (negative control) cells were always included in the experiments. Cells were harvested and washed with a FACS wash solution (0,5 % BSA-supplemented PBS and 1% FBS). For the intracellular staining, the samples were fixed with cold paraformaldehyde (4% PFA) for 15 min at RT and permeabilized with 100% cold acetone for 10 min at -20°C. All samples were, then, incubated with a blocking solution (1% BSA-supplemented PBS and 2% FBS) for 30 min at RT. Afterwards, the samples were incubated for 30 min with the following primary antibodies: anti-human Gal-3 antibody [Clone: EPR2774 (Abcam); 1:65] or isotype control [Clone: EPR25A (Abcam); 1:65]. After washing, the cells were labeled with the Alexa 555-conjugated secondary antibody (Abcam; 1:1000). Samples were acquired and analyzed using a S3 flow cytometer (Biorad). All

samples were analyzed independently and the final increase in Gal-3 protein was expressed as mean \pm SEM of at least six independent experiments.

3.5 Confocal microscopy

5 x 10⁵/ml human NK cells, unstimulated/stimulated (24 h) with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml), THP-1 (positive control), and Jurkat (negative control) cells were harvested, washed with PBS and fixed with cold 4% PFA for 15 min at RT. For intracellular staining, the cells were permeabilized with 100% cold acetone for 10 min at -20° C; for extracellular staining, the permeabilization occurred before nuclear staining. Fixed cells were blocked with blocking solution for 1 h at RT, incubated with anti-human Gal-3 [Clone: EP2275Y (Abcam); 1:65] or isotype primary antibody [Clone: EPR25A (Abcam); 1:65] for 30 min at RT and subsequently with Alexa 555-conjugated secondary antibody (Abcam; 1:1000) for 30 min at RT. To localize Gal-3 in exocytic vesicles NK cells were also stained with FITC-conjugated anti-perforin antibody [Clone: HCD56 (BioLegend)] (positive control) for 15 min at RT. After washing, nuclei were counterstained with To-pro-3 iodide (Thermo Fisher Scientific; 1:500) for 15 min at RT and cells centrifuged onto cytospin slides at 1200 rpm for 5 min (Shandon Cytospin 4, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Prolong Gold antifade kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used as mounting fluid on the cells. Images were collected using a Leica TCS SP2 confocal microscope with 63X oil immersion objective and by sequential scanning. Images were acquired at a scanning speed of 400 Hz, 1024 x 1024 pixel resolution and a line average of 4. A 488 nm laser was used for IgG-FITC, 543 nm for IgG-Alexa 555 and 633 nm for To-Pro 3-iodide.

3.6 NK cell degranulation assay

NK cell degranulation was measured as previously described (Aktas et al. 2009), by determining the expression of CD107a, the lysosome-associated membrane protein-1 (LAMP-1) in absence/presence of a Gal-3 inhibitor (van Hattum et al. 2013). The used thiodigalactoside-based inhibitor (Bis-{3-deoxy-3-[4-(phenyl)-1H-1,2,3-

triazol-1-yl]-β-D-galactopyranosyl} sulfane) was a generous gift by Prof. Roland J. Pieters (Department of Medicinal Chemistry and Chemical Biology, Utrecht University, Netherlands). For the experiments, a stock solution in 40 % DMSO was prepared and diluted in RPMI-1640 before cell treatment (DMSO concentration did not exceed 0.1 % v/v). NK cells unstimulated/stimulated (24 h) with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml), were untreated/treated with increasing concentrations (1-30 μ M) of Gal-3 inhibitor for 1 h at 37°C. To induce NK cell degranulation, the cells were incubated with K562 cells (target cells) at an effector/tumor cell ratio of 1:1 for 1 h at 37 °C in presence of anti-CD107a-Phycoerythrin (PE) (Miltenyi Biotec). Monensin (BD GolgiStop[™] reagent, BD Bioscences, Milan, Italy) was added and cells incubated for 3 h at 37 °C. Cells were washed, stained using FITC anti-human CD56 (NCAM) Antibody [Clone: MEM-188 (BioLegend)], and CD107a expression on CD56⁺ cells evaluated by FACS (Fallarini et al. 2017). To detect spontaneous NK cell degranulation, a negative control (NK cells without K562 target cells) was always included, while to measure the basal response, NK cells were stimulated only with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml) (positive controls). All control samples were treated with 0.1 % DMSO.

3.7 Statistical analysis

Results were expressed as means \pm SEM of at least four independent experiments always run in triplicate. Statistical significance was evaluated by the one-way ANOVA followed by Student's t-test for unpaired populations (Graph Pad Software, Inc., San Diego, USA). Differences were considered statistically significant when $P \leq 0.05$.

4. Results

4.1 Galectin-3 gene expression in human resting NK cells

To determine whether human NK cells express the gene coding for Gal-3 we, first, performed PCR studies on resting NK cells. Human THP-1 cells were always taken as positive control.

Figure 8A. clearly demonstrates that human resting NK cells express Gal-3 mRNA.

4.2 Galectin-3 mRNA in human activated NK cells

Since the expression of Gal-3 gene in a variety of immune cells can be modulated by cellular activations and environmental stimuli (Dietz et al. 2000; Acosta-Rodríguez et al. 2004; Hsu et al. 2009 [A]; Novak et al. 2012), we measured the levels of Gal-3 mRNA in NK cells unstimulated/stimulated with IL-2 (100 U/mL) and IL-15 (20 ng/mL) for different periods of time (1-24 h) by real-time PCR. Figure 8B shows that the expression of Gal-3 mRNA significantly ($P \le 0.01$) decrease (-92 ± 2% in comparison to resting NK cells) after 1 h of cytokine stimulation, and this decrease lasts for at least 6 h. Afterwards (12-24 h), the mRNA expression level progressively restores to the basal level.

The overall data demonstrate that human NK cells can regulate the gene expression of Gal-3 following specific stimuli for an appropriate period of time.



Figure 8. Gal-3 mRNA is expressed in human NK cells and its expression is modulated by cell activation. (A) Gal-3 mRNA expression was analyzed by PCR in NK and THP-1 (positive control) cells. The total extracted mRNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA and Gal-3 cDNA amplified using gene-specific primers (see Table I). PCR products were electrophoresed on 1% agarose gel and PCR fragments sized using a 50 -10,000 bp ladder. The expected fragment size for Gal-3 is 500 bp. GAPDH was amplified as a loading control with a fragment size of 1000 bp. (B) Time course of Gal-3 gene expression in activated NK cells measured by real-time PCR. Total mRNA was extracted from NK cells unstimulated/stimulated with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml) for 1-24 h, converted to cDNA, and analyzed by real-time PCR for Gal-3 expression. The mRNA levels are expressed relative to 18S mRNA, and the value of the resting cells was set at 1. The results represent the mean \pm SEM of at least six independent experiments. ** $P \leq 0.01$ vs. unstimulated NK cells.

4.3 Galectin-3 protein in human activated NK cells

Then, to determine whether the modulation of Gal-3 mRNA levels, measured in activated NK cells (see Results, 4.2), correlates with changes at protein levels, the same cells were analyzed by western blot. The estimated total Gal-3 protein levels were always normalized against the corresponding β -Actin level and compared to those measured from resting cells.

As shown in Figure 9, we determined resting NK cells with high (Fig. 9A) or low (Fig. 9B) basal level of Gal-3 protein. This variability was consistently measured in all experiments and seems related to the individual donor analyzed. Following cytokine stimulation for 24 h the Gal-3 levels resulted significantly ($P \le 0.05$) increased in all samples analyzed (+116 ± 32% in comparison to resting NK cells) (Fig. 9C).

In THP-1 cells (positive control) Gal-3 protein was always detectable, while no expression was determined in Jurkat cells (negative control).

These data indicate that upon IL-2 and IL-15 stimulation human NK cells can increase the level of Gal-3 protein.





Figure 9. Gal-3 protein is expressed in human NK cells and its expression increases upon cell activation. Gal-3 protein expression was evaluated by western blot analysis in NK cells, unstimulated/stimulated (24 h) with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml), THP-1 (positive control) and Jurkat (negative control) cells. Total cellular proteins (35 μ g) were resolved by 12% polyacrylamide gel and immunoblotted with a specific anti-human galectin-3 antibody. β -Actin was used as internal control. Left panels are representative of typical immunoblottings from NK cells expressing high (A) or low (B) basal levels of Gal3. The western blot signals were densitometrically analyzed by Image Lab software and results expressed as fold increase of Gal-3 signal in stimulated cells compared to unstimulated cells set at 1 (C). The results represent the mean \pm SEM of at least six independent experiments. ** $P \leq 0.01$ vs. unstimulated cells.

4.4 Galectin-3 protein localization in human NK cells

While being predominantly a cytosolic protein, Gal-3 can be detected also at the cellular surface (Krześlak and Lipińska 2004). To study the Gal-3 localization in human NK cells the Gal-3 levels were measured in resting cells by flow cytometry (FACS). Median fluorescence intensity (MFI) measurements confirm previous data from the western blot analysis (see Results, 4.3): resting NK cells express high or low basal levels of Gal-3 protein, as clearly shown by the distinct separation of each histogram from the isotype control (Fig. 10Aa and 10Ab). These data confirm that human NK cells can express different levels of Gal-3 depending on the individual donor analyzed.

IL-2 (100 U/mL) and IL-15 (20 ng/mL) stimulation for 24 h, significantly ($P \le 0.01$) increased (+30 ± 9% in comparison to resting cells) (Fig. 10B) the levels of Gal-3 expression in NK cells.

Then, to specifically localize this lectin, NK cells were incubated with the primary antibody before (extracellular) or after (intracellular) the permeabilization step (see Methods, 3.5). In all samples analyzed, Gal-3 did not localize at the membrane cell surface, neither in resting nor in activated cells, indicating that human NK cells do not express this protein at the membrane level. In THP-1 cells, taken as positive control, Gal-3 was both extracellular and intracellular detectable (Fig. 10A and 11A), while no expression was determined in Jurkat cells (negative control).



Figure 10. Gal-3 is intracellularly expressed in human NK cells and its expression increases upon cell activation. NK cells, unstimulated/stimulated for 24 h with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml), THP-1 (positive control) and Jurkat (negative control) cells were harvested, stained with anti-human Gal-3 and analyzed by FACS. (A) Representative histograms of extracellular (left panels) and intracellular (right panels) Gal-3 expression in human NK with high (a) and low basal (b) Gal-3 expression, THP-1 and Jurkat cells. Resting cells are shown as blue histograms, stimulated NK cells as red, while the isotype controls as black histograms. (B) Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) levels of Gal-3 in human NK cells expressed as fold increase in stimulated cells compared to unstimulated cells set at 1. The results represent the mean \pm SEM of at least three independent experiments. ** $P \le 0.01$ vs. unstimulated cells.

Since Gal-3 differently localize depending on the immune cell type (Craig et al. 1995; van Stijn et al. 2009; Novak et al. 2012) to investigate the subcellular localization of Gal-3 in human NK cells immunofluorescence staining studies were performed in cells, unstimulated/stimulated with IL-2 (100 U/mL) and IL-15 (20 ng/mL) for 24h (Fig. 11A), before (extracellular) or after (intracellular) the permeabilization step. At the membrane level, confocal microscopy analysis revealed an extracellular diffuse staining in THP-1 cells (positive control: Fig.

11Aa), while all NK cell samples analyzed, either resting or activated (Fig. 11Ab) and 4Ac, respectively), resulted negative. These data demonstrated that human NK cells do not express membrane-bound Gal-3 protein, confirming the previous results obtained by FACS. Conversely, all NK cell samples resulted positive for the intracellular staining (Fig. 11Ae-f and 11Ah-i), where Gal-3 was visualized as scattered dots within the cells. Interestingly, we observed positive (Fig. 11Af and h, close arrows) and negative (Fig. 11Af and h, open arrows) cells in both resting (Fig. 11Ae and f) and activated (Fig. 11Ah and i) samples from the same individual. In positive cells, the intracellular localization of Gal-3 resulted heterogeneous, as some cells mainly localize the protein in cytoplasm and nucleus (Fig. 11Ba and b, open arrows), while others showed fluorescent dots only in cytoplasm (Fig. 11Ba and b, close arrows). These results were independent from the cellular activation status. Moreover, overlapping the perforin and Gal-3 stains, shown as yellow dots (Fig. 11Bc), we observed that Gal-3 can occur within perform in exocytic vesicles. Finally, the analysis of positive cells confirm the high variability of Gal-3 expression in NK cells: some samples having high levels (Fig. 11Ae and h), while others low levels of Gal-3 (Fig. 11Af and i). Jurkat cells, taken as negative control, resulted always unstained (Fig. 11Ag).

Results



Figure 11. Confocal microscopy analysis of cytoplasmic and nuclear Gal-3 subcellular distribution in human NK cells. (A) NK cells, unstimulated/stimulated for 24 h with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml), THP-1 (positive control) and Jurkat (negative control) cells were harvested, stained with anti-human Gal-3, and analyzed by confocal microscopy. Representative images of Gal-3 expression in: THP-1 cells (positive control; a and d), Jurkat cells (negative control; g), resting NK cells (b, e and f), stimulated NK cells (c, h and i). Gal-3 is shown as red dots, perforin as green dots. Nuclei are shown in blue. Scale bar, 10 μ m. (B). Representative images of Gal-3 localization in the nucleus and/or in the cytoplasm (a-

b) or co-localization of Gal-3 with perforin (c). Gal-3 is shown as red, perforin as green dots. Yellow dots represent co-localization of Gal-3 with perforin. Nuclei are shown in blue. Scale bar, $10 \,\mu$ m.

4.5 Galectin-3 functional studies in human NK cells

NK-cell toxicity is mediated by exocytosis of cytosolic vesicles, containing perforin, granzymes, and other lytic proteins (Caligiuri 2008). Since Gal-3 expression can be upregulated upon cytokine stimulation and accumulated within vesicles (see Results, 4.4), to determine whether these data have functional correlations, NK cell responses were studied in the absence/presence of a thiodigalactoside-based Gal-3 inhibitor (Kd = 44 nM) (see Materials, 3.6) in a typical degranulation assay (see Methods, 3.6).

As shown in Figure 12Aa (representative contour plots), unstimulated NK cells present a small percentage of degranulating cells (dashed gate); among these cells, only a little percentage releases a high number of granules (solid gate). Cytokine stimulation (Fig. 12Ab) induced an increase in NK cell degranulation (dashed gate) and the number of cells expressing high levels of CD107a (solid gate) resulted larger than in resting cells. When cytokine-stimulated cells were treated with increasing concentrations (1-30 μ M) of the Gal-3 inhibitor, the number of degranulating cells slightly increased (data not shown). The maximum increase was measured at 30 μ M Gal-3 inhibitor (+15 ± 1% vs. inhibitor-untreated cells, Fig. 12Ac, dashed gate). Of note, a significant (P ≤ 0.05) concentration-dependent increase was determined (Fig. 12B) in NK cells releasing high amount of cytotoxic granules (high level of CD107a expression, Fig. 12A, solid gates).

The maximum increase was measured at 30 μ M Gal-3 inhibitor (+ 36 ± 3% vs. inhibitor-untreated cells at 30 μ M; Fig. 12B and Fig. 12Ac, solid gate). No changes in the CD107a levels were observed in resting NK cells incubated with K-562 cells, even in the presence of 30 μ M of Gal-3 inhibitor (data not shown).

Finally, since the Gal-3 inhibitor we used has binding affinity also for the Gal-1 lectin with similar Kd values (49 *vs.* 44 nM) (Delaine et al. 2016) we determined whether

unstimulated/stimulated NK cells express Gal-1. Results show that human NK cells do not express Gal-1 protein at least in our experimental conditions (Fig. 12C). These data demonstrate that the Gal-3 expression functionally correlates with NK cell degranulation.



Figure 12. Gal-3 inhibition increases the degree of degranulation in human activated **NK cells.** A classical degranulation assay was used to measure NK cell activity (see Methods, 3.6). (A) The first three panels are representative contour plots of resting and cytokine-stimulated NK cells in the absence/presence of the 30 µM Gal-3 inhibitor (dashed gates represent the percentage of total CD56/CD107a positive cells, while solid gates those highly positive) incubated (4h) with K562 cells. The fourth panel on the right represents overlapped histograms of CD107a expression in resting (black histogram, 5Aa), cytokinestimulated (blue histogram, 5Ab), cytokine-stimulated plus Gal-3 inhibitor (red histogram, 5Ac) NK cells incubated (4h) with K562 cells. (B) Percentage of highly positive CD107a cells in activated NK cells untreated/treated with increasing concentrations $(1-30 \mu M)$ of the Gal-3 inhibitor. The percentage increases in CD107a highly positive cells are calculated vs the value of inhibitor-untreated cells set at 1. The results represent the mean \pm SEM of at least four independent experiments. $*P \leq 0.05$ vs. inhibitor-untreated cells. (C) Representative Gal-1 protein expression evaluated by western blot analysis in NK cells, unstimulated/stimulated (24 h) with IL-2 (100 U/ml) and IL-15 (20 ng/ml), K562 (positive control) and Jurkat (negative control) cells. Total cellular proteins (35 μ g) were resolved by

12% polyacrylamide gel and immunoblotted with specific anti-human galectin-1 antibody. β -Actin was used as internal control.

Discussion

5. Discussion

In this study we demonstrate, for the first time, that: i) human resting NK cells express Gal-3 at both gene and protein levels; ii) resting NK cells can express high or low basal levels of Gal-3 protein, at least in our experimental conditions, depending on the individual donor analyzed; iii) cytokine stimulation is able to modulate either Gal-3 mRNA and protein levels; iv) Gal-3 localizes in both cytoplasm and nucleus, while it was not detected at the cell membrane surface, neither in resting nor stimulated cells; v) Gal-3 can occur within perforin in exocytic vesicles; vi) Gal-3 inhibition leads to an increase in NK cell degranulation.

Several galectins can regulate the homeostasis and functions of immune cells, influencing both innate and adaptive immune responses (Chen et al. 2005; Liu 2005; Rabinovich et al. 2007). In NK cells, particularly, the expression of Gal-1 has been described in the third trimester of normal pregnancy (Molvarec et al. 2011), while that of Gal-3 remains to be investigated. Scanty literature data focus only on profiles of gene expression in mouse NK cells (Kang et al. 2005) and on counter-receptor isolation for Gal-3 from tissues of the murine utero-placental complex (Crider-Pirkle et al. 2002). Using Gal-3 null transgenic mice, finally, a dysregulation of NK cell activity has been observed (Radosavljevic et al. 2011; Chaudhari et al. 2015), when compared to the wild type mice. If this effect is due to the absence of Gal-3 in NK cells or mediated by its absence in other cells, remains to be clarified.

To fill the research gap in this field we, here, decided to fully characterize Gal-3 in human NK cells.

We, first, concentrate on human resting NK cells, because a downregulation of the transcription of genes involved in cellular quiescence and an upregulation of genes

73

associated with cell proliferation (Dybkaer et al. 2007) can occur in activated NK cells.

From our results, resting NK cells express Gal-3 at both mRNA and protein levels with a highly variable relative expression, depending on the individual donor analyzed. In particular, NK cells, expressing low or high levels of Gal-3 protein, were identified. In our opinion, this is not a surprising result because NK cells are a highly heterogeneous population. These cells not only can be roughly categorized in two major subsets (CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright}), based on different expression level of surface CD56 molecule (Moretta et al. 2014), but they can also exert effector functions through a wide array of activating or inhibitory receptors (see Introduction, 1.10.2), which are finely controlled (Vivier et al. 2011; Thielens et al. 2012). NK cells can be thus considered as plastic cells, that can adapt their responsiveness and different receptor pattern, according to environmental stimuli, aging, and diseases (Vivier et al. 2011; Hazeldine and Lord 2013; Terra Junior et al. 2016). Consistently, Lavin et al. (2017), analyzing the distribution of NK cells in lung tumor lesions, showed that the specific microenvironment can shape NK cell protein expression leading to cells that are unique to tumors. The clinical implications of these findings may be of great importance, because mapping the immune cells around the tumors could aid successful immunotherapies.

Collectively, our data complete those on Gal-3 expression on mammalian immune cells, because Gal-3 has been previously demonstrated in macrophages (Liu et al. 1995), DCs (van Stijn et al. 2009), neutrophils (Wu et al. 2017), monocytes (Liu et al. 1995), eosinophils (Rao et al. 2007), mast cells and basophils (Craig et al. 1995), but not in human NK cells.

IL-2 and IL-15 have been here used for activating cells, because these two cytokines, more than any others, are implicated in NK cell survival and cytotoxic function (Becknell and Caligiuri 2005).

Following cytokine stimulation, the intracellular levels of Gal-3 mRNA resulted significantly reduced at 1-6 h, while it returned to the basal levels after 12-24 h. A two fold increase in Gal-3 protein was also measured after 24 h cytokine stimulation, compared to unstimulated cells (see Fig. 8-9). At present, we ignore the molecular bases of the drastic drop in the mRNA levels that we observed after 1 h of stimulation. However. these results consistent with other are similar transcriptional/posttranscriptional gene regulation in NK cells. Resting murine cells are "pre-armed" with a high amount of specific mRNA that upon cell activation can be rapidly translated into protein, allowing the rapid production of effector proteins without new gene transcription and with minimal or absent change in mRNA levels (Fehniger et al. 2007). In addition, human NK cells, have a number of genes, involved in cytolytic functions, already expressed that are rapidly downregulated upon cytokine stimulation (Dybkaer et al. 2007; Mah and Cooper 2016).

Of note, it was demonstrated that NK cells can transcribe and retained at nuclear level specific mRNA, such as IFN- γ , which upon stimulation can be transported into the cytoplasm, translated into the corresponding protein and rapidly degraded. Such type of mechanism allows a fast translation of protein involved in activated NK cell functions and tightly regulate the proper amount of protein inside the cell (Hodge et al. 2002; Kim et al. 2009).

Despite the molecular mechanism regulating Gal-3 expression in NK cells remain to be fully characterized, the drastic drop in mRNA observed immediately after stimulation and the increase in the corresponding protein at 24 h lead us to hypothesize for Gal-3 a similar mechanism of regulation and experiments are in progress in our laboratory to clarify this point.

Gal-3 cellular localization seems to be highly heterogeneous: the protein has the ability to space from nucleus to cytoplasm/cellular surface and to be released into extracellular compartments (Krześlak and Lipińska 2004). Depending on localization Gal-3 can modulate cellular homeostasis, organogenesis, apoptosis,

immune responses, cytokine secretion, cell migration, tumor invasion and metastasis (Dumic et al. 2006). A direct interaction of tumor-secreted Gal-3 with the NK cell surface activating receptor NKp30, having inhibitory activities on cytotoxicity, has been specifically reported by Wang et al. (2014).

In our cells, we never detected Gal-3 at cell surface membrane, even after cytokine stimulation, while in THP-1, a monocytic cell line, taken as positive control, we found Gal-3 also bound to the plasmatic membrane. This result is in agreement with data from Dabelic et al. (2012) on THP-1 cells and from van Stijn et al. (2009) on monocytes.

All samples analyzed were, on the contrary, positive for the intracellular localization of Gal-3 with different levels of protein expression, depending on the individual donor. Gal-3 was always detected in each sample analyzed, being found in the nucleus and/or in the cytoplasm in a heterogeneous manner.

From our results, Gal-3 co-localizes with perforin in exocytic vesicles, which represent one of the main mechanisms underlying NK cell functions. Gal-3 could, thus, directly participate to NK cell degranulation. When Gal-3 function was inhibited by a thiodigalactoside-based Gal-3 inhibitor (van Hattum et al. 2013), indeed, a significant increase in the degree of granules released by NK cells was measured (see Fig. 12B). This result suggests that the level of intracellular Gal-3 expression into NK cells may modulate the mobilization of secretory vesicles for releasing their cytotoxic contents.

Previously, Chen et al. (2009) demonstrated that endogenous Gal-3 negatively regulates T-cell activation by TCR downregulation through the interaction with Alix. Alix protein, in turn, can interact with the endocytic trafficking complexes (ESCRT), involved in exosome biogenesis and secretion (Hurley and Odorizzi 2012), as well as with other intracellular regulators, involved in signal transduction (Colombo et al. 2013). Similarly, endogenous Gal-3 might negatively regulate the release of cytotoxic granules from activated NK cells through the modulation of Alix (Liu et

al. 2012). The Gal-3 upregulation may be, consequently, a physiological mechanism specifically designed to protect healthy cells against toxic compounds released in the surrounding microenvironment. Our observations support also previous data from Radosavljevic et al. (2011), showing that splenic NK cells from Gal-3 null transgenic mice have higher cytotoxic activities than wild type animals.

The function of intracellular Gal-3 in NK cells remains, however, to be fully characterized. In addition to the above mentioned hypothesis it could: i) exert anti-apoptotic activities by binding to molecules involved in apoptosis (i.e., Bcl-2, CD95 (APO-1/Fas), Nucling, Alix/AIP1, synexin) (Dumic et al. 2006); ii) regulate cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival through the modulation of specific signal pathways (i.e., K-Ras/MEK, PI3K/Akt and Wnt (Shalom-Feuerstein et al. 2008; Song et al. 2009); iii) control the dynamics of membrane domains and subsequent signaling events, when localized at the inner leaflet of plasma membrane (Compagno et al. 2014).

Similarly, the nuclear Gal-3, associated with a ribonucleoprotein complex, could: i) act as a pre-mRNA splicing factor; ii) operate as a regulator of gene transcription, promoting the stabilization/transactivation of several transcription factors (i.e., CREB, Sp1, TTF-1, β -catenin) (Dumic et al. 2006; Funasaka et al. 2014).

The signal transduction cascades, initiated by IL-2/IL-5 stimulation, resulting in Gal-3 upregulation should be investigated. The mechanism underlying Gal-3 gene regulation is still poorly understood (Dumic et al. 2006): Jack/STAT (Becknell and Caligiuri 2005), NF-kB (Hsu et al. 1996), or the Ras/MEKK1/MKK1-dependent/AP-1 signal transduction pathway (Kim et al. 2003) may control the Gal-3 expression as in other cells, but this will be the topic of future research.

In conclusion, the present study provides a clear demonstration of Gal-3 expression in human NK cells. The presence of this lectin in resting cells supports its roles in NK cell homeostasis, while the protein upregulation after cytokine stimulation sustains roles in cell function. Finally, the Gal-3 co-localization with perforin in granules, as well as the increase in NK cell degranulation following Gal-3 inhibition suggests functional roles in NK cytotoxicity.

6. Conclusion and outlook

The aim of the first part of my Ph.D. course was to evaluate the expression of Gal-3 in human NK cells. The data here reported clearly demonstrate that these cells express Gal-3, suggesting further studies.

In particular, we found that this protein is not equally expressed among the analyzed donors, ranging from individuals expressing high levels of Gal-3 to others that barely express this protein even after cytokine stimulation.

Here we always analyzed NK cells from the peripheral blood of healthy patients, but we are planning to determine the expression of Gal-3 also in patients suffering from allergy, infections, or other inflammatory diseases. Moreover, we did not analyze Gal-3 expression in the different subpopulations of NK cells (i.e., CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright}), but we believe that possible differences among NK cell subpopulations may help to clarify the role of Gal-3 in these cells.

Furthermore, the analysis of Gal-3 localization in NK cells clearly demonstrated this protein into the exocytic vesicles; we did not analyze at the moment the content of vesicles released during cell degranulation, but in our opinion this should be investigated in the near future, since literature data show that this protein composes the cargo of secreted vesicles. At this point, it is intriguing to speculate that once in the extracellular compartment Gal-3 can modulate other immune cells, recalling them in the correct site and regulating the progression/termination of the immune response.

Finally, we demonstrated that Gal-3 is implied in NK cell degranulation; in particular, the inhibition of this lectin led to a higher release of cytotoxic granules compared to controls. This finding may extend the biological application of NK cells in that fields in which is required an increase in NK cell activity, such as in cancer.

79

I am strongly aware that these results need to be completed and validated by "in vivo" studies, however I think that they can add a piece to the scientific knowledge on Gal-3 expression/function on innate immune cells.

References

- Acosta-Rodríguez EV, Montes CL, Motrán CC, Zuniga EI, Liu FT, Rabinovich GA, Gruppi A. Galectin-3 mediates IL-4-induced survival and differentiation of B cells: functional cross-talk and implications during Trypanosoma cruzi infection. J Immunol. 2004;172(1):493-502.
- Ahmad N, Gabius HJ, André S, Kaltner H, Sabesan S, Roy R, Liu B, Macaluso F, Brewer CF. Galectin-3 precipitates as a pentamer with synthetic multivalent carbohydrates and forms heterogeneous cross-linked complexes. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(12):10841-7.
- Akahani S, Nangia-Makker P, Inohara H, Kim HR, Raz A. Galectin-3: a novel antiapoptotic molecule with a functional BH1 (NWGR) domain of Bcl-2 family. Cancer Res. 1997;57(23):5272-6.
- Aktas E, Kucuksezer UC, Bilgic S, Erten G, Deniz G. Relationship between CD107a expression and cytotoxic activity. Cell Immunol. 2009;254(2):149-54.
- Argüeso P, Panjwani N. Focus on molecules: galectin-3. Exp Eye Res. 2011;92(1):2-3.
- Barboni E, Coade S, Fiori A. The binding of mycolic acids to galectin-3: a novel interaction between a host soluble lectin and trafficking mycobacterial lipids? FEBS Lett. 2005;579(30):6749-55.
- Barboni EA, Bawumia S, Henrick K, Hughes RC. Molecular modeling and mutagenesis studies of the N-terminal domains of galectin-3: evidence for participation with the C-terminal carbohydrate recognition domain in oligosaccharide binding. Glycobiology. 2000;10(11):1201-8.
- Barondes SH, Castronovo V, Cooper DN, Cummings RD, Drickamer K, Feizi T, Gitt MA, Hirabayashi J, Hughes C, Kasai K, et al. Galectins: a family of animal beta-galactoside-binding lectins. Cell. 1994;76(4):597-8.
- Baseras B, Gaida MM, Kahle N, Schuppel AK, Kathrey D, Prior B, Wente M, Hänsch GM. Galectin-3 inhibits the chemotaxis of human polymorphonuclear neutrophils in vitro. Immunobiology. 2012;217(1):83-90.
- Beatty WL, Rhoades ER, Hsu DK, Liu FT, Russell DG. Association of a macrophage galactosidebinding protein with Mycobacterium-containing phagosomes. Cell Microbiol. 2002;4(3):167-76.
- Becknell B, Caligiuri MA. Interleukin-2, interleukin-15, and their roles in human natural killer cells. Adv Immunol. 2005;86:209-39.
- Bernardes ES, Silva NM, Ruas LP, Mineo JR, Loyola AM, Hsu DK, Liu FT, Chammas R, Roque-Barreira MC. Toxoplasma gondii infection reveals a novel regulatory role for galectin-3 in the interface of innate and adaptive immunity. Am J Pathol. 2006;168(6):1910-20.
- Bhaumik P, St-Pierre G, Milot V, St-Pierre C, Sato S. Galectin-3 facilitates neutrophil recruitment as an innate immune response to a parasitic protozoa cutaneous infection. J Immunol. 2013;190(2):630-40.
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(10):889-96.
- Bryceson YT, March ME, Ljunggren HG, Long EO. Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. Blood. 2006;107(1):159-66.
- Caligiuri MA, Zmuidzinas A, Manley TJ, Levine H, Smith KA, Ritz J. Functional consequences of interleukin 2 receptor expression on resting human lymphocytes. Identification of a novel natural killer cell subset with high affinity receptors. J Exp Med. 1990;171(5):1509-26.
- Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cells. Blood. 2008;112(3):461-9.
- Campbell JJ, Qin S, Unutmaz D, Soler D, Murphy KE, Hodge MR, Wu L, Butcher EC. Unique subpopulations of CD56+ NK and NK-T peripheral blood lymphocytes identified by chemokine receptor expression repertoire. J Immunol. 2001;166(11):6477-82.

- Cantor JM, Ginsberg MH. CD98 at the crossroads of adaptive immunity and cancer. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 6):1373-82.
- Cardoso AC, Andrade LN, Bustos SO, Chammas R. Galectin-3 Determines Tumor Cell Adaptive Strategies in Stressed Tumor Microenvironments. Front Oncol. 2016;6:127.
- Cecchinelli B, Lavra L, Rinaldo C, Iacovelli S, Gurtner A, Gasbarri A, Ulivieri A, Del Prete F, Trovato M, Piaggio G, Bartolazzi A, Soddu S, Sciacchitano S. Repression of the antiapoptotic molecule galectin-3 by homeodomain-interacting protein kinase 2-activated p53 is required for p53-induced apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol. 2006;26(12):4746-57.
- Chan A, Hong DL, Atzberger A, Kollnberger S, Filer AD, Buckley CD, McMichael A, Enver T, Bowness P. CD56bright human NK cells differentiate into CD56dim cells: role of contact with peripheral fibroblasts. J Immunol. 2007;179(1):89-94.
- Chaudhari AD, Gude RP, Kalraiya RD, Chiplunkar SV. Endogenous galectin-3 expression levels modulate immune responses in galectin-3 transgenic mice. Mol Immunol. 2015;68(2 Pt A):300-11.
- Chen HY, Fermin A, Vardhana S, Weng IC, Lo KF, Chang EY, Maverakis E, Yang RY, Hsu DK, Dustin ML, Liu FT. Galectin-3 negatively regulates TCR-mediated CD4+ T-cell activation at the immunological synapse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(34):14496-501.
- Chen HY, Liu FT, Yang RY. Roles of galectin-3 in immune responses. Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz). 2005;53(6):497-504.
- Chen HY, Sharma BB, Yu L, Zuberi R, Weng IC, Kawakami Y, Kawakami T, Hsu DK, Liu FT. Role of galectin-3 in mast cell functions: galectin-3-deficient mast cells exhibit impaired mediator release and defective JNK expression. J Immunol. 2006;177(8):4991-7.
- Chen SS, Sun LW, Brickner H, Sun PQ. Downregulating galectin-3 inhibits proinflammatory cytokine production by human monocyte-derived dendritic cells via RNA interference. Cell Immunol. 2015;294(1):44-53.
- Clark MC, Pang M, Hsu DK, Liu FT, de Vos S, Gascoyne RD, Said J, Baum LG. Galectin-3 binds to CD45 on diffuse large B-cell lymphoma cells to regulate susceptibility to cell death. Blood. 2012;120(23):4635-44.
- Colombo M, Moita C, van Niel G, Kowal J, Vigneron J, Benaroch P, Manel N, Moita LF, Théry C, Raposo G. Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. J Cell Sci. 2013;126(Pt 24):5553-65.
- Compagno D, Jaworski FM, Gentilini L, Contrufo G, González Pérez I, Elola MT, Pregi N, Rabinovich GA, Laderach DJ. Galectins: major signaling modulators inside and outside the cell. Curr Mol Med. 2014;14(5):630-51.
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Fuchs A, Colonna M, Caligiuri MA. NK cell and DC interactions. Trends Immunol. 2004;25(1):47-52.
- Cortegano I, del Pozo V, Cárdaba B, de Andrés B, Gallardo S, del Amo A, Arrieta I, Jurado A, Palomino P, Liu FT, Lahoz C. Galectin-3 down-regulates IL-5 gene expression on different cell types. J Immunol. 1998;161(1):385-9.
- Cortegano I, Pozo V, Cárdaba B, Arrieta I, Gallardo S, Rojo M, Aceituno E, Takai T, Verbeek S, Palomino P, Liu FT, Lahoz C. Interaction between galectin-3 and FcgammaRII induces down-regulation of IL-5 gene: implication of the promoter sequence IL-5REIII. Glycobiology. 2000;10(3):237-42.
- Craig SS, Krishnaswamy P, Irani AM, Kepley CL, Liu FT, Schwartz LB. Immunoelectron microscopic localization of galectin-3, an IgE binding protein, in human mast cells and basophils. Anat Rec. 1995;242(2):211-9.
- Crider-Pirkle S, Billingsley P, Faust C, Hardy DM, Lee V, Weitlauf H. Cubilin, a binding partner for galectin-3 in the murine utero-placental complex. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(18):15904-12.

- Dabelic S, Novak R, Goreta SS, Dumic J. Galectin-3 expression in response to LPS, immunomodulatory drugs and exogenously added galectin-3 in monocyte-like THP-1 cells. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. 2012;48(8):518-27.
- Davidson PJ, Li SY, Lohse AG, Vandergaast R, Verde E, Pearson A, Patterson RJ, Wang JL, Arnoys EJ. Transport of galectin-3 between the nucleus and cytoplasm. I. Conditions and signals for nuclear import. Glycobiology. 2006;16(7):602-11.
- de Andrade LF, Smyth MJ, Martinet L. DNAM-1 control of natural killer cells functions through nectin and nectin-like proteins. Immunol Cell Biol. 2014;92(3):237-44.
- Deauvieau F, Ollion V, Doffin AC, Achard C, Fonteneau JF, Verronese E, Durand I, Ghittoni R, Marvel J, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, Walzer T, Vie H, Perrot I, Goutagny N, Caux C, Valladeau-Guilemond J. Human natural killer cells promote cross-presentation of tumor cell-derived antigens by dendritic cells. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(5):1085-94.
- Delaine T, Collins P, MacKinnon A, Sharma G, Stegmayr J, Rajput VK, Mandal S, Cumpstey I, Larumbe A, Salameh BA, Kahl-Knutsson B, van Hattum H, van Scherpenzeel M, Pieters RJ, Sethi T, Schambye H, Oredsson S, Leffler H, Blanchard H, Nilsson UJ. Galectin-3-Binding Glycomimetics that Strongly Reduce Bleomycin-Induced Lung Fibrosis and Modulate Intracellular Glycan Recognition. Chembiochem. 2016;17(18):1759-70.
- Demetriou M, Granovsky M, Quaggin S, Dennis JW.Negative regulation of T-cell activation and autoimmunity by Mgat5 N-glycosylation. Nature. 2001;409(6821):733-9.
- Díaz-Alvarez L, Ortega E. The Many Roles of Galectin-3, a Multifaceted Molecule, in Innate Immune Responses against Pathogens. Mediators Inflamm. 2017;2017:9247574.
- Dietz AB, Bulur PA, Knutson GJ, Matasić R, Vuk-Pavlović S. Maturation of human monocytederived dendritic cells studied by microarray hybridization. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;275(3):731-8.
- Dong S, Hughes RC. Macrophage surface glycoproteins binding to galectin-3 (Mac-2-antigen). Glycoconj J. 1997;14(2):267-74.
- Dumic J, Dabelic S, Flögel M.Galectin-3: an open-ended story. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2006;1760(4):616-35.
- Dumic J, Lauc G, Flögel M. Expression of galectin-3 in cells exposed to stress-roles of jun and NFkappaB. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2000;10(3):149-58.
- Dybkaer K, Iqbal J, Zhou G, Geng H, Xiao L, Schmitz A, d'Amore F, Chan WC. Genome wide transcriptional analysis of resting and IL2 activated human natural killer cells: gene expression signatures indicative of novel molecular signaling pathways. BMC Genomics. 2007;10;8:230.
- Elad-Sfadia G, Haklai R, Balan E, Kloog Y. Galectin-3 augments K-Ras activation and triggers a Ras signal that attenuates ERK but not phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(33):34922-30.
- Ellerhorst JA, Stephens LC, Nguyen T, Xu XC. Effects of galectin-3 expression on growth and tumorigenicity of the prostate cancer cell line LNCaP. Prostate. 2002;50(1):64-70.
- Fallarini S, Brittoli A, Fiore M, Lombardi G, Renaudet O, Richichi B, Nativi C. Immunological characterization of a rigid α-Tn mimetic on murine iNKT and human NK cells. Glycoconj J. 2017;34(4):553-562.
- Fallarini S, Paoletti T, Orsi Battaglini N, Lombardi G. Invariant NKT cells increase drug-induced osteosarcoma cell death. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;167(7):1533-49.
- Fehniger TA, Cai SF, Cao X, Bredemeyer AJ, Presti RM, French AR, Ley TJ. Acquisition of murine NK cell cytotoxicity requires the translation of a pre-existing pool of granzyme B and perforin mRNAs. Immunity. 2007;26(6):798-811.

- Fehniger TA, Cooper MA, Nuovo GJ, Cella M, Facchetti F, Colonna M, Caligiuri MA. CD56bright natural killer cells are present in human lymph nodes and are activated by T cell-derived IL-2: a potential new link between adaptive and innate immunity. Blood. 2003;101(8):3052-7.
- Ferlazzo G, Thomas D, Lin SL, Goodman K, Morandi B, Muller WA, Moretta A, Münz C. The abundant NK cells in human secondary lymphoid tissues require activation to express killer cell Ig-like receptors and become cytolytic. J Immunol. 2004;172(3):1455-62.
- Fermino ML, Polli CD, Toledo KA, Liu FT, Hsu DK, Roque-Barreira MC, Pereira-da-Silva G, Bernardes ES, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L. LPS-induced galectin-3 oligomerization results in enhancement of neutrophil activation. PLoS One. 2011;6(10):e26004.
- Fernández GC, Ilarregui JM, Rubel CJ, Toscano MA, Gómez SA, Beigier Bompadre M, Isturiz MA, Rabinovich GA, Palermo MS. Galectin-3 and soluble fibrinogen act in concert to modulate neutrophil activation and survival: involvement of alternative MAPK pathways. Glycobiology. 2005;15(5):519-27.
- Feuk-Lagerstedt E, Jordan ET, Leffler H, Dahlgren C, Karlsson A. Identification of CD66a and CD66b as the major galectin-3 receptor candidates in human neutrophils. J Immunol. 1999;163(10):5592-8.
- Fogel S, Guittaut M, Legrand A, Monsigny M, Hebert E. The tat protein of HIV-1 induces galectin-3 expression. Glycobiology. 1999;9(4):383-7.
- Fortuna-Costa A, Gomes AM, Kozlowski EO, Stelling MP, Pavão MS. Extracellular galectin-3 in tumor progression and metastasis. Front Oncol. 2014;4:138.
- Fowler M, Thomas RJ, Atherton J, Roberts IS, High NJ. Galectin-3 binds to Helicobacter pylori Oantigen: it is upregulated and rapidly secreted by gastric epithelial cells in response to H. pylori adhesion. Cell Microbiol. 2006;8(1):44-54.
- Frigeri LG, Zuberi RI, Liu FT. Epsilon BP, a beta-galactoside-binding animal lectin, recognizes IgE receptor (Fc epsilon RI) and activates mast cells. Biochemistry. 1993 3;32(30):7644-9.
- Fukumori T, Takenaka Y, Oka N, Yoshii T, Hogan V, Inohara H, Kanayama HO, Kim HR, Raz A. Endogenous galectin-3 determines the routing of CD95 apoptotic signaling pathways. Cancer Res. 2004;64(10):3376-9.
- Fukumori T, Takenaka Y, Yoshii T, Kim HR, Hogan V, Inohara H, Kagawa S, Raz A. CD29 and CD7 mediate galectin-3-induced type II T-cell apoptosis. Cancer Res. 2003;63(23):8302-11.
- Funasaka T, Raz A, Nangia-Makker P. Nuclear transport of galectin-3 and its therapeutic implications. Semin Cancer Biol. 2014;27:30-8.
- Furtak V, Hatcher F, Ochieng J. Galectin-3 mediates the endocytosis of beta-1 integrins by breast carcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001;289(4):845-50.
- Gabius HJ. Biological information transfer beyond the genetic code: the sugar code. Naturwissenschaften. 2000;87(3):108-21.
- Ghazarian H, Idoni B, Oppenheimer SB. A glycobiology review: carbohydrates, lectins and implications in cancer therapeutics. Acta Histochem. 2011;113(3):236-47.
- Gong HC, Honjo Y, Nangia-Makker P, Hogan V, Mazurak N, Bresalier RS, Raz A. The NH2 terminus of galectin-3 governs cellular compartmentalization and functions in cancer cells. Cancer Res. 1999;59(24):6239-45.
- Gupta GS. Animal Lectins: Form, Function and Clinical Applications. Ed. Springer: New York, NY, USA. 2012
- Gupta SK, Masinick S, Garrett M, Hazlett LD. Pseudomonas aeruginosa lipopolysaccharide binds galectin-3 and other human corneal epithelial proteins. Infect Immun. 1997;65(7):2747-53.
- Hanada M, Aimé-Sempé C, Sato T, Reed JC. Structure-function analysis of Bcl-2 protein. Identification of conserved domains important for homodimerization with Bcl-2 and heterodimerization with Bax. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(20):11962-9.

- Hanna J, Wald O, Goldman-Wohl D, Prus D, Markel G, Gazit R, Katz G, Haimov-Kochman R, Fujii N, Yagel S, Peled A, Mandelboim O. CXCL12 expression by invasive trophoblasts induces the specific migration of CD16- human natural killer cells. Blood. 2003;102(5):1569-77.
- Haudek KC, Spronk KJ, Voss PG, Patterson RJ, Wang JL, Arnoys EJ. Dynamics of galectin-3 in the nucleus and cytoplasm. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1800(2):181-9.
- Hazeldine J, Lord JM. The impact of ageing on natural killer cell function and potential consequences for health in older adults. Ageing Res Rev. 2013;12(4):1069-78.
- Henderson NC, Sethi T. The regulation of inflammation by galectin-3. Immunol Rev. 2009;230(1):160-71.
- Hirabayashi J, Hashidate T, Arata Y, Nishi N, Nakamura T, Hirashima M, Urashima T, Oka T, Futai M, Muller WE, Yagi F, Kasai K. Oligosaccharide specificity of galectins: a search by frontal affinity chromatography. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2002;1572(2-3):232-54.
- Hirabayashi J, Kasai K. The family of metazoan metal-independent beta-galactoside-binding lectins: structure, function and molecular evolution. Glycobiology. 1993;3(4):297-304.
- Ho MK, Springer TA. Mac-2, a novel 32,000 Mr mouse macrophage subpopulation-specific antigen defined by monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol. 1982;128(3):1221-8.
- Hodge DL, Martinez A, Julias JG, Taylor LS, Young HA. Regulation of nuclear gamma interferon gene expression by interleukin 12 (IL-12) and IL-2 represents a novel form of posttranscriptional control. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(6):1742-53.
- Honjo Y, Nangia-Makker P, Inohara H, Raz A. Down-regulation of galectin-3 suppresses tumorigenicity of human breast carcinoma cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7(3):661-8.
- Hoyer KK, Pang M, Gui D, Shintaku IP, Kuwabara I, Liu FT, Said JW, Baum LG, Teitell MA. An anti-apoptotic role for galectin-3 in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas. Am J Pathol. 2004;164(3):893-902.
- Hsieh TJ, Lin HY, Tu Z, Huang BS, Wu SC, Lin CH. Structural Basis Underlying the Binding Preference of Human Galectins-1, -3 and -7 for Galβ1-3/4GlcNAc. PLoS One. 2015;10(5):e0125946.
- Hsu DK, Chen HY, Liu FT. Galectin-3 regulates T-cell functions. Immunol Rev. 2009;230(1):114-27. [A]
- Hsu DK, Chernyavsky AI, Chen HY, Yu L, Grando SA, Liu FT. Endogenous galectin-3 is localized in membrane lipid rafts and regulates migration of dendritic cells. J Invest Dermatol. 2009;129:573–83
- Hsu DK, Hammes SR, Kuwabara I, Greene WC, Liu FT. Human T lymphotropic virus-I infection of human T lymphocytes induces expression of the beta-galactoside-binding lectin, galectin-3. Am J Pathol. 1996;148(5):1661-70.
- Hsu DK, Liu FT. Regulation of cellular homeostasis by galectins. Glycoconj J. 2002;19(7-9):507-15.
- Hsu DK, Yang RY, Pan Z, Yu L, Salomon DR, Fung-Leung WP, Liu FT. Targeted disruption of the galectin-3 gene results in attenuated peritoneal inflammatory responses. Am J Pathol. 2000;156(3):1073-83.
- Hughes RC. Galectins as modulators of cell adhesion. Biochimie. 2001;83(7):667-76.
- Hughes RC. Secretion of the galectin family of mammalian carbohydrate-binding proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999;1473(1):172-85.
- Hurley JH, Odorizzi G. Get on the exosome bus with ALIX. Nat Cell Biol. 2012;14(7):654-5.
- Inohara H, Akahani S, Raz A. Galectin-3 stimulates cell proliferation. Exp Cell Res. 1998;245(2):294-302.
- Ippel H, Miller MC, Vértesy S, Zheng Y, Cañada FJ, Suylen D, Umemoto K, Romanò C, Hackeng T, Tai G, Leffler H, Kopitz J, André S3, Kübler D, Jiménez-Barbero J, Oscarson S, Gabius

HJ, Mayo KH. Intra- and intermolecular interactions of human galectin-3: assessment by full-assignment-based NMR. Glycobiology. 2016;26(8):888-903

- Jeng KC, Frigeri LG, Liu FT. An endogenous lectin, galectin-3 (epsilon BP/Mac-2), potentiates IL-1 production by human monocytes. Immunol Lett. 1994;42(3):113-6.
- John CM, Jarvis GA, Swanson KV, Leffler H, Cooper MD, Huflejt ME, Griffiss JM. Galectin-3 binds lactosaminylated lipooligosaccharides from Neisseria gonorrhoeae and is selectively expressed by mucosal epithelial cells that are infected. Cell Microbiol. 2002;4(10):649-62.
- Joo HG, Goedegebuure PS, Sadanaga N, Nagoshi M, von Bernstorff W, Eberlein TJ. Expression and function of galectin-3, a beta-galactoside-binding protein in activated T lymphocytes. J Leukoc Biol. 2001;69(4):555-64.
- Kadrofske MM, Openo KP, Wang JL. The human LGALS3 (galectin-3) gene: determination of the gene structure and functional characterization of the promoter. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1998;349(1):7-20.
- Kang HS, Kim EM, Lee S, Yoon SR, Kawamura T, Lee YC, Kim S, Myung PK, Wang SM, Choi I. Stage-dependent gene expression profiles during natural killer cell development. Genomics. 2005;86(5):551-65.
- Kim HR, Lin HM, Biliran H, Raz A. Cell cycle arrest and inhibition of anoikis by galectin-3 in human breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res. 1999;59(16):4148-54.
- Kim K, Mayer EP, Nachtigal M. Galectin-3 expression in macrophages is signaled by Ras/MAP kinase pathway and up-regulated by modified lipoproteins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2003;1641(1):13-23.
- Kim TD, Park JY, Choi I. Post-transcriptional Regulation of NK Cell Activation. Immune Netw. 2009;9(4):115-21.
- Krugluger W, Frigeri LG, Lucas T, Schmer M, Förster O, Liu FT, Boltz-Nitulescu G. Galectin-3 inhibits granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)-driven rat bone marrow cell proliferation and GM-CSF-induced gene transcription. Immunobiology. 1997;197(1):97-109.
- Krześlak A, Lipińska A. Galectin-3 as a multifunctional protein. Cell Mol Biol Lett. 2004;9(2):305-28.
- Kuwabara I, Liu FT. Galectin-3 promotes adhesion of human neutrophils to laminin. J Immunol. 1996;156(10):3939-44.
- Lavin Y, Kobayashi S, Leader A, Amir ED, Elefant N, Bigenwald C, Remark R, Sweeney R, Becker CD, Levine JH, Meinhof K, Chow A, Kim-Shulze S, Wolf A, Medaglia C, Li H, Rytlewski JA, Emerson RO, Solovyov A, Greenbaum BD, Sanders C, Vignali M, Beasley MB, Flores R, Gnjatic S, Pe'er D, Rahman A, Amit I, Merad M. Innate Immune Landscape in Early Lung Adenocarcinoma by Paired Single-Cell Analyses. Cell. 2017;169(4):750-765.e17.
- Lee YJ, Song YK, Song JJ, Siervo-Sassi RR, Kim HR, Li L, Spitz DR, Lokshin A, Kim JH. Reconstitution of galectin-3 alters glutathione content and potentiates TRAIL-induced cytotoxicity by dephosphorylation of Akt. Exp Cell Res. 2003;288(1):21-34.
- Leffler H, Carlsson S, Hedlund M, Qian Y, Poirier F. Introduction to galectins. Glycoconj J. 2002;19(7-9):433-40.
- Lepur A, Salomonsson E, Nilsson UJ, Leffler H. Ligand induced galectin-3 protein self-association. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(26):21751-6.
- Levy R, Biran A, Poirier F, Raz A, Kloog Y. Galectin-3 mediates cross-talk between K-Ras and Let-7c tumor suppressor microRNA. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27490.
- Li SY, Davidson PJ, Lin NY, Patterson RJ, Wang JL, Arnoys EJ. Transport of galectin-3 between the nucleus and cytoplasm. II. Identification of the signal for nuclear export. Glycobiology. 2006;16(7):612-22.

- Lin HM, Moon BK, Yu F, Kim HR. Galectin-3 mediates genistein-induced G(2)/M arrest and inhibits apoptosis. Carcinogenesis. 2000 Nov;21(11):1941-5.
- Lin HM, Pestell RG, Raz A, Kim HR. Galectin-3 enhances cyclin D(1) promoter activity through SP1 and a cAMP-responsive element in human breast epithelial cells. Oncogene. 2002;21(52):8001-10.
- Linden JR, Kunkel D, Laforce-Nesbitt SS, Bliss JM. The role of galectin-3 in phagocytosis of Candida albicans and Candida parapsilosis by human neutrophils. Cell Microbiol. 2013;15(7):1127-42.
- Lippert E, Gunckel M, Brenmoehl J, Bataille F, Falk W, Scholmerich J, Obermeier F, Rogler G. Regulation of galectin-3 function in mucosal fibroblasts: potential role in mucosal inflammation. Clin Exp Immunol. 2008 May;152(2):285-97.
- Liu FT, Hsu DK, Zuberi RI, Kuwabara I, Chi EY, Henderson WR Jr. Expression and function of galectin-3, a beta-galactoside-binding lectin, in human monocytes and macrophages. Am J Pathol. 1995;147(4):1016-28.
- Liu FT. Regulatory roles of galectins in the immune response. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2005;136(4):385-400.
- Liu L, Sakai T, Sano N, Fukui K. Nucling mediates apoptosis by inhibiting expression of galectin-3 through interference with nuclear factor kappaB signalling. Biochem J. 2004;380(Pt 1):31-41.
- Liu W, Hsu DK, Chen HY, Yang RY, Carraway KL 3rd, Isseroff RR, Liu FT. Galectin-3 regulates intracellular trafficking of EGFR through Alix and promotes keratinocyte migration. J Invest Dermatol. 2012;132(12):2828-37.
- MacKinnon AC, Farnworth SL, Hodkinson PS, Henderson NC, Atkinson KM, Leffler H, Nilsson UJ, Haslett C, Forbes SJ, Sethi T. Regulation of alternative macrophage activation by galectin-3. J Immunol. 2008;180(4):2650-8.
- Mah AY, Cooper MA. Metabolic Regulation of Natural Killer Cell IFN-γ Production. Crit Rev Immunol. 2016;36(2):131-147.
- Maher SG, Romero-Weaver AL, Scarzello AJ, Gamero AM. Interferon: cellular executioner or white knight? Curr Med Chem. 2007;14(12):1279-89.
- Malhotra A, Shanker A. NK cells: immune cross-talk and therapeutic implications. Immunotherapy. 2011;3(10):1143-66.
- Mandal A, Viswanathan C. Natural killer cells: In health and disease. Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther. 2015;8(2):47-55.
- Mandelboim O, Lieberman N, Lev M, Paul L, Arnon TI, Bushkin Y, Davis DM, Strominger JL, Yewdell JW, Porgador A. Recognition of haemagglutinins on virus-infected cells by NKp46 activates lysis by human NK cells. Nature. 2001;409(6823):1055-60.
- Manuelli M, Fallarini S, Lombardi G, Sangregorio C, Nativi C, Richichi B. Iron oxide superparamagnetic nanoparticles conjugated with a conformationally blocked α-Tn antigen mimetic for macrophage activation. Nanoscale. 2014;6(13):7643-55.
- Martín-Fontecha A, Thomsen LL, Brett S, Gerard C, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Induced recruitment of NK cells to lymph nodes provides IFN-gamma for T(H)1 priming. Nat Immunol. 2004;5(12):1260-5.
- Matarrese P, Fusco O, Tinari N, Natoli C, Liu FT, Semeraro ML, Malorni W, Iacobelli S. Galectin-3 overexpression protects from apoptosis by improving cell adhesion properties. Int J Cancer. 2000;85(4):545-54.
- Mathieu A, Saal I, Vuckovic A, Ransy V, Vereerstraten P, Kaltner H, Gabius HJ, Kiss R, Decaestecker C, Salmon I, Remmelink M. Nuclear galectin-3 expression is an independent predictive factor of recurrence for adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the lung. Mod Pathol. 2005;18(9):1264-71.

- Mazurek N, Conklin J, Byrd JC, Raz A, Bresalier RS. Phosphorylation of the beta-galactoside-binding protein galectin-3 modulates binding to its ligands. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(46):36311-5.
- Mehul B, Hughes RC. Plasma membrane targetting, vesicular budding and release of galectin 3 from the cytoplasm of mammalian cells during secretion. J Cell Sci. 1997;110 (Pt 10):1169-78.
- Menon RP, Hughes RC. Determinants in the N-terminal domains of galectin-3 for secretion by a novel pathway circumventing the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi complex. Eur J Biochem. 1999;264(2):569-76.
- Mercer N, Guzman L, Cueto Rua E, Drut R, Ahmed H, Vasta GR, Toscano MA, Rabinovich GA, Docena GH. Duodenal intraepithelial lymphocytes of children with cow milk allergy preferentially bind the glycan-binding protein galectin-3. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2009;22(1):207-17.
- Mey A, Leffler H, Hmama Z, Normier G, Revillard JP. The animal lectin galectin-3 interacts with bacterial lipopolysaccharides via two independent sites. J Immunol. 1996;156(4):1572-7.
- Mina-Osorio P, Soto-Cruz I, Ortega E. A role for galectin-3 in CD13-mediated homotypic aggregation of monocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;353(3):605-10.
- Mishra BB, Li Q, Steichen AL, Binstock BJ, Metzger DW, Teale JM, Sharma J. Galectin-3 functions as an alarmin: pathogenic role for sepsis development in murine respiratory tularemia. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59616.
- Mocikat R, Braumüller H, Gumy A, Egeter O, Ziegler H, Reusch U, Bubeck A, Louis J, Mailhammer R, Riethmüller G, Koszinowski U, Röcken M. Natural killer cells activated by MHC class I(low) targets prime dendritic cells to induce protective CD8 T cell responses. Immunity. 2003;19(4):561-9.
- Molvarec A, Blois SM, Stenczer B, Toldi G, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Ito M, Shima T, Yoneda S, Vásárhelyi B, Rigó J Jr, Saito S. Peripheral blood galectin-1-expressing T and natural killer cells in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Clin Immunol. 2011;139(1):48-56.
- Montaldo E, Del Zotto G, Della Chiesa M, Mingari MC, Moretta A, De Maria A, Moretta L. Human NK cell receptors/markers: a tool to analyze NK cell development, subsets and function. Cytometry A. 2013;83(8):702-13.
- Moody TN, Ochieng J, Villalta F. Novel mechanism that Trypanosoma cruzi uses to adhere to the extracellular matrix mediated by human galectin-3. FEBS Lett. 2000;470(3):305-8.
- Moretta A, Marcenaro E, Parolini S, Ferlazzo G, Moretta L. NK cells at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. Cell Death Differ. 2008;15(2):226-33.
- Moretta L, Montaldo E, Vacca P, Del Zotto G, Moretta F, Merli P, Locatelli F, Mingari MC. Human natural killer cells: origin, receptors, function, and clinical applications. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2014;164(4):253-64.
- Morvan MG, Lanier LL. NK cells and cancer: you can teach innate cells new tricks. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(1):7-19.
- Moutsatsos IK, Wade M, Schindler M, Wang JL. Endogenous lectins from cultured cells: nuclear localization of carbohydrate-binding protein 35 in proliferating 3T3 fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84(18):6452-6.
- Müller S, Schaffer T, Flogerzi B, Fleetwood A, Weimann R, Schoepfer AM, Seibold F. Galectin-3 modulates T cell activity and is reduced in the inflamed intestinal epithelium in IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006;12(7):588-97.
- Nagler A, Lanier LL, Phillips JH. Constitutive expression of high affinity interleukin 2 receptors on human CD16-natural killer cells in vivo. J Exp Med. 1990;171(5):1527-33.
- Nakahara S, Hogan V, Inohara H, Raz A. Importin-mediated nuclear translocation of galectin-3. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(51):39649-59.

- Nangia-Makker P, Honjo Y, Sarvis R, Akahani S, Hogan V, Pienta KJ, Raz A. Galectin-3 induces endothelial cell morphogenesis and angiogenesis. Am J Pathol. 2000;156(3):899-909.
- Nangia-Makker P, Nakahara S, Hogan V, Raz A. Galectin-3 in apoptosis, a novel therapeutic target. J Bioenerg Biomembr. 2007;39(1):79-84.
- Nangia-Makker P, Ochieng J, Christman JK, Raz A. Regulation of the expression of galactosidebinding lectin during human monocytic differentiation. Cancer Res. 1993;53(20):5033-7.
- Nieminen J, St-Pierre C, Sato S. Galectin-3 interacts with naive and primed neutrophils, inducing innate immune responses. J Leukoc Biol. 2005;78(5):1127-35.
- Novak R, Dabelic S, Dumic J. Galectin-1 and galectin-3 expression profiles in classically and alternatively activated human macrophages. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1820(9):1383-90.
- Ochieng J, Leite-Browning ML, Warfield P. Regulation of cellular adhesion to extracellular matrix proteins by galectin-3. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1998;246(3):788-91.
- Oka N, Nakahara S, Takenaka Y, Fukumori T, Hogan V, Kanayama HO, Yanagawa T, Raz A. Galectin-3 inhibits tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by activating Akt in human bladder carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 2005;65(17):7546-53.
- Orange JS. Human natural killer cell deficiencies. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;6(6):399-409.
- Pampena MB, Levy EM. Natural killer cells as helper cells in dendritic cell cancer vaccines. Front Immunol. 2015;6:13.
- Paron I, Scaloni A, Pines A, Bachi A, Liu FT, Puppin C, Pandolfi M, Ledda L, Di Loreto C, Damante G, Tell G. Nuclear localization of Galectin-3 in transformed thyroid cells: a role in transcriptional regulation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;302(3):545-53.
- Partridge EA, Le Roy C, Di Guglielmo GM, Pawling J, Cheung P, Granovsky M, Nabi IR, Wrana JL, Dennis JW. Regulation of cytokine receptors by Golgi N-glycan processing and endocytosis. Science. 2004;306(5693):120-4.
- Pelletier I, Sato S. Specific recognition and cleavage of galectin-3 by Leishmania major through species-specific polygalactose epitope. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(20):17663-70.
- Pesheva P, Kuklinski S, Schmitz B, Probstmeier R. Galectin-3 promotes neural cell adhesion and neurite growth. J Neurosci Res. 1998;54(5):639-54.
- Rabinovich GA, Baum LG, Tinari N, Paganelli R, Natoli C, Liu FT, Iacobelli S. Galectins and their ligands: amplifiers, silencers or tuners of the inflammatory response?. Trends Immunol. 2002;23(6):313-20.
- Rabinovich GA, Liu FT, Hirashima M, Anderson A. An emerging role for galectins in tuning the immune response: lessons from experimental models of inflammatory disease, autoimmunity and cancer. Scand J Immunol. 2007;66(2-3):143-58.
- Rabinovich GA, Toscano MA. Turning 'sweet' on immunity: galectin-glycan interactions in immune tolerance and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(5):338-52.
- Radosavljevic G, Jovanovic I, Majstorovic I, Mitrovic M, Lisnic VJ, Arsenijevic N, Jonjic S, Lukic ML. Deletion of galectin-3 in the host attenuates metastasis of murine melanoma by modulating tumor adhesion and NK cell activity. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2011;28(5):451-62.
- Rao SP, Wang Z, Zuberi RI, Sikora L, Bahaie NS, Zuraw BL, Liu FT, Sriramarao P. Galectin-3 functions as an adhesion molecule to support eosinophil rolling and adhesion under conditions of flow. J Immunol. 2007;179(11):7800-7.
- Raz A, Pazerini G, Carmi P. Identification of the metastasis-associated, galactoside-binding lectin as a chimeric gene product with homology to an IgE-binding protein. Cancer Res. 1989;49(13):3489-93.
- Romagnani C, Juelke K, Falco M, Morandi B, D'Agostino A, Costa R, Ratto G, Forte G, Carrega P, Lui G, Conte R, Strowig T, Moretta A, Münz C, Thiel A, Moretta L, Ferlazzo G.

CD56brightCD16- killer Ig-like receptor- NK cells display longer telomeres and acquire features of CD56dim NK cells upon activation. J Immunol. 2007;178(8):4947-55.

- Ruebel KH, Jin L, Qian X, Scheithauer BW, Kovacs K, Nakamura N, Zhang H, Raz A, Lloyd RV. Effects of DNA methylation on galectin-3 expression in pituitary tumors. Cancer Res. 2005;65(4):1136-40.
- Salomonsson E, Carlsson MC, Osla V, Hendus-Altenburger R, Kahl-Knutson B, Oberg CT, Sundin A, Nilsson R, Nordberg-Karlsson E, Nilsson UJ, Karlsson A, Rini JM, Leffler H. Mutational tuning of galectin-3 specificity and biological function. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(45):35079-91.
- Sano H, Hsu DK, Apgar JR, Yu L, Sharma BB, Kuwabara I, Izui S, Liu FT. Critical role of galectin-3 in phagocytosis by macrophages. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(3):389-97.
- Sano H, Hsu DK, Yu L, Apgar JR, Kuwabara I, Yamanaka T, Hirashima M, Liu FT. Human galectin-3 is a novel chemoattractant for monocytes and macrophages. J Immunol. 2000;165(4):2156-64.
- Sasaki S, Bao Q, Hughes RC. Galectin-3 modulates rat mesangial cell proliferation and matrix synthesis during experimental glomerulonephritis induced by anti-Thy1.1 antibodies. J Pathol. 1999;187(4):481-9.
- Sato S, Bhaumik P, St-Pierre G, Pelletier I. Role of galectin-3 in the initial control of Leishmania infection. Crit Rev Immunol. 2014;34(2):147-75.
- Sato S, Hughes RC. Binding specificity of a baby hamster kidney lectin for H type I and II chains, polylactosamine glycans, and appropriately glycosylated forms of laminin and fibronectin. J Biol Chem. 1992;267(10):6983-90.
- Sato S, Nieminen J. Seeing strangers or announcing "danger": galectin-3 in two models of innate immunity. Glycoconj J. 2002;19(7-9):583-91.
- Sato S, Ouellet N, Pelletier I, Simard M, Rancourt A, Bergeron MG. Role of galectin-3 as an adhesion molecule for neutrophil extravasation during streptococcal pneumonia. J Immunol. 2002;168(4):1813-22.
- Sato S, St-Pierre C, Bhaumik P, Nieminen J. Galectins in innate immunity: dual functions of host soluble beta-galactoside-binding lectins as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and as receptors for pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Immunol Rev. 2009;230(1):172-87.
- Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol. 2004;75(2):163-89.
- Seetharaman J, Kanigsberg A, Slaaby R, Leffler H, Barondes SH, Rini JM.X-ray crystal structure of the human galectin-3 carbohydrate recognition domain at 2.1-A resolution. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(21):13047-52.
- Shalom-Feuerstein R, Cooks T, Raz A, Kloog Y. Galectin-3 regulates a molecular switch from N-Ras to K-Ras usage in human breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 2005;65:7292–7300
- Shalom-Feuerstein R, Plowman SJ, Rotblat B, Ariotti N, Tian T, Hancock JF, Kloog Y. K-ras nanoclustering is subverted by overexpression of the scaffold protein galectin-3. Cancer Res. 2008;68(16):6608-16.
- Shimura T, Takenaka Y, Fukumori T, Tsutsumi S, Okada K, Hogan V, Kikuchi A, Kuwano H, Raz A. Implication of galectin-3 in Wnt signaling. Cancer Res. 2005;65(9):3535-7.
- Shimura T, Takenaka Y, Tsutsumi S, Hogan V, Kikuchi A, Raz A. Galectin-3, a novel binding partner of beta-catenin. Cancer Res. 2004;64(18):6363-7.
- Smyth MJ, Swann J, Cretney E, Zerafa N, Yokoyama WM, Hayakawa Y. NKG2D function protects the host from tumor initiation. J Exp Med. 2005;202(5):583-8.
- Song S, Mazurek N, Liu C, Sun Y, Ding QQ, Liu K, Hung MC, Bresalier RS. Galectin-3 mediates nuclear beta-catenin accumulation and Wnt signaling in human colon cancer cells by regulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta activity. Cancer Res. 2009;69(4):1343-9.
- Stillman BN, Hsu DK, Pang M, Brewer CF, Johnson P, Liu FT, Baum LG. Galectin-3 and galectin-1 bind distinct cell surface glycoprotein receptors to induce T cell death. J Immunol. 2006;176(2):778-89.
- Stowell SR, Qian Y, Karmakar S, Koyama NS, Dias-Baruffi M, Leffler H, McEver RP, Cummings RD. Differential roles of galectin-1 and galectin-3 in regulating leukocyte viability and cytokine secretion. J Immunol. 2008;180(5):3091-102.
- Sun JC, Lanier LL. NK cell development, homeostasis and function: parallels with CD8⁺ T cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(10):645-57.
- Sundblad V, Croci DO, Rabinovich GA. Regulated expression of galectin-3, a multifunctional glycanbinding protein, in haematopoietic and non-haematopoietic tissues. Histol Histopathol. 2011 Feb;26(2):247-65.
- Swarte VV, Mebius RE, Joziasse DH, Van den Eijnden DH, Kraal G. Lymphocyte triggering via Lselectin leads to enhanced galectin-3-mediated binding to dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28(9):2864-71.
- Takahashi E, Kuranaga N, Satoh K, Habu Y, Shinomiya N, Asano T, Seki S, Hayakawa M. Induction of CD16+ CD56bright NK cells with antitumour cytotoxicity not only from CD16-CD56bright NK Cells but also from CD16- CD56dim NK cells. Scand J Immunol. 2007;65(2):126-38.
- Takenaka Y, Fukumori T, Yoshii T, Oka N, Inohara H, Kim HR, Bresalier RS, Raz A. Nuclear export of phosphorylated galectin-3 regulates its antiapoptotic activity in response to chemotherapeutic drugs. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(10):4395-406.
- Terra Junior ON, Maldonado Gde C, Alfradique GR, Lisboa Vda C, Arnóbio A, de Lima DB, Diamond HR, de Souza MH. Study of Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors in Patients with HIV/AIDS and Cancer: A Cross-Sectional Study. ScientificWorldJournal. 2016;2016:2085871.
- Théry C, Boussac M, Véron P, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Raposo G, Garin J, Amigorena S. Proteomic analysis of dendritic cell-derived exosomes: a secreted subcellular compartment distinct from apoptotic vesicles. J Immunol. 2001;166(12):7309-18.
- Thielens A, Vivier E, Romagné F. NK cell MHC class I specific receptors (KIR): from biology to clinical intervention. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(2):239-45.
- Truong MJ, Gruart V, Kusnierz JP, Papin JP, Loiseau S, Capron A, Capron M. Human neutrophils express immunoglobulin E (IgE)-binding proteins (Mac-2/epsilon BP) of the S-type lectin family: role in IgE-dependent activation. J Exp Med. 1993 Jan 1;177(1):243-8. [A]
- Truong MJ, Gruart V, Liu FT, Prin L, Capron A, Capron M. IgE-binding molecules (Mac-2/epsilon BP) expressed by human eosinophils. Implication in IgE-dependent eosinophil cytotoxicity. Eur J Immunol. 1993;23(12):3230-5.
- van den Berg TK, Honing H, Franke N, van Remoortere A, Schiphorst WE, Liu FT, Deelder AM, Cummings RD, Hokke CH, van Die I. LacdiNAc-glycans constitute a parasite pattern for galectin-3-mediated immune recognition. J Immunol. 2004;173(3):1902-7.
- van Hattum H, Branderhorst HM, Moret EE, Nilsson UJ, Leffler H, Pieters RJ. Tuning the preference of thiodigalactoside- and lactosamine-based ligands to galectin-3 over galectin-1. J Med Chem. 2013;56(3):1350-4.
- van Stijn CM, van den Broek M, van de Weerd R, Visser M, Taşdelen I, Tefsen B, van Die I. Regulation of expression and secretion of galectin-3 in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Mol Immunol. 2009;46(16):3292-9.

- Vandenbrule F, Bellahcene A, Jackers P, Liu F, Sobel M, Castronovo V. Antisense galectin-3 alters thymidine incorporation in human MDA-MB435 breast cancer cells. Int J Oncol. 1997;11(2):261-4.
- Villa-Verde DM, Silva-Monteiro E, Jasiulionis MG, Farias-De-Oliveira DA, Brentani RR, Savino W, Chammas R. Galectin-3 modulates carbohydrate-dependent thymocyte interactions with the thymic microenvironment. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32(5):1434-44.
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, Yokoyama WM, Ugolini S. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science. 2011;331(6013):44-9.
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(5):503-10.
- von Wolff M, Wang X, Gabius HJ, Strowitzki T. Galectin fingerprinting in human endometrium and decidua during the menstrual cycle and in early gestation. Mol Hum Reprod. 2005;11(3):189-94.
- Vray B, Camby I, Vercruysse V, Mijatovic T, Bovin NV, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Kaltner H, Salmon I, Gabius HJ, Kiss R. Up-regulation of galectin-3 and its ligands by Trypanosoma cruzi infection with modulation of adhesion and migration of murine dendritic cells. Glycobiology. 2004;14(7):647-57.
- Wallach D, Fellous M, Revel M. Preferential effect of gamma interferon on the synthesis of HLA antigens and their mRNAs in human cells. Nature. 1982;299(5886):833-6.
- Walzer T, Bléry M, Chaix J, Fuseri N, Chasson L, Robbins SH, Jaeger S, André P, Gauthier L, Daniel L, Chemin K, Morel Y, Dalod M, Imbert J, Pierres M, Moretta A, Romagné F, Vivier E. Identification, activation, and selective in vivo ablation of mouse NK cells via NKp46. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(9):3384-9.
- Wang L, Inohara H, Pienta KJ, Raz A. Galectin-3 is a nuclear matrix protein which binds RNA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1995;217(1):292-303.
- Wang W, Guo H, Geng J, Zheng X, Wei H, Sun R, Tian Z. Tumor-released Galectin-3, a soluble inhibitory ligand of human NKp30, plays an important role in tumor escape from NK cell attack. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(48):33311-9.
- Wang W, Park JW, Wang JL, Patterson RJ. Immunoprecipitation of spliceosomal RNAs by antisera to galectin-1 and galectin-3. Nucleic Acids Res. 2006;34(18):5166-74.
- Wright RD, Souza PR, Flak MB, Thedchanamoorthy P, Norling LV, Cooper D. Galectin-3-null mice display defective neutrophil clearance during acute inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. 2017;101(3):717-726.
- Wu SY, Huang JH, Chen WY, Chan YC, Lin CH, Chen YC, Liu FT, Wu-Hsieh BA. Cell Intrinsic Galectin-3 Attenuates Neutrophil ROS-Dependent Killing of Candida by modulating CR3 Downstream Syk Activation. Front Immunol. 2017;8:48.
- Wu SY, Yu JS, Liu FT, Miaw SC, Wu-Hsieh BA. Galectin-3 negatively regulates dendritic cell production of IL-23/IL-17-axis cytokines in infection by Histoplasma capsulatum. J Immunol. 2013;190(7):3427-37.
- Yamaoka A, Kuwabara I, Frigeri LG, Liu FT. A human lectin, galectin-3 (epsilon bp/Mac-2), stimulates superoxide production by neutrophils. J Immunol. 1995;154(7):3479-87.
- Yang RY, Hill PN, Hsu DK, Liu FT. Role of the carboxyl-terminal lectin domain in self-association of galectin-3. Biochemistry. 1998;37(12):4086-92.
- Yang RY, Hsu DK, Liu FT. Expression of galectin-3 modulates T-cell growth and apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(13):6737-42.
- Yoshii T, Fukumori T, Honjo Y, Inohara H, Kim HR, Raz A.Galectin-3 phosphorylation is required for its anti-apoptotic function and cell cycle arrest. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(9):6852-7.

- Yoshii T, Inohara H, Takenaka Y, Honjo Y, Akahani S, Nomura T, Raz A, Kubo T.Galectin-3 maintains the transformed phenotype of thyroid papillary carcinoma cells. Int J Oncol. 2001;18(4):787-92.
- Yu F, Finley RL Jr, Raz A, Kim HR. Galectin-3 translocates to the perinuclear membranes and inhibits cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. A role for synexin in galectin-3 translocation. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(18):15819-27.
- Zhu W, Sano H, Nagai R, Fukuhara K, Miyazaki A, Horiuchi S. The role of galectin-3 in endocytosis of advanced glycation end products and modified low density lipoproteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001;280(4):1183-8.
- Zuberi RI, Hsu DK, Kalayci O, Chen HY, Sheldon HK, Yu L, Apgar JR, Kawakami T, Lilly CM, Liu FT. Critical role for galectin-3 in airway inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of asthma. Am J Pathol. 2004;165(6):2045-53.
- Zwirner NW, Domaica CI. Cytokine regulation of natural killer cell effector functions. Biofactors. 2010;36(4):274-88.

Chapter II

CD154/40L recombinant vaccinia virus induces direct and macrophage-mediated in vitro and in vivo antitumor effects

1. Introduction

1.1 Cancer and immune therapeutic strategy

Despite considerable achievements of the scientific community in the last decades, cancer still represents the second leading cause of death worldwide, as reported by the world health organization (http://www.who.int).

Recently, several immunotherapeutic strategies have been evaluated in order to reduce incidence and cancer progression. The rationale supporting implementation and clinical validation of different immunotherapeutic strategies relies on the theoretical ability of the immune system to eradicate cancer or to prevent its progression (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). Furthermore, development of new immunotherapeutic approaches is also prompted by the necessity to bypass the limited efficacy of the present standard, chemo and radiotherapy, based anticancer treatments (Beatty et al. 2011; Mishra et al. 2013; Vonderheide et al. 2013; Miller et al. 2016; Mills et al. 2016).

Our current understanding of cancer immunotherapeutic strategies largely focuses on the pivotal role played by T lymphocytes, in particular CD8+ T cells, in the elimination of cancerous cells. In this regard, pioneering studies performed in mouse models have clearly demonstrated the potential therapeutic activity of tumor-reactive CD8 positive T cells (Schumacher and Schreiber 2015; Ward et al. 2016). These initial observations have been also confirmed in clinical settings (Galon et al. 2006; Fridman et al. 2012). Indeed, it has widely been demonstrated that high percentages of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells within the tumor masses are associated to a significantly increased overall and/or progression free-survival in different tumor types including breast, melanoma, ovarian, bladder and colorectal cancer (Figure 1) (Galon et al. 2006; Fridman et al. 2012; Fridman et al. 2017).



Figure 1. CD8+ T cells infiltration and clinical outcome of cancer patients. Bold colors indicate a positive (green) or a negative (red) prognostic association following analysis of all relevant studies; light green indicate a predominantly positive prognostic association in the majority of studies analyzed. White circles indicate no statistically significant correlation or that unclear prognostic associations were observed in a number of studies. The size of the circles relates to size of the cohort in clinical studies. Small circles indicate 0–100 patients, Medium-sized circles indicate 100–1,000 patients and Large circles indicate 1,000–10,000 patients NSCLC: non small cell lung carcinoma (adapted from Friedman et al. 2017).

Nevertheless, although these studies clearly underline the therapeutic potential of CD8+ T cell; cumulative results obtained in animal models and clinical studies have also evidenced that transformed cells are able to actively orchestrate an immune resistance, preventing the generation and impairing the effectiveness of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells (Schreiber et al. 2011; Ghirelli and Hagemann 2013). As

Introduction

reported by Hanahan and Weinberg in 2011, in fact, a new hallmark of cancer, consists in its ability to evade destruction mediated by immune cells.

In the last decade, several studies have contributed to shed light on the mechanism underlying the process of immune evasion. In this respect, it has been observed how tumor cells can prevent the generation of an effective immunological synapse with CD8+ T lymphocytes through their downregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules (Dong et al. 2002; Bubeník 2004; Ahmadzadeh et al. 2009). Moreover, therapeutic potential of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells is impaired by the activation in cancer cells of distinct mechanisms contributing to the establishment of cancer immunological tolerance. In this regard, a pivotal role can be ascribed to PD1 : PD-L1/PD-L2 pathway.

Animal studies and clinical observations have contributed to underline the relevance of this pathway in favoring cancer progression (Tran et al. 2008; Ahmadzadeh et al. 2009; Topalian et al. 2012). PD1 expression on T cell surfaces has been extensively indicated as a physiological step following CD4 and CD8 positive lymphocytes activation, whose engagement lead to the silencing of T cells response. This mechanism, which physiologically prevents the exacerbation of adaptive immune responses against pathogens and the onset of autoimmune diseases, can also prevent T lymphocytes from killing tumor cells (Tran et al. 2008; Pardoll 2012; Topalian et al. 2012).

In fact, expression of PD1 ligands (PD-L1/PD-L2) on surface of malignant cells, has been shown to be significantly associated with poor prognosis of cancer patients (Zitvogel and Kroemer 2012; Topalian et al. 2016). Remarkably, upregulation of PD-L1 on malignant cells appears to result from both intrinsic and adaptive immune resistance mechanism utilized by malignant cells (Gajewski et al. 2010; Spranger et al. 2013; Topalian et al. 2014). Intrinsic immune resistance is referred to the constitutive expression of PD-L1, as a consequence of the activation of specific signaling pathway during neoplastic transformation, as well as a consequence of chromosomal rearrangement usually detectable in malignant cells. Most importantly, PD-L1 upregulation can also be detected in different solid tumor types and hematological malignancies as a result of an active adaptive immune resistance of transformed cells (Pardoll 2012; Topalian et al. 2016). Indeed, it has been reported that the expression of PD-L1 on cellular surface of cancer cells may be induced in response to interferon (IFN)- γ , produced by tumor-infiltrating immunocompetent cells (Kmieciak et al. 2011; Topalian et al. 2015). The latter observation paradoxically underlines, once again, the potential ability of the immune system to mediate cancer eradication and, most importantly, the ability of malignant cells to react and dampen immune-mediated threat.

These findings have prompted the development and evaluation of therapeutic efficacy of different monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) targeting negative regulators of tumor-reactive immune responses (Sharon et al. 2014). So far, administration of these antibodies has proven of clinical effectiveness in around 30% of cancer patients enrolled in different clinical trials.

Despite these encouraging results, it must be underlined that cancer progression cannot be ascribed only to the capacity of malignant cells to evade immune recognition through the expression of inhibitory ligands on their cellular surfaces. In this regard, several studies have indicated that cancer progression may mostly be related to the generation and promotion by malignant cells of an immunosuppressive microenvironment, limiting the activity of immune cell types of proven clinical relevance. In particular, cancer cells can evade immune recognition through the activation of genes encoding for enzymes, cytokines and chemokines (Cremonesi et al. 2017) able to restrain the antitumor activity of T cells directly or through the recruitment of immune suppressive cells. In this respect, a selective recruitment of regulatory T cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MSDC) has been widely reported in different tumor types including colorectal, breast and pancreatic cancer (Gabrilovich and Nagaraj 2009; Facciabene et al. 2012).

Finally, In addition to selective recruitment of immune suppressive cell types, malignant cells can also steer the functional differentiation of immune cell with antitumor potential. In this regard, in the last years, an increased interest has been registered for tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). Notably, macrophages have been repeatedly indicated as first line of defense against cancer (Imaizumi et al. 1999; Buhtoiarov et al. 2005; Lum et al. 2006 [A]; Beatty et al. 2011; Kang et al. 2011; Murray and Wynn 2011; Rakhmilevich et al. 2012). These myeloid cells are recruited into and infiltrate tumor mass as an early event during cancer development (Noy and Pollard 2014). Once in the tumor mass, macrophages have the potential to kill cancer cell, either through a direct activity against malignant cells or with an indirect activity that passes through the activation of adaptive immune system (Imaizumi et al. 1999; Lum et al. 2006 [A]; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Mills et al. 2016). Nevertheless, in most cases, the tumor microenvironment is able to re-educate these cells steering their activity from antitumor to tumor promoting (Mantovani et al. 2002; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Mills et al. 2002; Mills et al. 2002; Mills et al. 2010; Mills et al. 2010; Mills et al. 2002; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Mills et al. 2010; Mills et al. 2002; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Mills et al. 2010; Mills et al. 2002; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Mills et al. 2006; Mills et al

These observations, suggest that cancer immunotherapy reagents, rather than a direct cytotoxic activity on malignant cells, must display the capacity to sustain the activation of tumor infiltrating immunocompetent cells and to prevent their functional inactivation. Moreover, such type of reagents should ideally also be able to simultaneously target different immune cell types within the tumor mass in order to be clinically effective. In this scenario, a pivotal role is played by the CD40 molecule, a costimulatory protein, widely expressed on immune cells, able to activate both, innate and adaptive immunity (Elgueta et al. 2009; Beatty et al. 2017).

1.2 The CD40 receptor and CD40 ligand

The CD40 molecule or CD40 receptor (CD40R) belongs to the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000; Elgueta et al. 2009) and is encoded by a gene located on human chromosome 20q11-20q13-2. Notably, CD40R is an integral type I membrane glycoprotein of 45-50 kDa composed of 277 amino acid (aa). The mature form of the molecule includes a 193 aa extracellular domain, a 21 aa leader sequence, a 22 aa transmembrane domain and a 62 aa intracellular tail (with no similarity to any other characterized molecule) (Banchereau et al. 1994). Of note, human and murine CD40 molecule share 62% aa identity for the extracellular domain whereas 78% homology has been reported for the intracellular domain of CD40R and 22 cysteines located in the extracellular domain, are fully conserved between mouse and human. These observations suggest that both mouse and human CD40 molecules possess similar functional domains (Banchereau et al. 1994; van Kooten and Banchereau 2000).

CD40R was initially detected on the cellular surfaces of B lymphocytes. Later studies have documented the expression of CD40 on a wider range of cell types including myeloid immunocompetent cells (dendritic cells [DCs], monocytes and resident macrophages) but also endothelial cells, epithelial cells and stromal cells (e.g.: fibroblast and mesenchymal stromal cells) (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000; Elgueta et al. 2009). Remarkably, CD40 expression has been also observed in almost 70% of solid tumors and nearly all B cell malignancies (Vonderheide 2007).

So far, only one ligand for CD40R has been identified: CD154 also known as CD40 ligand (CD40L). CD40L belongs to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily and it is a type II transmembrane glycoprotein, with a molecular weight ranging between 32 and 39 kDa. CD40L is encoded by a gene located on Xq26.3-Xq27.1. CD40L protein is composed of 261 aa. In particular, 22 aa compose the cytoplasmic domain, 24 aa the transmembrane domain and a 215 aa are included in the extracellular

domain. Similarly, to its cognate receptor, comparison between human and mouse CD40L revealed 75% of homology for the extracellular domain, 96% for the transmembrane region and 81% for the cytoplasmic domain.

In line with other members of the TNF superfamily, crystallography studies have indicated the ability also for CD40L molecule to form trimeric structures (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000; Elgueta et al. 2009).

In sharp contrast with CD40R, CD40L displays a highly selective pattern of expression. Indeed, CD40L is primarily detected on platelets, activated T lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000). Most importantly, in addition to the transmembrane form (mCD40L), the TNF-like molecule CD40L was also described to have two additional isoforms (18 and 31 kDa), generated by proteolytic cleavage of the full-length protein. These shorter CD40L isoforms can be released as soluble proteins (sCD40L/s40L) by activated platelets and T cells (Huang et al. 2012).

1.2.1 The CD40 receptor : CD40 ligand (CD154) pathway

CD40R does not possess an intracellular domain with an intrinsic kinase activity. Ligation of CD40R by its cognate ligand results in the recruitment and activation of specific adaptor proteins termed as TNFR-associated factors (TRAFs).

TRAFs family of adaptor proteins is composed of six different members: TRAF-1, -2, -3, -4, -5 and TRAF-6. Members or TRAF family, except for TRAF-4, can be recruited to the cytoplasmic domain of CD40R, directly or through the formation of heterocomplexes (Bishop et al. 2007).

Recently, some reports have contributed to the identification of another member of TRAFs family named TRAF-7. However, biological role and pattern of expression of TRAF-7 are still unclear (Bishop et al. 2007; So et al. 2015).

CD40 triggering further tuned by specific ligand isoforms promotes the recruitment of different TRAF adaptor proteins resulting in the activation of complex signaling cascades. These include the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK), c-Jun Nterminal kinase (JNK), phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) and the phospholipase C γ (PLC γ) pathways (Elgueta et al. 2009). The signal cascade initiated by ligation of CD40R eventually results in the activation of transcription factors such as the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB), activator protein (AP)-1 and the nuclear factor for interleukin-6 (NF-IL6), leading, in turn, to the transcription of an array of different genes involved in the regulation of a wide spectrum of molecular and cellular process (Figure 2) (Bishop et al. 2007; Elgueta et al. 2009; Elmetwali et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2012).

Different studies have shed light on the critical relevance of the nature of CD40L stimuli in dictating different, even opposite, biological effects in targeted cells. In this respect, it has been shown that similarly to membrane-bound CD40L (mCD40L), also s40L can retain his trimeric structure resulting in the engagement of CD40R but culminating in a differential or reduced initiation of signaling cascade (Vonderheide 2007; Elmetwali et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2012; Elmetwali et al. 2016). In line with these observations, the s40L isoform was associated with survival pathway in carcinoma cells as well as increased immunosuppressive activity of MDSC and Tregs (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Huang et al. 2012; Jenabian et al. 2014). On the contrary, mCD40L isoform has been associated with apoptosis induction of CD40-expressing malignant cells and also to the activation of cellular and humoral responses (Elgueta et al. 2009).

In the last decade, molecular studies from several authors have contributed to an increased understanding of CD40-initiated signaling pathway. Although differential cellular responses induced by sCD40L or mCD40L in target cells still need to be fully characterized, it is now widely accepted that engagement of CD40R results in differential receptor conformations which in turn results in a selective TRAFs recruitment finally leading to either short-living signals or sustained stimuli

(Georgopoulos et al. 2006; Elgueta et al. 2009). In this regard, Elmetwali and colleagues in 2010 clearly demonstrated that apoptosis induction in CD40-expressing transformed cells, following stimulation with mCD40L, is associated with selective upregulation of TRAF-1 and TRAF-3 and a reduction of TRAF-6 intracellular levels. Notably, only the TRAF-1 protein was upregulated at transcriptional level while no changes were observed in TRAF-3/6 mRNA. These observations suggested that regulation of TRAF-3 and TRAF-6 intracellular levels might reflect protein stabilization and turnover of TRAF-3 and TRAF-6. Alteration of TRAF-1, -3 and -6 protein levels leads to JNK-dependent apoptosis as results of cytochrome c release and activation of caspases. In line with these observations, further studies also demonstrated that in CD40 positive cancerous cells, apoptosis induced by the membrane-bound CD40L, but not soluble isoforms, is related to the induction of the novel Ras effector 1A (NORE1A)/Ras association domain-containing protein 5 (RASSF5) molecule (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Elmetwali et al. 2016).

Collectively, these observations, along with CD40 broad pattern of expression, suggest that different TRAFs adaptor proteins are associated to the initiation of different intracellular signaling pathways. Therefore, it is not surprising that the effects of CD40R stimulation are multifaceted. In particular, CD40R ligation on cancer cells may lead to apoptosis or to pro-survival effects. Similarly, engagement of CD40R on immune cells might result in the initiation and progression of both humoral and cellular immune response or establishment of immune tolerance (Vonderheide 2007).



Figure 2. Multiple effects of CD40R : CD40L signaling. A cartoon summarizing TRAFdependent activation of intracellular pathway in response to CD40R stimulation. TRAF molecules are recruited to the cytoplasmic tail of CD40R where they can mediate activation of NF-kB, JNK, p38/ MAPK. Depending on the different microenvironment, molecular characteristic of the ligand, and strength of CD40R stimulation, these molecules may activate the transcription of different genes implied in the induction of apoptosis or promotion of survival (adapted from Elgueta et al. 2009).

1.2.2 The CD40 receptor : CD40 ligand (CD154) in the immune system A pivotal role for CD40R : CD40L pathway in the regulation of immune system has been extensively reported (Banchereau et al. 1994; Bishop et al. 2007; Vonderheide 2007; Elgueta et al. 2009; Vonderheide et al. 2013; Loskog et al. 2016). Indeed, ligation of CD40R expressed on the surface of immunocompetent cells has been associated to upregulation of a broad range of costimulatory/inhibitory receptors/ligands, production of antibodies and release of cytokines in the extracellular environment (Banchereau et al. 1994; Vonderheide 2007; Elgueta et al 2009; Vonderheide et al. 2013). CD40 was initially described and functionally characterized as a key receptor expressed on cellular surfaces of B cells (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000). Stimulation of CD40R on surfaces of B cells, by CD40L-expressing CD4+ T cells, has been shown to play a pivotal role in the initiation and maintenance of effective humoral responses. Indeed, triggering of CD40R, results in B cells proliferation/expansion, inhibition of apoptosis and, most importantly, in their maturation as indicated by antibody isotype switching and differentiation into long-living plasma cells. Furthermore, CD40R-stimulated B cells display an increased expression of molecules mediating intracellular adhesion and co-stimulation of T cell (CD23 [FccRII], CD80 [B7.1] and CD86 [B7.2], MHC class I/II molecule) as well as of cytokine production (IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α) (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000; Elgueta et al 2009).

Remarkably, mutations in the CD40L gene have been associated to hyper Immunoglobulin (Ig)M syndrome characterized by elevated levels of IgM, low levels of IgE, IgG and IgA, absence of germinal centers and inability to generate a protective humoral response (Grewal and Flavell 1998).

The identification of an increasing number of different immunocompetent cells expressing CD40 has expanded considerably the implication of this pathway in the control of immune responses. In particular, pioneering studies (Bennett et al. 1998; Ridge et al. 1998; Schoenberger et al. 1998) on DCs have underlined the critical relevance of CD40R : CD40L pathway not only in the generation of a humoral response but also in the generation of CD8-mediate immune responses.

Naïve CD8+ T lymphocytes require a full activation to produce antiviral and antitumor cytokines and to develop the capacity to eliminate target cells (Lanzavecchia 1998; Laidlaw et al. 2016). It is nowadays widely accepted that activation and generation of protective viruses/tumor-specific CD8+ T cells are achieved by the integration of three different signals. In particular, full activation of naïve CD8+ T cells requires, along to the recognition by the T cell receptor of the

MHC class I-peptide complex on the surface of DCs (Signal-1), also the delivery of additional signals such as costimulatory ligands (Signal-2) and exposure to proinflammatory cytokines (Signal-3) (Curtsinger et al. 2003; Obar and Lefrançois 2010). In this scenario, several studies have repeatedly reported a critical role for CD4+ T cells help in the generation of an efficient CD8+ T cell immune response (Keene and Forman 1982; Mitchison and O'Malley 1987; Cassell and Forman 1988; Husmann and Bevan 1988; Guerder and Matzinger 1992).

The initial interpretation of the "help" provided by CD4+ T cells was focused on the production of high amounts of IL-2 after the simultaneous recognition on the same antigen presenting cell (APC), of the cognate antigen (Mitchison and O'Malley 1987; Cassell and Forman 1988; Keene and Forman 1992). However, CD8+ T cells response could be also generated in IL-2 independent manner (Steiger et al. 1995). In addition, a potential limitation of this model was represented by the simultaneous interaction of two rare antigen-specific cells on the same APC (Lanzavecchia 1998).

Our current understanding of the interplay between DCs, CD8 and CD4 positive T cells largely relies on the APC-licensing model proposed by Matzinger (Matzinger 1994). According to this model, CD4+ T cells following antigen recognition on DCs can deliver a signal able to activate the APC to a state in which they can autonomously and properly prime CD8+ T cells (Matzinger 1994; Ridge et al. 1998). Thus, rather than being simple scaffold with the mere function to bring CD4+ and CD8+ T cells together, the DC play a pivotal role in the generation of the CD8+ T cell immune response (Ridge et al. 1998; Behrens et al. 2004).

The molecular basis accounting for CD4+ T cell-mediated activation of DCs were identified in the CD40R : CD40L interaction and currently, stimulation of CD40R-expressing DCs by CD40L+ CD4+ T cells is referred as antigen presenting cells licensing (APCs-licensing) (Lanzavecchia 1998).

108

Notably, APCs-licensing has been extensively indicated in animal studies and clinical studies as a critical step in the generation of protective CD8-mediated cellular responses (Di Rosa and Matzinger 1996; Vonderheide 2007). T-helper cells, through the expression on their cell surfaces of CD40L, promote the activation of CD8+ T cells by increasing the ability of CD40-licensed DCs to deliver the three activating signals to specific CD8+ T cells (Di Rosa and Matzinger 1996; Lanzavecchia 1998, Vonderheide 2007). Indeed, upon recognition of the cognate antigen in the context of MHC class II molecules, specific CD4+ T cells rapidly express on their cellular surfaces CD40L, which in turn results in an increased antigen presentation capacity of DCs to T cells as confirmed by upregulation of MHC class I/II molecules. Moreover, CD40L-stimulated DCs express high levels of molecules implicated in the formation of the immunological synapse such as the adhesion and costimulatory molecules CD58 (LFA-3), CD54 (ICAM-1), CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) (van Kooten and Banchereau 2000; Quezada et al 2004; Elgueta et al. 2009; Kawabe et al. 2011).

Finally, CD40R-stimulated DCs release high amount of pro-inflammatory cytokines, most importantly, IL-12. This cytokine plays a crucial role in the initiation and maintenance of protective T helper (Th)1-responses (Hsieh et al. 1993; Hirohata 1999; Athie-Morales et al. 2004). Moreover, IL-12 is a strong amplifier of CD8+ response and was demonstrated to act as a third signal in CD8 priming (Curtsinger et al. 2003; Behrens et al. 2004).

This model has been further confirmed by later studies demonstrating that the crucial nature of CD4+ T cell help relies on the CD40-dependent licensing of APC (Bennett et al. 1998; Ridge et al. 1998; Schoenberger et al. 1998; Fransen et al. 2011). Indeed, neutralization of CD40L resulted in the abrogation of CD8+ T cell priming (Schoenberger et al. 1998). Most importantly, these studies demonstrated that specific agonistic monoclonal antibodies targeting CD40R can replace CD4+ T cells during CD8+ T cells priming.

1.2.3 Targeting CD40 receptor to harness the immune system against cancer

Generation of an effective CD8+ T cells response plays a pivotal role in protective antitumor immunity (Vonderheide 2007; Vonderheide and Glennie 2013). Several studies have shown that activation status of APCs (e.g.: DCs) represents a critical determinant for the induction of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells. In this regard, ligation of CD40R on cellular surfaces of DCs leads to their activation. Indeed, CD40Rstimulated DCs display a high expression of MHC class I/II, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines able to optimally prime tumor-reactive naïve CD8+ T cells. Based on the critical role of DCs in regulating antitumor CD8-mediated immune responses, initial therapeutic strategies were designed in order to promote, in a CD40-dependent manner, APC activation (Vonderheide 2007; Elgueta et al. 2009). Different reagents including agonistic CD40R antibodies, small molecules and viral vectors have been tested in animal models and also evaluated in cancer patients (Vonderheide 2007; Ullenhag and Loskog 2012).

In particular, animal studies have documented the antitumor efficacy of anti-CD40R agonistic antibodies. Intratumoral or intravenous administration of these type of antibodies resulted in the rapid generation, in a CD4+ T cell independent manner, of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells targeting syngeneic lymphoma (French et al. 1999). Furthermore, administration of anti-CD40R agonistic antibodies resulted in an increased induction of specific CD8+ T cells following peptide-based antitumor vaccination protocols (Diehl et al. 1999; French et al. 1999; Sotomayor et al. 1999). Most importantly, pre-clinical studies underlined therapeutic activity of CD40R mAbs for treatment of both solid and hematological cancers regardless the CD40 status of malignant cells (Todryk et al. 2001; Tutt et al. 2002). The latter observation prompted the development and clinical validation of similar reagents due to the broad range of tumors potentially treatable with anti-CD40R mAbs (Todryk et al. 2001; Tutt et al. 2007).

Tutt et al. 2002; van Mierlo et al. 2002; Vonderheide 2007).

Different anti-CD40R mAbs with activities ranging from antagonist to agonist have been used for clinical treatment of lymphoma and solid tumors. Results obtained in phase I/II clinical trials are consistent with disease stabilization in 20 to 60% of treated patients. Most importantly, clinical efficacy of CD40R mAbs based treatment has been correlated to activation of antitumor immune responses (Vonderheide 2007; Vonderheide and Glennie 2013; Remer et al. 2015). In particular, targeting CD40R with CP-870,893, a fully human IgG2 anti-CD40R agonistic mAb, resulted in objective tumor response against melanoma and pancreatic cancer. Patients receiving this mAb displayed activation of B cells, as antigen presenting cells, as evidenced by upregulation of CD86 costimulatory marker, MHC class I/II and CD54 adhesion molecule. To a similar extent, also ChiLob 7/4 mAb has been demonstrated to induce host APCs activation. This latter antibody is a chimeric IgG1 mAb that was tested in phase I clinical study with lymphoma and melanoma patients (Vonderheide 2013; Remer et al. 2015). Subjects enrolled in the study displayed DCs activation as indicated by CD83 expression and production of Th1 cytokines (Vonderheide 2007; Carpenter et al. 2009; Vonderheide and Glennie 2013; Remer et al. 2015).

The development of cancer immunotherapies targeting CD40R was prompted by the necessity to achieve a full activation of host APCs (especially DCs) in order to generate a powerful antitumor T cells response.

Nevertheless, targeting CD40R : CD40L pathway might also result in the activation of other immune mechanisms, which are not mutually exclusive, and can contribute to the elimination of cancerous cells (Vonderheide 2013). Indeed, engagement of CD40R on tumor endothelium can participate in the recruitment of immune effector cells in the tumor mass. Stimulation of CD40(+) endothelial cells, in fact, has been associated to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as the granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL-6 and with the upregulation adhesion molecules. The latter include vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1, intracellular cell adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and E-selectin important for the recruitment and adhesion of leucocyte in the inflamed area (Déchanet et al. 1997; Kotowicz et al. 2000; Ullenhag and Loskog 2012). However, once in the tumor mass, effector cells can then be impaired in their function by cells with immunosuppressive activity. The tumor microenvironment, in fact, is usually highly infiltrated by immunosuppressive cells belonging to the lymphocytic or myeloid lineage (Fridman et al. 2011; Fridman et al. 2012; Fridman et al. 2013; Fridman et al. 2017). These cells may impair antigen-presenting capacity of DCs through direct contact or by cytokine release, blocking the generation of tumor-specific effector clones and therefore establishing tumor tolerance (Ullenhag and Loskog 2012). In this scenario, CD40R engagement has been demonstrated to be associated with the reduction of immunosuppressive mechanism and elimination of immunosuppressive cell populations thereby concurring in overcoming the immune tolerance detectable in tumor microenvironment. Finally, CD40R-stimulation of cancerous cells might result in the upregulation of adhesion (CD54), costimulatory (CD80 and CD86) and MHC (class I/II) molecule on their cell membrane, promoting the formation of a productive immunological synapse between CD8+ T lymphocytes and malignant cells (de Charette et al. 2016).

In addition to these immune-mediated effects, CD40R engagement with agonistic mAbs can also have a direct effect on cancer cells, potentially resulting in their apoptosis (Vonderheide 2007; Loskog and Eliopoulos 2009; Ullenhag and Loskog 2012).

Interestingly, cell death induction in cancer cells has been associated with the intensity of CD40R stimulation and therefore with the specific TRAF molecule and signal transduction chain expressed by tumor cells. The most profound effect in carcinoma cells has been found to be induced by mCD40L rather than sCD40L (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Vonderheide 2007). Moreover, antibodies recognizing cancer cell markers also induce elimination of targeted cells through other, T cell independent, mechanisms, which include antibody-dependent cell-mediated

112

cytotoxicity (ADCC) or complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) (Vonderheide et al. 2013).

Based on the latter considerations, different mAbs have been developed in order to mediate direct cancer cell death, as consequence of direct CD40R engagement on target cell. In this regard, Dacetuzumab, a humanized IgG1 agonist was demonstrated to induce cancer cell death through various mechanism, including ADCC, CDC and direct apoptotic signaling. Similarly, Lucatumumab a fully humanized IgG1 blocking CD40L ligation was demonstrated to augment ADCC (Vonderheide et al. 2013; Suresh et al. 2014; Remer et al. 2015). Despite the remarkable antitumor activity of anti-CD40R mAbs, the use of this strategy in patients with cancer is associated with several side effects. In particular, the systemic administration of antibody targeting CD40R might result in activation of immune and normal cells leading to adverse reactions. Concerns are principally related to possible induction of cytokine release syndromes, thromboembolic syndrome, due to CD40 expression on platelets and endothelial cells and autoimmune reactions. Some of these effects were observed in patients after antibody treatment. In Particular, CP-870.893 and SGN-40 administration resulted in the development of cytokine release syndrome with serum increase of cytokines such as IL-6, TNF- α , IL-10, IL-1 β , fever and chills. Moreover, transaminase elevation, a symptom of liver stress, was also observed immediately after antibody administration (Vonderheide and Glennie 2013; Remer et al. 2015; Beatty et al. 2017).

Importantly, although CD8+ T cells and DCs play key role in tumor cell eradication, data obtained from clinical studies as well as evidence from animal models suggest that tumor regression may also be obtained through T cell independent mechanisms. In this regard, a principal role has been described for myeloid cells. In particular, CD40R-stimulated macrophages were reported to display an efficient tumoricidal activity possibly based on the secretion of reactive nitrogen (RNI)/oxygen (ROI)

113

intermediates and/or effector cytokines such as TNF- α (Beatty et al. 2011; Ullenhag and Loskog 2012; Vonderheide et al. 2013).

1.3 Macrophages

Macrophages have been widely described as critical players of innate immune responses against cancer and pathogens (Murray and Wynn 2011). Traditionally, circulating CD14+ monocytes were indicated as precursors of tissue resident macrophages. This initial interpretation has recently been challenged. Indeed, origin of macrophages has been associated to specific tissue precursors seeded, in different anatomical district, during embryonic development (Geissmann et al. 2010; Ginhoux et al. 2016; Mantovani et al. 2017).

A peculiar feature of macrophages is represented by their high plasticity. Indeed, cells belonging to macrophage lineage display an enhanced ability to integrate different stimuli from the extracellular environment and to respond to them by acquiring specific phenotypic and functional profiles. In this regard, it was reported that IFN- γ and/or microbial products might promote the differentiation of classically activated (M1) CD14-derived macrophages with pro-inflammatory functional attributes. In contrast, Th-2 cytokines (IL-4/IL-13) promote the generation of alternatively activated (M2) CD14-derived macrophages defined by an immunosuppressive functional profile (Stein et al. 1992; Mantovani et al. 2002; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Sica and Mantovani 2012; Martinez and Gordon 2014)

M1 macrophages are characterized by high expression of CD16 receptor and reduced expression of CD163 and CD204 on their cell surfaces (Nebiker et al. 2014). In addition, activated CD14-derived M1 macrophages display high levels of MHC class I/II and costimulatory molecules (CD80/CD86). Activation of M1 macrophages results also in the de-novo production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-12, IL-23, TNF- α and RNI/ROI (Gordon and Taylor 2005; Mantovani et al. 2008;

Sica and Mantovani 2012; Mills 2015). Based on this functional profile, CD14derived M1 macrophages have been indicated as sentinels of innate immune responses against cancer, viruses and bacterial infections (Mosser and Edwards 2008). In addition to their direct activity against target cells, CD14-derived M1 macrophages have been shown to have a critical role in regulating adaptive immune responses. In this regard, release of C-X-C motif chemokine ligand (CXCL)9 and CXCL10, efficient antigen presentation capacity and production of high amount of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-12, have been described as crucial elements dictating the ability of M1 macrophages to recruit and promote the activation of Th1-mediated immune responses (Martinez et al. 2006; Mantovani et al. 2008; Biswas and Mantovani 2010).

In contrast, M2 macrophages display reduced expression on their cell surfaces of CD16 and high levels of CD163 and CD204 (Nebiker et al. 2014). Several studies support a critical role of CD14-derived M2 macrophages in the elimination of parasites and in tissue remodeling. Moreover, a pro-tumoral activity in different types of malignancies has also been described for M2 macrophages. These roles have been directly associated to the impaired ability of CD14-derived M2 macrophages to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-12 (Mantovani et al. 2002; Gordon and Taylor 2005; Mantovani et al. 2008; Sica and Mantovani 2012; Mills 2015). In addition, activation of M2 macrophages results in the secretion of C-C motif chemokine ligand (CCL) 17, CCL22 and CCL24 promoting the recruitment of Th2 lymphocytes (Martinez et al. 2006; Mantovani et al. 2008).

These two different forms of macrophage polarization are tightly regulated at the intracellular levels by specific transcription factors. In this regard, high levels of signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)1, NF-kB and interferon regulatory factor (IRF)5 have been associated to an M1-like functional profile as suggested by the increased expression of genes encoding pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12, IL-23 and TNF- α . On the other hand, stimuli resulting in

increased levels of IRF4, STAT3/6 and cMyc have been associated to the skewing of CD14 monocytes toward the M2 profile (Sica and Mantovani 2012; Mantovani and Allavena 2015).

Notably, these M1 and M2 activation status of macrophages mirror the Th1/Th2 polarization of CD4+ T cells. Nevertheless, in contrast with T-helper cells differentiation, M1 and M2 macrophages have been extensively indicated as two extremes of a continuum of differentiation states (Mantovani et al. 2002; Mosser and Edwards 2008). Indeed, it has been observed that in different pathological or physiological contexts macrophages can assume a phenotype that does not overlap with M1 or M2 profiles but present features of both polarization states (Chan et al. 2008; Shaul et al. 2010). Moreover, due to their intrinsic plasticity, macrophage polarization can also be modified during the course of different disease such as cancer and obesity (Lumeng et al. 2007; Biswas et al. 2008).

Chemokines, including CCL2 and CXCL4, soluble factors such as macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), IL-10, and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β have been indicated as critical mediators in the establishment of an M2 favorable immunosuppressive microenvironment. These molecules, in fact, can cooperate in recruitment and induction of macrophage polarization toward phenotype sharing distinct features with IL-4/IL-13 activated macrophages (M2) and often observed in TAMs (Roca et al. 2009; Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Gleissner et al. 2010)

1.3.1 Macrophages and cancer

Macrophages represent a significant fraction of tumor-infiltrating immunocompetent cells (Noy and Pollard 2014). Abundance of macrophages has been extensively reported in several solid tumor types, in both tumor center and invasive margins (Fridman et al. 2017). Most importantly, several studies have contributed to define the relationship occurring between "quantity" and "quality" of macrophages infiltration and clinical outcome in cancer patients (Figure 3).

In this regard, high infiltration of M1 macrophages defined using, among others, the human leukocyte antigen-antigen D related (HLA-DR) or the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) markers, has been correlated with a favorable prognosis in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (Ohri et al. 2009; Ma et al. 2010; Ohri et al. 2011) (patient n=140), hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (Dong et al. 2016) (n=253), ovarian cancer (OC) (Zhang et al. 2014) (n=112) and gastric cancer (Pantano et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2015) (n=232). In contrast, high infiltration by M2-like macrophages, as defined using, among others, CD163 and CD204 expression as marker, has been associated with poor prognosis in breast (Medrek et al. 2012) (n= 144), bladder (Ichimura et al. 2014) (n=171), ovarian (Lan et al. 2013) (n=110), renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (Dannenmann et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2014) (n=239), gastric (Kawahara et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2015) (n=434) and in melanoma (Jensen et al. 2009) (n=227) (Fridman et al. 2017).

Introduction



Figure 3. M1 or M2 macrophages (M) infiltration and clinical outcome in cancer patients. Bold colors indicate a positive (green) or a negative (red) prognostic association following analysis of all relevant studies; orange color indicates a predominantly negative prognostic association in the majority of studies analyzed. White circles indicate no statistically significant correlation, or that unclear prognostic associations were observed in a similar number of studies. The size of the circles relates to the size of the cohort in clinical studies. Small circles indicate 0–100 patients, Medium-sized circles indicate 100–1,000 patients and Large circles indicate 1,000–10,000 patients (adapted from Fridman et al. 2017).

Our current understanding regarding the impact of macrophages infiltration and clinical outcome of cancer patients is based on the M1/M2 differentiation model. In this respect, classically activated M1 macrophages were shown, in animal models and clinical studies, to possess a potent antitumor activity (Mills et al. 2016; Fridman

et al. 2017). In particular, the enhanced ability of M1 macrophages to inhibit tumor progression has been correlated mostly to their capacity to release high amount of TNF- α (Sica and Mantovani 2012; Fridman et al. 2017). Furthermore, CD14-derived M1 macrophages can selectively eliminate pre-malignant cells preventing tumor progression, at least in the animal model (Kang et al. 2011). In addition to these latter observations, the antitumor role of CD14-derived M1 macrophages is also based on their ability to orchestrate generation of innate and adaptive immune responses against cancer. Accordingly, it has been shown that IFN- γ production by NK cells, Th1 and CD8+ T lymphocytes might sustain M1 polarization of myeloid cells, which in turn release IL-12 and CXCL9, CXCL10 chemokines resulting in a sustained antitumor immune response (Biswas and Mantovani 2010). In vitro and in vivo studies have repeatedly shown a protective role for CD14-derived M1 macrophages (Grabstein et al. 1986; Mills et al. 2016).

However, a significant infiltration of pro-tumor M2 macrophages, particularly at the late stages of malignancy, has also been observed (Biswas et al. 2013; Noy and Pollard 2014).

In this regard, an increased attention has been focused, in the last years, regarding on the ability of chronically inflamed tissues, including many tumor types(Mantovani and Sica 2010), to promote preferential recruitment and polarization of TAMs toward an M2-like profile (Fridman et al. 2012; Sica and Mantovani 2012; Mills et al. 2016; Fridman et al. 2017). In this type of microenvironment, macrophages are exposed to cytokines and chemokines (such as M-CSF, IL-10, TGF- β , CCL2) produced by the malignant and tumor-associated stromal and inflammatory cells educating macrophages to become pro-tumoral cells with an M2-like phenotype (Biswas et al. 2013; Noy and Pollard 2014). These macrophages display a low production of IL-12 and high production of IL-10. Furthermore, they show low antigen presentation and tumoricidal activity, impaired production of RNI but large production of the tumor growth molecule ornithine as well as molecules involve in tissue remodeling and angiogenesis (vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF], epidermal growth factor [EGF], CXCL8) (Mills 2012; Biswas et al. 2013; Noy and Pollard 2014). Most importantly, when cancers become invasive, the tumor microenvironment appears to be dominated by cytokines that promote T cells skewing from a Th1 to a Th2 immune response. IL-4 and IL-13 cytokines, derived from Th2 cells, further sustain macrophages polarization to an M2 phenotype, which in turn express a set of chemokines (CCL17, CCL22, CCL24) resulting in the recruitment of other inflammatory cells (Treg, Th2, eosinophils, basophils) expressing cognate receptors CCR3 and CCR4. Once in the tumor microenvironment, these cells produce cytokines (IL-10, IL-4, IL-13) that further promote macrophage polarization through an M2/M2-like phenotype in a selfsustaining cycle promoting cancer progression (Biswas and Mantovani 2010; Nov and Pollard 2014) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Macrophage's activation and polarization orchestrate by immune cells. M1polarized macrophages and their crosstalk with Th1 and NK cells. M2 polarization of macrophages driven by Th2 cells and basophils, through their secretion of IL-4 or IL-13. M2-like macrophages polarized by interaction with Treg. In green M1 or in red M2/M2-like polarized macrophages (adapted from Biswas and Mantovani 2010).

Due to the pivotal role played by macrophages in either cancer progression or cancer eradication, a number of potential macrophage-centered therapeutic approaches are being explored. (Mantovani et al. 2017; Zheng et al. 2017). In particular, since it has been demonstrated that macrophage polarization can be reverted to some extent (Guiducci et al. 2005; Saccani et al. 2006) potentially leading to the elicitation of M1 direct anticancer activity, an appealing strategy appears to be the functional reeducation of TAMs to an M1-like functional phenotype.

1.3.2 Targeting the CD40 pathway to enhance antitumor macrophage activity

Current understanding of successful cancer immunotherapeutic strategies largely focuses on the ability of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells to mediate the elimination of transformed cells.

However, in the last years, the role of myeloid cells in tumor eradication has been revised. In particular, a potential protective role against cancer has been underlined for macrophages. Several studies have shown that these myeloid cells might mediate cancer cells clearance and tumor regression through mechanisms not requiring the activation of CD8+ T cells immunity (Beatty et al. 2011; Rakhmilevich et al. 2012; Mills et al. 2016). In particular, studies performed in animal models indicate that tumor infiltration by M1 macrophages results in decreased tumor progression as compared to M2-infiltrated tumors (Evans et al. 1977; Fidler and Poste 1982; Mills 2015; Mills et al. 2016). In addition, skewing M2 toward M1 phenotype might favor tumor regression (Mills et al. 1992; Beatty et al. 2011; O'Sullivan 2012). Notably, antitumor activity of myeloid cells of monocyte and macrophage lineage can be finely tuned by the CD40R : CD40L pathway (Rakhmilevich et al. 2012). Indeed, several *in vitro*, *ex vivo* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated that myeloid cells once stimulated through CD40R develop an M1 pro-inflammatory phenotype that can rapidly lead to tumor cells elimination (Buhtoiarov et al. 2005; Lum et al. 2006).

The first evidence on the antitumor potential of myeloid cells was reported by Alderson and colleagues. This study showed that CD40L transfected cells were able to activate the tumoricidal activity of human monocytes against melanoma cells (Alderson et al. 1993). This initial observation was later confirmed by *in vitro*, *ex vivo* and *in vivo* studies aimed at clarifying the antitumor potential of macrophages with similar results. Taken together, these studies have revealed that following CD40R stimulation, murine macrophages are able to secrete effector cytokines and soluble cytotoxic molecules, most notably nitric oxide (NO), IL-12 and TNF- α , resulting in a significant cytostatic/cytotoxic activity against different types of transformed cells (Imaizumi et al. 1999; Buhtoiarov et al. 2005; Lum et al. 2006 [A]; Rakhmilevich et al. 2012).

IL-12 production by CD40R-stimulated macrophages plays a pivotal role in the elicitation of their antitumor activity. Indeed, it has been reported that IL-12 produced in response to CD40R triggering induces the production of IFN- γ , which in turn results in the activation and stimulation of macrophages antitumor effect (Buhtoiarov et al. 2005). Moreover, INF- γ was demonstrated to be responsible for CD40 upregulation on macrophages cell surface and, in combination with CD40R stimulation, to increase NO and TNF- α production by these myeloid cells (Imaizumi et al. 1999)

These initial findings were confirmed and further extended *in vivo*, by demonstrating that a CD40R specific agonist mAb stimulated murine macrophages to maturate into an M1 pro-inflammatory phenotype able to inhibit tumor growth in a T/B/NK independent manner (Lum et al. 2006; Rakhmilevich et al. 2012). In particular, CD40R stimulation of these cells led to their rapid activation, as indicated by upregulation of costimulatory (CD80, CD86, CD40, toll like receptor [TLR] 4) and MHC class II molecules. Most importantly, after CD40 stimulation, they produce pro-inflammatory Th1 cytokines (IFN- γ , IL-12; TNF- α) and display an increased

cytostatic activity against neuroblastoma and melanoma cancer cells (Lum et al. 2006).

In line with these findings underlining the critical role of macrophages in cancer eradication, important results were also obtained in pre-clinical and clinical studies performed on pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDA) (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty et al. 2013).

PDA is a highly aggressive cancer, poorly responsive to standard therapies such as chemotherapy, which offer only minimal benefit in patients not eligible for surgery (Beatty et al. 2011; Vonderheide et al. 2013). New drugs approved for treatment of PDA (erlotinib) extend patients survival by only a couple of weeks compared to classical therapies. In contrast, the combination of standard care treatment (gemcitabine) with systemic administration of CD40R agonist (CP-870,893) for advanced/surgically incurable PDA, chemotherapy naïve patients gave encouraging results (Vonderheide et al. 2013). Although gemcitabine alone results only in approximately 5% partial response, the addition of a CD40R agonist resulted in 4/21 patients in partial response and 11/21 in disease stabilization with a median progression free survival of 5.6 months, while gemcitabine alone only achieves 2.3 months (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty et al. 2013; Vonderheide et al. 2013). Histological analysis of surgically resected tumor lesions from patients with partial response revealed an immune infiltrate, which was enriched in macrophages, but not in T lymphocytes as expected. In particular, animal studies have contributed to clarify the antitumor activity of CP-870,893. Indeed, administration of a rat anti-mouse CD40R agonist mAb FGK45 (homolog of human CP-870,893) following gemcitabine treatment resulted in a similar antitumor activity as observed in cancer patients (Beatty et al. 2011). Most importantly, systemic administration of FGK45 resulted, similarly to CP-870,893, in a high infiltration of myeloid cells but not T lymphocytes into the neoplastic lesion (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty 2013). Analysis of tumorassociated immune cells after FGK45 treatment provides evidence that macrophages

were activated as indicated by upregulation of MHC class II and CD86 molecule. These CD40R-activated macrophages acquired tumoricidal properties and the capacity to secrete high levels of IL-12 and TNF- α . Most importantly these cells shift their phenotype from stroma supporting to stroma degrading cells and mediate disruption of Type I collagen (a major component of extracellular matrix) (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty et al. 2013).

These findings reinforce the idea that immunotherapeutic strategy aimed at targeting CD40R can drive both T cell dependent and independent mechanisms. In regard to the latter, triggering of the CD40 pathway has been demonstrated to efficiently restore tumor immune surveillance by targeting tumor-infiltrating macrophages (Vonderheide et al. 2013). Notably, these results also imply that the final antitumor activity may pass through a re-education of tumor promoting macrophages and stromal destruction (Vonderheide et al. 2013).

1.4 Vaccinia virus and cancer immunotherapy

Therapeutic efficacy of engineered CD40L-expressing recombinant viral vectors has been extensively evaluated in animal models and clinical studies (Ullenhag and Loskog 2012; Parviainen et al. 2014). Interestingly, several phase I/II clinical trials have addressed the clinical efficacy of CD40L-expressing recombinant adenovirus (AdCD40L) alone or in combination with IL-2 in patients with solid cancer and hematological malignancies (Wierda et al. 2000; Biagi et al. 2005; Rousseau et al. 2006; Malmström et al. 2010). Remarkably, following treatment, a significant increase in tumor-reactive T cells along with shrinkage of tumor masses was observed in cancer patients enrolled in clinical studies (Biagi et al. 2005; Rousseau et al. 2006) Most importantly, immune activation promoted by AdCD40L resulted in 5-year overall survival of 90% of treated patients with acute leukemia (Rousseau et al. 2006). Among different viral vectors evaluated for cancer therapeutic purposes, recombinant vaccinia viruses (rVVs) have been extensively explored. Several studies in pre-clinical and clinical settings have addressed the antitumor potential of rVVs encoding together with tumor-associated antigens, costimulatory molecules of immunological relevance (Zajac et al. 1998; Adamina et al. 2010; Parviainen et al. 2014).

Vaccinia Virus (VV) belongs to the *Poxviridae* family. VV is a double-strand DNA virus (Shen and Nemunaitis 2005). The length of virus backbone is approximately of 190kbp and contains 250 genes (Larocca and Schlom 2011). The effectiveness of VV as preventive vaccine has been proven by the eradication of variola virus, officially achieved in 1980 (Moss 1991). Due to its historical role, VV biology has been extensively studied in laboratory resulting in its use as an effective vehicle for gene delivery in immunotherapy.

A peculiar feature of VV is represented by its ability to infect a broad range of mammalian cells. Notably, host cell infection by VV does not require any defined cell surface receptor, but it is due to its fusion with plasma membrane of mammalian cells. In this regard, it must be underlined that other viruses, including adenovirus, have a more restricted host cell range due to the requirement for specific surface receptors during the infection process.

VV genome can be easily engineered leading to the accommodation to up to 25 kb of foreign genetic material. Finally, VV displays an enhanced tumor tropism due to cancer cell dysregulation in cell cycle, immune evasion and uncontrolled replication. Importantly, the use of vaccinia virus is safe, since replication of the virus takes place in cytoplasmic structures defined "viral factories" and the virus does not integrate into the host genome (Shen and Nemunaitis 2005; Kirn and Thorne 2009; Kim and Gulley 2012).

The use of vaccinia virus (Copenhagen strain) in preclinical studies has been extensively explored at the University of Basel. In previous studies, the efficacy of rVV in the generation and the expansion of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells was tested. Remarkably, the use of a rVV encoding tumor-associated antigens and costimulatory molecules has shown an enhanced ability to promote the expansion of CD8+ tumor-reactive T cells. This was observed with cells from peripheral blood of healthy donor and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, obtained from clinical specimens (Zajac et al. 1997; Zajac et al. 1998; Groeper et al. 2007).

Interestingly, rVV displayed also therapeutic efficacy in phase I/II clinical studies in stage III/IV melanoma patients. This viral vector was engineered to express three HLA-A0201 restricted epitopes from melanoma differentiation antigens (gp100₂₈₀₋₂₈₈; - Melan-A/MART-1₂₇₋₃₅; - tyrosinase₁₋₉) and CD80, CD86 costimulatory molecules.

The treatment administered to the patients enrolled in the study consisted in the intradermal administration or the recombinant virus, followed by re-call boosts with the antigenic soluble peptides together with GM-CSF injected intradermally.

Clinical observations indicate that 7/10 treated patients developed a CD8+ T cells response against at least one of the antigens and showed stable disease. Moreover, 3/7 responsive patients displayed single metastasis regression (Adamina et al. 2010). Thus, clinical benefit correlated with the generation of CD8+ T cells targeting at least one tumor-associated peptide, indicating that the administration of rVV is safe and induces the generation of tumor-specific T cells. In this regards Trella et al., more recently (2016), demonstrated that the use of a recombinant vaccinia virus encoding for CD40L (rVV40L) promotes the rapid "in vitro" differentiation of naïve CD8+ T cells into CD8+ T central memory cells reactive against human tumor-associated antigens. This work underlines once again the ability of such type of vector to fine tune CD8+ T cell-mediated immune response.

However, tumor regression is also associated to T cell independent mechanisms (see paragraph 1.3.2). In this respect, CD40 pathway targeting has been demonstrated to
efficiently restore tumor immune surveillance through re-education of tumorinfiltrating macrophages. Therefore, rVV40L could theoretically be able not only to promote the generation and expansion the CD8+ T cells responses, but also to generate antitumor activity through the modulation of functional profiles of tumorinfiltrating myeloid cells.

Introduction

2. Outline of the thesis

In the present study, I have analyzed CD40 expression on malignant and tumorinfiltrating immune cells in a large (n>800) cohort of human cancers and identified malignancies potentially representing important clinical targets. This information was then used to perform tailored "in vitro" and "in vivo" experiments using CD40(-) and (+) cell lines of defined histological origin. In particular, I evaluated the ability of rVV40L to directly induce apoptosis on CD40(+) tumor cells. In addition to the direct effect on cancerous cells, I also investigated the ability of rVV40L to modulate the functional profile of differentially polarized macrophages potentially leading to in vivo inhibition of tumor progression.

Outline of the thesis

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Immunohistochemistry

Tumor characteristics and peritumoral immune cell infiltration were evaluated by using the original hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) slides of resection specimens corresponding to microarray punches. Tissue microarray (TMA) slides were incubated with CD40 specific primary antibodies (Clone58612; Abcam). Percentages of CD40 positive cells were evaluated by experienced pathologists blinded to any prior information. In particular, percentages of positive malignant and tumor-infiltrating immune cells were evaluated in total tumor and peritumoral areas in each punch. Intensity of staining on malignant cells was also analyzed and samples were classified as negative (0), weakly positive (1), moderately positive (2) and strongly positive (3). Tumor cells were scored positive if they displayed at least intensity 2 staining. Positivity cut-off for tumor-infiltrating immune cells was 20% regardless of staining intensity.

3.2 CD40 ligand-expressing recombinant Vaccinia Virus (rVV40L)

rVV40L was generated as previously described (Feder-Mengus et al. 2015). In order to avoid the cytopathic/lytic effect of replicating virus and focus on the effect of the transgene expression, viral replication was inactivated by DNA cross-linking by using psoralen (1 μ g/ml) and long-wave UV (365nm) irradiation (Feder-Mengus et al. 2015).

3.3 Established tumor cell lines

Established melanoma (A375), hepatocellular carcinoma (PLC, HepG2 and HuH-7), colorectal (HCT116, LS180 and HT29) and breast (MDA-231 and BT-474) cancer cell lines were purchased from European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC). Na-8 melanoma cell line was a gift from Dr.Jotereau (Nantes, France). Breast and

colorectal cancer cell lines were cultured in RPMI-1640 CM supplemented with 1% GlutaMAX-I, 1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA), 1% sodium pyruvate, HEPES, 1% Kanamycin Sulfate (Gibco-Life Technologies), thereafter referred to as complete medium (CM) and 10% FBS. Melanoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, HepG2 and HuH-7 cells, were cultured in D-MEM CM 10% FBS. PLC cells were cultured in ALPHA-MEM supplemented with 10% FBS. When specific established tumor cell lines were required for indicated experiments, early passage cells were thawed and maintained in culture forless than 2 months.

3.4 In vitro generation of CD14+ derived macrophages

CD14+ monocytes were isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from healthy donors to a > 95% purity by using anti-CD14 magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotech). Magnetically isolated cells were cultured in RPMI-CM and 10% FBS in presence of 12,5 ng/ml GM-CSF (R&D System) to generate M1 macrophages or MCSF (R&D System) for M2 macrophages. On day 6, cells were collected and stained with anti-CD16, anti-CD163, anti-CD204 and anti-CD40R receptor specific, fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs.

3.5 CD40 triggering on tumor cells

Tumor cell lines were left untreated, infected with rVV40L or with vaccinia virus wild type (VV WT) at 10 multiplicity of infection (MOI). Furthermore, established tumor cell lines were also treated with soluble CD40L (s40L; 0,5 μ g/ml; Enzo Lifescience) recombinant protein alone or following VV WT infection (WT+s40L). After 4 days, tumor cells from different culture conditions were collected and their viability was assessed by Annexin V apoptosis detection kit (Becton Dickson) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, the cells were washed twice with cold PBS and then resuspended in the binding buffer at 1 x 10⁶ cell/ml concentration. 100 μ l of this solution (1 x 10⁵ cells) were stained with 5 μ l of Annexin V antibody plus 5 μ l PI (ready-to-use solutions), then incubated for 15 min

at room temperature in the dark. Finally, the cells were diluted with 400 μ l of the binding buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry.

3.6 Activation of CD14+ monocytes and macrophages differentiation

CD14+ monocytes obtained from peripheral blood of healthy donors were left untreated or infected in 500 μ l RPMI-1640 CM 10% FBS for 1 hour at 37°C with rVV40L or with VV WT at MOI of 5. In addition, CD14+ monocytes were also treated with s40L (0,5 μ g/ml) alone or following VV WT infection (WT+s40L). CD14+ monocytes were then cultured in RPMI-1640 CM 10% FBS in presence of either GM-CSF or M-CSF (see above). At indicated time points, supernatants from different culture conditions were collected and cytokine release was assessed by ELISA.

3.7 Co-culture of M1 and M2 macrophages with established tumor cell lines

LS180 and HuH-7 established tumor cell lines were left untreated or infected with rVV40L or with VV WT at 10 MOI. After 24 hours, 3000 untreated and VV WT or rVV40L-infected tumor cells were cultured alone or in presence of M1 or M2 macrophages at different effector: target ratios in 96 well-plates. On day 4, cytokines and chemokine released in supernatants from different culture conditions were evaluated by ELISA. Cytostatic activity of M1 and M2 macrophages on tumor cells was evaluated by adding 1µCi of ³H-thymidine for the last 18 hours of culture. Cells were then harvested and tracer incorporation was measured by scintillation counting. TNF- α neutralization was achieved by adding to cultures anti-human TNF- α mAb (BioLegend) at 10 µg/ml final concentration.

3.8 Cross-presentation assays

Generation of MelanA/Mart-1₂₇₋₃₅ specific HLA-A0201 restricted CD8+ T cell clones was described previously (Mariotti and Nisini 2009). 3000 cells from CD40 (-) HLA-A0201(-) HT29 cell line were left untreated or infected with VV WT or rVV40L and co-infected with a recombinant vaccinia virus encoding MART-1 full gene, inducing the production of the entire protein in infected cells at MOI of 10. After 24 hours, differentially infected HT29 cells were cultured alone or in presence of HLA-A0201 (+) M1 or M2 macrophages at 1:1 ratio. Two days later, 30.000 cells of a MelanA/Mart-1₂₇₋₃₅ specific, HLA-A0201 restricted, CD8+ T cell clone were added to the different culture conditions. After 48 hours, the release of IFN- γ in the supernatants was assessed by ELISA.

3.9 Migration assay

Migration of CD8+ T cells towards supernatants from co-cultures of M1 macrophages and tumor cells was assessed in 96 well trans-well plates (5µm pore size; Corning Costars) upon 60 min culture at 37°C. When indicated, anti-CXCL10 antibody (10 µg/ml; R&D System) was also added to culture supernatants. Cell migration was quantified by flow-cytometry.

3. 10 In vivo experiments

In vivo experiments were approved by Basel Cantonal Veterinary Office (License Number 2266). NSG mice (NOD.Cg-Prkdcscid Il2rgtm1Wjl/SzJ) from Charles River Laboratories, were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions in the animal facility of Department of Biomedicine, University of Basel. Eight-ten week old mice were injected subcutaneously (s.c.) in the flank with tumor cells (10⁵ cells/mouse), resuspended in 1:1 growth factor reduced Matrigel (BD Biosciences) / PBS solution. Tumor formation was monitored twice weekly by palpation and caliper measurements. Once tumor masses reached an approximate

diameter of 5 mm (1 x 10^6 tumor cells), 20µl of virus solution (10^7 eq. pfu of VV WT or rVV40L) or PBS were injected in the tumor tissues. After 48 hours PBS or 5 x 10^5 M1 or M2 macrophages were also injected intratumorally. Tumor size changes were followed every day by caliper measurements. One week after, all mice were sacrificed and tumors were harvested. Tumor volumes (in mm3) were determined according to the formula (length x width2)/2. Samples from all tissues were harvested for subsequent histological examination.

3.11 Gene expression analysis

Total cellular RNA was extracted by using the RNeasyVR Mini Kit (Qiagen) and reverse transcribed according to the manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen-Life Technologies). Human TRAF-1 and NORE1A (RASSF5) gene expression were evaluated by quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) using specific primer sets (TaqMan® Assays, Applied Biosystems-Life Technologies) and normalized to human glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) housekeeping gene expression. Expression of genes displaying a delta to reference gene >13Ct were considered.

3.12 Flow cytometry

Fluorochrome-labeled monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) recognizing CD163, CD204, CD154 (CD40L), CD3, CD4, CD8, CD45RO, CD62L, CD183 (CXCR3) and HLA-A0201 were obtained from Becton Dickinson. A mAb recognizing CD16 was obtained from BioLegend whereas a mAb recognizing CD40 receptor (Clone 5C3) was obtained from eBioscience. Viability of tumor cells was measured by Annexin V apoptosis detection kit (Becton Dickson). Signals derived from mAbs and fluorochrome-conjugated annexin by exposure of phosphatidylserine and incorporation of propidium iodide (PI) were evaluated by flow cytometry (FACScalibur; Becton Dickinson). Data were analyzed by FlowJo software (Tree Star).

3.14 ELISA

Interleukin-10 (IL-10), interleukin-12 (IL-12p70) and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) release in culture supernatants was measured by using ELISA kits (Becton Dickinson). Tumor Necrosis Factor- α (TNF- α) release was measured by using an ELISA kit from BioLegend, whereas C-X-C motif chemokine 10 (CXCL10, IP-10) release was evaluated by using a kit from R&D System.

3.15 Histological evaluation

Cryo-sections embedded in OCT compound (Leica) were cut $(10\mu m)$ from each tumor and fixed in formalin. Sections were either stained for Hematoxylin and Eosin using a Continuous Linear Stainer COT 20 (Medite) or incubated with rabbit anticleaved caspase 3 (Cell Signalling), followed by secondary species-specific Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated antibody (Invitrogen) and DAPI for nuclei counterstaining. Sections were examined with a Nikon TI fluorescence microscope (Nikon Switzerland) and images captured with 20x magnification using a digital camera and NIS-Elements software.

3.16 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis software SPSS (Version 14.0, SPSS Inc) was used for statistical analyses. Skewness, Kurtosis distribution parameters and respective standard errors were used to test normality of the concerned populations. Mann-Whitney was used for non-parametric tests, with non-Gaussian distribution of the test population. All reported P-values were considered to be statistically significant at $P \le 0.05$.

4. Results

4.1 CD40 receptor expression in clinical tumor specimens

CD40R has been reported to be expressed in nearly all B cell malignancies and approximately 70% of solid tumors (Vonderheide 2007). Triggering of CD40R expressed on surfaces of transformed cells has been associated to pro-survival effects or to inhibition of proliferation and/or apoptosis induction (Banchereau et al 1994; Elgueta et al. 2009). We initially evaluated CD40 expression in a TMA including 836 tumor specimens of 27 different histological origins, focusing on both malignant and tumor-infiltrating immune cells. Representative examples of CD40-specific staining are reported in Figure 5A.

CD40 expression was detectable in >15% of cases in breast and lung cancers subtypes, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and esophageal cancers. Lower percentages of positive cases were observed in ovarian cancers, mesothelioma, gastrointestinal (GI) tract malignancies and head and neck cancers. In contrast, CD40 expression was virtually undetectable in prostate and pancreatic cancers (Figure 5B). Differential analysis in clinical specimens revealed that CD40 expression, in \geq 5% malignant cells, was only observed in limited numbers of cancer types including medullary breast carcinoma (20%) and subtypes of ovarian and lung cancers (5-10%) (Figure 5C). In contrast, in a wide range of malignant tissues, CD40 expression was usually detectable in significantly higher percentages of infiltrating immune cells, except in endometroid ovarian carcinoma.

Taken together, TMA data underline that CD40R might serve as therapeutic target for different cell types present in the tumor microenvironment, and predominantly in tumor-infiltrating immune cells in sizeable percentages of cancers of high epidemiological relevance.



Figure 5. Evaluation of CD40R expression in clinical specimens. (A) Representative examples of CD40R-specific positive and negative staining. (B) Cumulative results of CD40R expression in tumor specimens included in the TMA. (C) CD40R expression on tumor and infiltrating immune cells was differentially analyzed in clinical samples derived from breast, ovarian and lung cancers.

4.2 rVV40L infection induces apoptosis of CD40(+) tumor cell lines

TMA data prompted us to first evaluate the biological responses induced by replication incompetent rVV40L infection in a panel of CD40(+) and CD40(-)

established tumor cell lines. In particular, CD40(+) Na8 melanoma, HCT116 colorectal cancer, MDA-231 breast cancer, PLC and HepG2 (CD40^{DIM}) hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines were tested. We also investigated cell lines of the same histological origin (A375, BT-474, LS180 and HuH-7) with undetectable expression of CD40R at mRNA and protein level (Figure 6A, B).



Figure 6. Characterization of established tumor cell lines. (A) Expression of CD40R (shaded histograms), as compared to isotype control reagents (open histograms) was evaluated on indicated cell lines by flow cytometry analysis. (B) CD40R expression was also evaluated by qRT-PCR and normalized in comparison to GAPDH in all established tumor cell lines. (C) Tumor cells from different cell lines were left untreated or infected with rVV40L or VV WT at MOI 10. Different cell lines were also treated with soluble CD40L recombinant protein (s40L; 0.5 μ g/ml) alone or following VV WT infection (WT+s40L). After 24h of culture, untreated and differentially treated cells were collected and stained with

anti-CD154 (CD40L) fluorochrome-labeled mAbs. Data are reported as mean + SEM (n:5). *p<0.05, **p<0.01; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

Expectably, rVV40L infection of tumor cells, regardless of their histological origin and CD40R status, resulted in significant expression of CD40L on cell surfaces (Figure 6C).

Importantly, rVV40L infection of CD40(+) Na8 melanoma (Figure 7A), MDA-231 breast (Figure 7B) and PLC hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (Figure 7D) resulted in significant increases of percentages of apoptotic cells, as compared to control cultures. In contrast, s40L-stimulation of the same tumor cell lines was totally ineffective (Fig. 7A, B, D). Surprisingly however, ligation of CD40R expressed on cellular surfaces of HCT116 colorectal cancer cells did not impact on their survival (Fig. 7C). As expected, both rVV40L infection and s40L-treatment failed to induce apoptosis in CD40(-) cell lines.



Figure 7. CD40L-expressing recombinant vaccinia virus but not s40L treatment induces cytotoxic effects on CD40(+) tumor cells in 'vitro'. Established tumor cell lines from (A) melanoma (Na8 and A375), (B) breast cancer (MDA-231 and BT-474), (C) colorectal cancer (HCT116 and LS180) and (D) hepatocellular carcinoma (PLC, HepG2 and HuH-7) were left untreated or infected with CD40L-expressing recombinant vaccinia virus (rVV40L) or vaccinia virus wild type (VV WT) at MOI of 10. Tumor cells were also treated with soluble CD40L recombinant protein (s40L; 0.5 μg/ml) alone or following VV WT

infection (VV WT). At day 4, cells were collected and stained with annexin V and propidium iodide (PI). (A, B, C and D) Data are referred to a representative experiment for each established tumor cell line (upper panels) and report collective results (mean +/- SEM) from five different experiments (lower panels). *p<0.05, **p<0.01; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

4.3 Impaired CD40 signaling pathway is associated with tumor cell resistance to rVV40L induced apoptosis

CD40R ligation has been shown to result in receptor clustering, inducing in turn recruitment to its cytoplasmic domain of TNF receptor-associated factors (TRAFs), mediating intracellular signaling (Banchereau et al 1994). However, only TRAF-1 is regulated at transcription level in response to CD40R ligation and initiates signaling cascades leading to cell death (Elmetwali et al. 2010). Furthermore, cytotoxic effects on tumor cells elicited by CD40R ligation have been recently reported to result in upregulation of NORE1A protein mediating proapoptotic JNK pathway and caspase activation inducing apoptosis of target cells (Elmetwali et al. 2016).

Thus, we investigated CD40R signaling in HCT116 cells using TRAF-1 and NORE1A expression as downstream markers.

As expected, in apoptosis-responsive CD40(+) Na8 and MDA-231 cells, a significant upregulation of TRAF-1 gene expression was observed upon rVV40L infection whereas s40L, alone or in combination with VV WT, was ineffective (Figure 8A, B, D). A similar trend (p=0.0671) was also observed in PLC CD40(+) hepatocellular carcinoma cells. In sharp contrast, triggering of CD40R expressed on cellular surfaces of HCT116 did not result in upregulation of TRAF-1 gene expression levels (Figure 8C).

Similarly, gene expression level of NORE1A was clearly increased following rVV40L infection but not s40L or WT+s40L treatment, only in 'sensitive' CD40(+) PLC but not in 'insensitive' CD40(+) HCT116 cells (Figure 8E).

These data underline that rVV40L, but not s40L treatment, might induce apoptosis upon infection. However, our results indicate that CD40 expression is not 'per se'

Results

predictive of sensitivity to rVV40L cytotoxic effects and induction of functional adapter proteins is required for apoptosis induction (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Elmetwali et al. 2016).



Figure 8. Impaired CD40 signaling pathway is associated with a reduced tumor cell cytotoxicity following rVV40L infection. Established melanoma (Na8 and A375) (A), breast cancer (MDA-231 and BT-474) (B), colorectal cancer (HCT116 and LS180) (C) and hepatocellular carcinoma (PLC, HepG2 and HuH-7) (D) cell lines were treated as indicated. After 4 days, TRAF-1 gene expression was evaluated by qRT-PCR. HCT116 (CD40+) colorectal cancer and PLC (CD40+) hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines were treated as described and NORE1A gene expression was assessed by qRT-PCR (E). Data are expressed as fold increase, as compared to untreated tumor cells. (n=5 A, B, C, D and n=3 E). *p<0.05, **p<0.01; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

4.4 Modulation of M1/M2 functional profiles by rVV40L infection

TMA data underline the relevant expression of CD40 in tumor-infiltrating immune cells. A potential role of tumor-associated macrophages in the control of tumor progression has been repeatedly reported. A key feature of macrophages is represented by their high plasticity. Indeed, M1/M2 macrophages may represent extremes of a continuum of differentiation states, characterized by specific functional attributes (Mantovani et al. 2002; Sica and Mantovani 2012). Therefore, we addressed the possibility that targeting CD40 might condition in vitro differentiation of CD14+ monocytes towards M1/M2 functional profiles.

We generated M1 and M2 CD14-derived macrophages by culturing CD14+ monocytes in presence of GM-CSF (M1) or M-CSF (M2) (Nebiker et al. 2014). Phenotypic characterization of M1 and M2 CD14-derived macrophages confirmed a significantly higher expression of CD16 and reduced level of CD163 and CD204 on M1 as compared to M2 macrophages (Nebiker et al. 2014, Ruffell and Coussens 2015) (Figure 9A, B).



Figure 9. Phenotypic profile of in vitro generated GM-CSF (M1) and M-CSF (M2), CD14+ monocyte-derived macrophages. CD14+ monocytes magnetically isolated from

peripheral blood of healthy donors were cultured in presence of GM-CSF (12,5 ng/ml) or M-CSF (12,5 ng/ml). At day 6, cells were harvested and phenotypic profiles and cytokine gene expression patterns were evaluated by flow cytometry analysis and qRT-PCR, respectively. (A+B) Expression of CD16 (% and MFI), CD163 (MFI) and CD204 (MFI) surfaces antigens on GM-CSF (M1) and M-CSF (M2) CD14-derived macrophages. (C) In addition, expression level of IL-6 and IL-10 genes was also evaluated on GM-CSF (M1) and M-CSF (M2) conditioned macrophages Data are referred to representative (A) experiments and display cumulative results from eight independent experiments (B+C). *p<0.05, **p<0.01; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

Accordingly, analysis of cytokine gene pattern profiles revealed a significant IL-6 gene expression in M1 macrophages whereas IL-10 gene expression was higher in M2 macrophages (Figure 9C). Notably, we also observed a significantly higher expression of CD40R in M1, as compared to M2, CD14-derived macrophages (Figure 10A).

At difference with sCD40L treatment alone or in combination with WT infection, rVV40L infection promoted a significant IL-12 production by CD14+ monocytes cultured in presence of GM-CSF. Moreover, unexpectedly, rVV40L infection also induced detectable IL-12p70 release by M2 macrophages. On the other hand, IL-10 production was induced in M2 by sCD40L treatment alone or in combination with WT infection, but not by rVV40L (Figure 10B).



Figure 10. rVV40L modulates functional profile of M1/M2 CD14-derived macrophages. (A) Expression of CD40, on surfaces of CD14+ cell-derived M1 or M2 macrophages, was evaluated by flow cytometry. (B) M1/M2 cells were infected with VV WT or rVV40L (MOI 5) or cultured in presence s40L alone or following VV WT infection (WT+s40L). On day 2, 4 and 6 of culture supernatants were collected and IL-12p70 and IL-10 release was evaluated by ELISA. (C) M1 and M2 macrophages were co-cultured (1:1

ratio) with LS180 CRC cells infected with VV WT or rVV40L (MOI 10). After 4 days, supernatants were collected and TNF- α , IL-12p70, IL-6 and IL-10 release was evaluated by ELISA. (D) M1 (GM-CSF) and M2 (M-CSF) macrophages were co-cultured with LS180 CRC cells, treated as described above, at the indicated ratios. On day 4, proliferation of LS180 CRC cells was evaluated by ³H-thymidine incorporation and expressed as percentage of proliferation as compared to untreated tumor cells. (E) Proliferative capacity of LS180 CRC cells, treated as described in C+D, co-cultured with M1 and M2 macrophages, as evaluated by ³H-thymidine incorporation in presence of anti-TNF- α at 10 µg/ml concentration. Data are referred to cumulative results from eight (A) or four (B, C, D, E) independent experiments. *p<0.05, **p<0.01; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

These data prompted us to further evaluate the relevance of CD40R ligation in the modulation of effector functions of fully in vitro differentiated M1 or M2 macrophages. We analyzed cytokine production pattern of polarized macrophages upon co-culture with untreated, VV WT or rVV40L-infected CD40(-) HuH-7 HCC and LS180 CRC cells. In these conditions, TNF- α production was only detectable following CD40R ligation in M1 differentiated macrophages. CD40R ligation also induced IL-12p70 and IL-6 production in M1 cells. Interestingly, IL-12p70 and IL-6 release by M2 cells, albeit to lower extents, was detected following CD40R ligation. Induction of IL-10 production was observed in M2 macrophages only upon co-culture with rVV40L-infected HuH-7 (Figure 11A), but not LS180 cells (Figure 10C). These data indicate that CD40R is functional in both M1 and M2 macrophages and suggest that its ligation might partially steer M2 cells towards M1-like functional profile.



Figure 11. rVV40L-infected HuH7 HCC promote the activation of M1/M2 macrophages. (A) M1 and M2 CD14+ monocyte-derived macrophages were co-cultured at 1:1 ratio with Huh7 hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells left untreated or infected with VV WT or rVV40L at MOI of 10. After 4 days, supernatants from different culture conditions were collected and TNF- α , IL-12p70, IL-6 and IL-10 release was evaluated by ELISA (B) M1 (GM-CSF) and M2 (M-CSF) CD14+ monocyte-derived macrophages were co-cultured with LS180 CRC cells, treated as described above, at indicated ratios in flat bottom 96 well plates in quadruplicates. On day 4, Huh7 HCC cell proliferation was evaluated by ³H-thymidine incorporation and expressed as percentage of proliferation, as compared to tumor cells cultured alone. (C) Proliferative capacity of Huh7 cells, treated as described in C+D, and co-cultured with M1 and M2 macrophages was also evaluated by ³H-thymidine incorporation in the presence of anti-TNF- α antibodies at 10 µg/ml concentration. Data refer to cumulative results from four independent experiments. *p<0.05, **p<0.01; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

Consistently with their TNF-α production, M1, but not M2, macrophages displayed significant cytostatic activity on rVV40L-infected LS180 CRC (Figure 10D) and

HuH-7 HCC established tumor cell lines (Figure 11B). Although macrophages could generate a variety of cytotoxic/cytostatic mediators, the pivotal role of TNF- α was confirmed by its neutralization resulting in significant inhibition of antiproliferative effects of CD40R-stimulated M1 cells on rVV40L-infected tumor cells (Figure 10E and Figure 11C).

4.5 CD40 receptor-stimulated M1 and M2 macrophages promote the recruitment of CD8+ T cells

In a variety of solid tumors, high infiltration by CD8+ T cells is associated with favorable prognosis. Thus, their recruitment may represent a critical step in the elicitation of antitumor immune responses (Fridman et al. 2011; Fridman et al. 2012; Fridman et al. 2013; Fridman et al. 2017).

CXCR3 chemokine receptor is expressed in CD8+ lymphocytes, and, preferentially in "central memory" T cells, characterized by strong antitumor potential (Klebanoff et al. 2006; Trella et al. 2016) (Figure 12A). CXCR3 ligands include CXCL9, CXCL10 and CXCL11. A main role in CD8+ T cells recruitment has been attributed to CXCL10 (Yue et al. 2015).



Figure 12. CXCR3 expression on immune cells and M1/M2 cross-presentation of cellular antigens. (A) CXCR3 expression on naïve and memory CD8+ T lymphocytes subsets, as according to CD45RO and CD62L surface marker expression. (B) Phenotypes characterization of the HLA-A0201 restricted, MelanA/MART-1₂₇₋₃₅-specific CD8+ T cell clone (left) and HLA-A0201- CD40(-) HT29 CRC cell lines were used (right) used in cross-presentation assay. (C) IFN- γ release in the supernatant from the indicated control conditions of the cross-presentation assay.

We tested CXCL10 release in supernatants of co-cultures of M1 or M2 macrophages and LS180 CRC and HuH-7 HCC cell lines. As depicted in Figure 13A, rVV40L but not VV WT infection of tumor cells, resulted in significant increases of CXCL10 production by both M1 and M2 macrophages.

Migration assays were performed to formally prove the ability of CD40R-stimulated M1 and M2 macrophages to promote CXCL10-mediated CD8+ T cell recruitment. Supernatants from macrophages, CD40L-stimulated as described above, induced the migration of CD8+ T cells to significantly higher extents, as compared to control supernatants. Importantly, antibody-mediated CXCL10 depletion from these supernatants, abrogates CD8+ T cells migration (Figure 13B), confirming its crucial significance in lymphocyte recruitment.



Figure 13. rVV40L induces CXCL10-mediated recruitment of CD8+ T cells and promotes cross-presentation of tumor-associated antigens by M1 macrophages. (A) M1 or M2 macrophages were co-cultured at 1:1 ratio with LS180 CRC (upper panel) or HuH-7 HCC (lower panel) cell lines untreated or infected with VV WT or rVV40L at MOI 10. After 4 days, supernatants were collected and CXCL10 release was evaluated by ELISA. (B) CD8+ T cell migration, induced by supernatants from co-cultures of M1/M2 macrophages with differentially infected tumor cells, as evaluated by flow cytometry. (C) Cross-presentation of MelanA/Mart-1₂₇₋₃₅ epitope from HLAA0201(-) CD40(-) HT29 CRC cell lines co-infected with VV WT or

rVV40L and with a rVV encoding MelanA/MART-1 full gene (rVVMART1 FG). After 24h, HT29 were co-cultured, at 1:1 ratio, with HLA-A0201+ M1 or M2 macrophages. After 48 additional hours, 20.000 HLA-A0201 restricted CD8+ T cells were added to the cultures and concentration of IFN- γ release was evaluated by ELISA two days later. *p<0.05; Mann-Whitney nonparametric test.

<u>4.6 rVV40L promotes M1-mediated cross-presentation of tumor-</u> associated antigens (TAAs) to CD8+ T cells

Macrophages have been shown to be able to cross-present antigens derived from apoptotic cells to specific T cells (Heath and Carbone 2001). Cross-presentation-based vaccination strategies have shown promising results for cancer treatment (Zwaveling et al. 2002; Melief 2008). Therefore, we evaluated the capacity of rVV40L-stimulated macrophages to promote the activation of tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells through cross-presentation of cellular antigens.

HLA-A0201(-) CD40(-) HT29 CRC cells (Figure 12B) were co-infected with rVV40L and a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing MelanA/MART-1 full gene (rVVMART-1 FG). HT29 CRC cells were then co-cultured with HLA-0201(+) M1 or M2 macrophages and, after 4 days, the ability of macrophages to cross-present MART-1₂₇₋₃₅ HLA-A0201 restricted epitope was evaluated by measuring IFN- γ release by a specific CD8+ T cell clone (Figure 12B). The clone efficiently responded to presentation of the target peptide by M1, but not M2 antigen presenting cells, or to antibody-mediated CD3 triggering (Figure 12C left panel). Most importantly, our data clearly indicate that priming of HLA-A0201(+) M1 macrophages by rVV40L-infected HLA-A0201- tumor cells resulted in significantly enhanced activation of MART-1₂₇₋₃₅-reactive CD8+ T cells, as compared to control culture conditions (Figure 13C). On the other hand, as expectable, HLA-A0201(-) tumor cells infected by the reagents under investigation, were unable "per se" to induce IFN- γ production in macrophages alone or in CTL alone (Figure 13C right panel).

4.7 rVV40L promotes in vivo tumor regression through macrophage activation

To address antitumor efficacy of rVV40L in vivo, NSG immunodeficient mice were subcutaneously inoculated with LS180 CRC and HuH-7 HCC cells. Upon development, tumors were first injected with replication incompetent VV WT or rVV40L followed, after 48 hours, by human M1 or M2 macrophages.

Control and VV WT-infected tumors rapidly and similarly progressed in the presence or absence of M1 or M2 cells (Figure 14A-F). In sharp contrast, consistently with in vitro observations, rVV40L infection of HuH-7 HCC and LS180 CRC resulted in a complete inhibition of tumor progression upon intratumor injection of M1 cells (Figure 14B and E). Similar effects were also observed upon injection of the positive control LPS-stimulated M1 cells (data not shown). Injection of M2 also resulted in a modest nonsignificant inhibition of LS180 CRC tumor progression (Figure 14F).

Remarkably, histological analysis of excised tumors clearly revealed that rVV40Lmediated activation of M1 macrophages resulted in a significant disruption of tumor tissues, comparably to LPS-stimulated M1 macrophages (Figure 14G-H).

Consistently, immunofluorescence studies provided evidence of significant caspase 3 cleavages in these tumors (Figure 14G-H).



Figure 14. rVV40L promotes antitumor activity of M1 macrophages in vivo. 10⁵ LS180 CRC or HuH-7 HCC cells were inoculated subcutaneously (s.c.) into the flanks of NSG mice. Established tumors were then injected with PBS or 10⁷ pfu of replication incompetent VV WT or rVV40L. 48 hours later, 5*10⁵ M1 or M2 macrophages were injected in the tumor masses. Tumor volume of LS180 (A-C) and Huh7 (B-F) is expressed as fold increases, as compared to tumor volumes measured at the time of macrophage inoculation. Data refer to two independent experiments with 3 mice in each condition. On day 8, mice were sacrificed

and histology (H&E) and cleaved Caspase 3 expression (green) were evaluated in LS180 (G) and HuH-7 (H) tumors. Data are referred to representative stainings out of two tumors per condition displaying similar results (Magnification 20x; scale bar 100µm).

Results

Discussion

5. Discussion

Due to a peculiar expression pattern and multifunctional potential, CD40 represents an important target for the development of innovative cancer immunotherapy protocols (Vonderheide 2007; Loskog et al. 2016).

Administration of agonistic anti-CD40R mAbs and CD154 (CD40L)-expressing recombinant adenovirus has been shown to result in tumor regression in experimental models (Ullenhag and Loskog 2012; Vonderheide et al. 2013). These effects have initially been largely attributed to CD40-mediated-APC licensing and activation of T cell-mediated antitumor immune responses (Ridge et al. 1998).

However, data from clinical studies in human pancreatic cancers, typically lacking T cell infiltration, suggest that elicitation of antitumor effects of therapeutic anti-CD40R agonistic mAbs might rather rely on macrophage activation (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty et al. 2013; Vonderheide et al. 2013).

Notably however, effectiveness of CD40R-targeting strategies developed so far appears to be limited. In particular, CD40 expression by tumor-infiltrating immune cells does not effectively predict responsiveness to agonistic anti-CD40R mAbs (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty et al. 2013).

Furthermore, epitope specificity and isotype might critically affect the activity of therapeutic reagents (Vonderheide and Glennie 2013; Richman and Vonderheide 2014).

Regarding CD40L recombinant adenovirus, while safety has been reported, convincing evidence of clinical efficacy is still missing (Malmström et al. 2010; Hangalapura et al. 2012; Loskog et al. 2016). Potential limitations of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer approach might be associated to the requirement of specific cell entry pathways and of the administration of high viral titers (Malmström et al. 2010; Hangalapura et al. 2012; Loskog et al. 2016).

In order to develop a multipotent anticancer biological, we generated a replication incompetent CD40L-expressing recombinant vaccinia virus (rVV40L) targeting multiple functional aspects of tumor-immune system interaction and tested its antitumor effects in vitro and in vivo. In particular, we addressed the ability of rVV40L to promote direct CD40(+) tumor cell apoptosis, to modulate functional profiles of differentially polarized macrophages, to recruit immune cell populations of proven anticancer relevance, and to inhibit tumor progression in vivo.

Evaluation of CD40 expression in a large cohort of clinical specimens (n: 836) derived from different tumor types (n: 27) indicates that, with some exceptions, CD40 is expressed on cellular surface of transformed cells in limited percentages of tumors included in a TMA. Instead, CD40 expression was often detectable in infiltrating immune cells in a majority of malignant tissues analyzed. This observation, further underlines that the effectiveness of CD40-based therapeutic strategies should focus on immune infiltrating cells in addition to direct cytostatic/cytotoxic effects on CD40(+) malignant cells.

rVV40L infection but not soluble CD40L recombinant protein treatment (s40L), resulted in cytotoxic effects on CD40(+) melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma and breast cancer tumor cell lines. In line with previous reports (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Elmetwali et al. 2016), our data underline the different biological properties of membrane-bound CD40L as compared to its soluble counterparts. Additional limitations of therapeutic strategies targeting CD40R on cancer cell surfaces should also be considered (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Ullenhag and Loskog 2012; Vonderheide and Glennie 2013; Elmetwali et al. 2016). Indeed, CD40 expression cannot be considered a sufficient signature predicting the effectiveness of "direct" strategies, since lack of cytotoxic effects, following receptor ligation on malignant cells, may correlate with impaired intracellular signaling. Thus, TRAFs adapter molecules alterations and defective activation of effector proteins may result in defective triggering of apoptosis induced by CD40 binding (Elmetwali et al. 2010; Elmetwali et al. 2016).

Tumor microenvironment (TME) includes, in addition to malignant cells, a variety of different non-transformed cell types exerting a major impact on clinical course (Fridman et al. 2011; Fridman et al. 2012; Fridman et al. 2013).

Initial evidence suggested antitumor activity of macrophages based on their capacity to mediate elimination of transformed cells and to promote in situ adaptive tumor-reactive immune responses (Fidler and Poste 1982). This interpretation has subsequently been largely challenged since different pro-tumorigenic functions, such as supporting tumor-associated angiogenesis, proliferation of malignant cells and suppression of antitumor T cell responses have been convincingly demonstrated in experimental models (Bingle et al. 2002; Pollard 2004; Biswas et al. 2006; Mantovani and Sica 2010; Qian and Pollard 2010; Biswas et al. 2013; Noy and Pollard 2014).

Furthermore, clinical evidence underlines that in a majority of human tumors, high macrophage infiltration is frequently associated with severe prognosis (Bingle et al. 2002; Pollard 2004; Biswas et al. 2006; Mantovani and Sica 2010; Qian and Pollard 2010; Biswas et al. 2013; Noy and Pollard 2014).

Thus, macrophage infiltrate emerges as a critical target of antitumor therapeutic strategies and the clinical potential of mAbs neutralizing CCL2 (Sandhu et al. 2013) and M-CSF (Cassier et al. 2015) receptor is currently being evaluated in specific clinical trials. These strategies point to the prevention of recruitment and differentiation of macrophages (Qian and Pollard 2010; Sandhu et al. 2013; Cassier et al. 2015). Alternative approaches focus on re-conditioning of tumor-infiltrating macrophages through the modulation of their functional activity (Beatty et al. 2011; Beatty et al. 2013; Vonderheide et al. 2013) by exogenous signals enhancing their antitumor activity (Beatty 2013; Ruffell and Coussens 2015; Mills et al. 2016).

Therefore, we evaluated the ability of rVV40L to steer, upon infection of tumor cells, functional profiles of M1 and M2 polarized macrophages into antitumor properties.

In vitro, co-culture with rVV40L-infected tumor cells resulted in a significant production of TNF- α by M1 but not M2 macrophages. More importantly, TNF- α production appears to represent a critical mediator of cytostatic/cytotoxic activity exerted by CD40-activated M1 macrophages on malignant cells.

Macrophages have been also shown to be able to orchestrate anticancer adaptive immune responses "in situ" (Mills et al. 2016). Several studies have underlined their capacity to mediate, through chemokines production, selective recruitment of defined immune cell subsets, such as CD8+ T cells, with a critical antitumor activity (Fridman et al. 2011; Fridman et al. 2012; Fridman et al. 2013) in malignant tissues (Qian and Pollard 2010; Panni et al. 2013). CXCL10 is a main mediator of CD8+ T lymphocyte recruitment (Yue et al. 2015) and, in our study, rVV40L driven CD40R-stimulation resulted in a significant release of CXCL10 by both M1 and M2 polarized macrophages leading to effective migration of CD8+ T cells.

The elicitation of CD8+ T cell immune responses is conditioned by cytokines produced by APC (Ridge et al. 1998; Mescher et al. 2006; Trella et al. 2016). Production of IL-12 or IL-10 has been associated to the ability of tumor-associated macrophages to promote or, respectively, inhibit adaptive anticancer T cell-mediated immune response (Mantovani and Sica 2010; Mills et al. 2016). Ligation of CD40R expressed on cellular surface of M1 macrophages significantly modulated their cytokine pattern profile. Interestingly, similar functional effects were also elicited in M2 macrophages, despite a significantly lower CD40 expression.

In particular, triggering of CD40R resulted in robust production of IL-12 by M1 macrophages and, more surprisingly, although to a lower extent, also by M2 macrophages. Notably, CD40R-stimulated M2 macrophages did not show increased production of immunosuppressive IL-10 (Panni et al. 2013; Mills et al. 2016). Most importantly, our data underline that infection of tumor cells by rVV40L enhances M1-mediated cross-presentation of tumor-associated antigens to CD8+ T cells.
In vivo studies nicely reinforce our in vitro results. Indeed, we observed a significant inhibition in the progression of CD40(-) tumors upon rVV40L infection. In particular, exogenous administration of human M1 macrophages, induced massive destruction of tumor tissue mediated by cleaved-caspase 3 activation. Intriguingly, detectable, albeit not significant, effects were elicited by M2 macrophages.

Considering the absence of overt toxic effects of macrophage administration in animals bearing rVV40L-infected tumors, and the replication incompetent nature of our reagent, these data may also suggest innovative adoptive cancer immunotherapy protocols, based on re-infusion of differentiated, patient-derived macrophages.

Taken together, our data underline the major antitumor potential of a CD40Lexpressing recombinant vaccinia virus. Indeed, rVV40L infection might lead to direct inhibitory effects on CD40(+) malignant cells. In addition, inhibition of tumor progression could also result from the marked ability of rVV40L to promote M1 activation and possibly from a partial re-education of M2 macrophages. Most importantly, CD40-activated macrophages are able to induce direct TNF- α -mediated antitumor cytotoxic activity, lymphocyte recruitment and cross-presentation of cellular antigens to CD8+ T cells.

Discussion

6. Conclusion and outlook

Collectively, the data presented in this study pave the way for additional research. 1) First, we have demonstrated that CD40R stimulation of monocytes, cultured in presence of GM-CSF, efficiently promotes their activation. Most importantly, ligation of CD40R on monocyte cultured in the presence of M-CSF, e.g. M2 induces functional features which resemble the M1-like, as indicated by a detailed analysis of their cytokine expression pattern. This latter observation is particularly important and of potential clinical relevance. In particular, it is tempting to speculate that through the use of this CD40L-expressing vaccinia virus, monocytes recruited within the tumor mass during cancer progression, might partially overcome their polarization to an M2-like phenotype and educate to exert M1-like functions, even in an immunosuppressive environment.

2) Second, our data clearly indicate that stimulation of CD40(+) tumor might result in the elimination of cancerous cells. Nevertheless, CD40 expression on transformed cells appears to be limited to a minor fraction of tumor cells and, most importantly, CD40 expression per se is not predictive of apoptosis induction following rVV40L infection or CD40R stimulation. However, in this scenario, expression of CD40L on surfaces of infected tumor cells might result in the elicitation of cytotoxic activity by tumor-infiltrating M1 macrophages resulting in disruption of malignant tissues. Of note, partial effects of M2 (M-CSF) macrophages on tumor growth are also detectable. Therefore, the use of such type of viral vector in the context of clinical trials could potentially have a major antitumor impact.

3) Most importantly, the data here presented extended beyond the direct effect of rVV40L/macrophages on tumor cells. Tissue disruption observed after CD40R stimulation of M1 (GM-CSF) macrophages and their ability to cross-present antigen to CD8+ T cells suggest another intriguing possibility to be verified in the context of clinical studies. In particular, tumor-associated antigens released during cancer cells

lysis could be potentially presented to CD8+ T cells, actively recalled in the tumor microenvironment by CD40R-stimulated macrophages, therefore promoting a specific CD8+ T cells-mediated antitumor response.

A potential limitation preventing the use of vaccinia virus as viral vector for gene delivery is represented by its high immunogenicity. On one hand, administered recombinant vaccinia virus might be rapidly eliminated particularly vaccinated cancer patients. On the other hand, this potential caveat restraining the use of rVV40L as a potential tool for cancer immunotherapy might also support its clinical validation. Indeed, intratumoral injection of the virus, which displays preferential tropism for cancer cells, could induce the activation of CD8+ T cells toward tumor-associated antigens, but also the re-activation of memory CD8+ T cells specific for viral antigens expressed on cellular surfaces of rVV40L-infected tumor cells.

Last but not least, our study demonstrates that rVV40L presents many promising features that make this type of approach highly promising specially in the context of tumor highly infiltrated with macrophages. In conclusion, such type of research might also contribute to a better understanding of the pivotal role played by macrophages in the tumor microenvironment and in the orchestration of innate and adaptive immune responses.

<u>References</u>

- Adamina M, Rosenthal R, Weber WP, Frey DM, Viehl CT, Bolli M, Huegli RW, Jacob AL, Heberer M, Oertli D, Marti W, Spagnoli GC, Zajac P. Intranodal immunization with a vaccinia virus encoding multiple antigenic epitopes and costimulatory molecules in metastatic melanoma. Mol Ther. 2010;18(3):651-9.
- Ahmadzadeh M, Johnson LA, Heemskerk B, Wunderlich JR, Dudley ME, White DE, Rosenberg SA. Tumor antigen-specific CD8 T cells infiltrating the tumor express high levels of PD-1 and are functionally impaired. Blood. 2009;114(8):1537-44.
- Alderson MR, Armitage RJ, Tough TW, Strockbine L, Fanslow WC, Spriggs MK. CD40 expression by human monocytes: regulation by cytokines and activation of monocytes by the ligand for CD40. J Exp Med. 1993;178(2):669-74.
- Athie-Morales V, Smits HH, Cantrell DA, Hilkens CM. Sustained IL-12 signaling is required for Th1 development. J Immunol. 2004;172(1):61-9.
- Banchereau J, Bazan F, Blanchard D, Brière F, Galizzi JP, van Kooten C, Liu YJ, Rousset F, Saeland S. The CD40 antigen and its ligand. Annu Rev Immunol. 1994;12:881-922.
- Beatty GL, Chiorean EG, Fishman MP, Saboury B, Teitelbaum UR, Sun W, Huhn RD, Song W, Li D, Sharp LL, Torigian DA, O'Dwyer PJ, Vonderheide RH. CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. Science. 2011;331(6024):1612-6.
- Beatty GL, Li Y, Long KB. Cancer immunotherapy: activating innate and adaptive immunity through CD40 agonists. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2017;17(2):175-186.
- Beatty GL, Torigian DA, Chiorean EG, Saboury B, Brothers A, Alavi A, Troxel AB, Sun W, Teitelbaum UR, Vonderheide RH, O'Dwyer PJ. A phase I study of an agonist CD40 monoclonal antibody (CP-870,893) in combination with gemcitabine in patients with advanced pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(22):6286-95.
- Beatty GL. Macrophage-based immunotherapy for the treatment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(12):e26837.
- Behrens G, Li M, Smith CM, Belz GT, Mintern J, Carbone FR, Heath WR. Helper T cells, dendritic cells and CTL Immunity. Immunol Cell Biol. 2004;82(1):84-90.
- Bennett SR, Carbone FR, Karamalis F, Flavell RA, Miller JF, Heath WR. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. Nature. 1998;393(6684):478-80.
- Biagi E, Rousseau R, Yvon E, Schwartz M, Dotti G, Foster A, Havlik-Cooper D, Grilley B, Gee A, Baker K, Carrum G, Rice L, Andreeff M, Popat U, Brenner M. Responses to human CD40 ligand/human interleukin-2 autologous cell vaccine in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(19 Pt 1):6916-23.
- Bingle L, Brown NJ, Lewis CE. The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. J Pathol. 2002;196(3):254-65.
- Bishop GA, Moore CR, Xie P, Stunz LL, Kraus ZJ. TRAF proteins in CD40 signaling. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2007;597:131-51.
- Biswas SK, Allavena P, Mantovani A. Tumor-associated macrophages: functional diversity, clinical significance, and open questions. Semin Immunopathol. 2013;35(5):585-600.
- Biswas SK, Gangi L, Paul S, Schioppa T, Saccani A, Sironi M, Bottazzi B, Doni A, Vincenzo B, Pasqualini F, Vago L, Nebuloni M, Mantovani A, Sica A. A distinct and unique transcriptional program expressed by tumor-associated macrophages (defective NF-kappaB and enhanced IRF-3/STAT1 activation). Blood. 2006;107(5):2112-22.
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(10):889-96.

- Biswas SK, Sica A, Lewis CE. Plasticity of macrophage function during tumor progression: regulation by distinct molecular mechanisms. J Immunol. 2008;180(4):2011-7.
- Bubeník J. MHC class I down-regulation: tumour escape from immune surveillance? (review). Int J Oncol. 2004;25(2):487-91.
- Buhtoiarov IN, Lum H, Berke G, Paulnock DM, Sondel PM, Rakhmilevich AL. CD40 ligation activates murine macrophages via an IFN-gamma-dependent mechanism resulting in tumor cell destruction in vitro. J Immunol. 2005;174(10):6013-22.
- Carpenter EL, Mick R, Rüter J, Vonderheide RH. Activation of human B cells by the agonist CD40 antibody CP-870,893 and augmentation with simultaneous toll-like receptor 9 stimulation. J Transl Med. 2009;7:93.
- Cassell D, Forman J. Linked recognition of helper and cytotoxic antigenic determinants for the generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1988;532:51-60.
- Cassier PA, Italiano A, Gomez-Roca CA, Le Tourneau C, Toulmonde M, Cannarile MA, Ries C, Brillouet A, Müller C, Jegg AM, Bröske AM, Dembowski M, Bray-French K, Freilinger C, Meneses-Lorente G, Baehner M, Harding R, Ratnayake J, Abiraj K, Gass N, Noh K, Christen RD, Ukarma L, Bompas E, Delord JP, Blay JY, Rüttinger D. CSF1R inhibition with emactuzumab in locally advanced diffuse-type tenosynovial giant cell tumours of the soft tissue: a dose-escalation and dose-expansion phase 1 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16(8):949-56.
- Chan G, Bivins-Smith ER, Smith MS, Smith PM, Yurochko AD. Transcriptome analysis reveals human cytomegalovirus reprograms monocyte differentiation toward an M1 macrophage. J Immunol. 2008;181(1):698-711.
- Cremonesi E, Governa V, Garzon JFG, Mele V, Amicarella F, Muraro MG, Trella E, Galati-Fournier V, Oertli D, Däster S, Weixler B, Bolli M, Rosso R, Nitsche U, Khanna N, Egli A, Keck S, Slotta-Huspenina J, Terracciano LM, Zajac P, Spagnoli GC, Eppenberger-Castori S, Janssen KP, Borsig L, Iezzi G. Gut microbiota modulate T cell trafficking into human colorectal cancer. Gut. 2017;in Press.
- Curtsinger JM, Lins DC, Mescher MF. Signal 3 determines tolerance versus full activation of naive CD8 T cells: dissociating proliferation and development of effector function. J Exp Med. 2003;197(9):1141-51.
- Dannenmann SR, Thielicke J, Stöckli M, Matter C, von Boehmer L, Cecconi V, Hermanns T, Hefermehl L, Schraml P, Moch H, Knuth A, van den Broek M. Tumor-associated macrophages subvert T-cell function and correlate with reduced survival in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Oncoimmunology. 2013;2(3):e23562.
- de Charette M, Marabelle A, Houot R. Turning tumour cells into antigen presenting cells: The next step to improve cancer immunotherapy?. Eur J Cancer. 2016;68:134-147.
- Déchanet J, Grosset C, Taupin JL, Merville P, Banchereau J, Ripoche J, Moreau JF. CD40 ligand stimulates proinflammatory cytokine production by human endothelial cells. J Immunol. 1997;159(11):5640-7.
- Di Rosa F, Matzinger P. Long-lasting CD8 T cell memory in the absence of CD4 T cells or B cells. J Exp Med. 1996;183(5):2153-63.
- Diehl L, den Boer AT, Schoenberger SP, van der Voort EI, Schumacher TN, Melief CJ, Offringa R, Toes RE. CD40 activation in vivo overcomes peptide-induced peripheral cytotoxic Tlymphocyte tolerance and augments anti-tumor vaccine efficacy. Nat Med. 1999;5(7):774-9.
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, Roche PC, Lu J, Zhu G, Tamada K, Lennon VA, Celis E, Chen L. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8(8):793-800.

- Dong P, Ma L, Liu L, Zhao G, Zhang S, Dong L, Xue R, Chen S. CD86⁺/CD206⁺, Diametrically Polarized Tumor-Associated Macrophages, Predict Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patient Prognosis. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(3):320.
- Elgueta R, Benson MJ, de Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. Immunol Rev. 2009;229(1):152-72.
- Elmetwali T, Salman A, Palmer DH. NORE1A induction by membrane-bound CD40L (mCD40L) contributes to CD40L-induced cell death and G1 growth arrest in p21-mediated mechanism. Cell Death Dis. 2016;7:e2146.
- Elmetwali T, Young LS, Palmer DH. CD40 ligand-induced carcinoma cell death: a balance between activation of TNFR-associated factor (TRAF) 3-dependent death signals and suppression of TRAF6-dependent survival signals. J Immunol. 2010;184(2):1111-20.
- Evans JT, Shows TB, Sproul EE, Paolini NS, Mittelman A, Hauschka TS. Genetics of colon carcinogenesis in mice treated with 1,2-dimethylhydrazine. Cancer Res. 1977;37(1):134-6.
- Facciabene A, Motz GT, Coukos G. T-regulatory cells: key players in tumor immune escape and angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 2012 May 1;72(9):2162-71.
- Feder-Mengus C, Schultz-Thater E, Oertli D, Marti WR, Heberer M, Spagnoli GC, Zajac P. Nonreplicating recombinant vaccinia virus expressing CD40 ligand enhances APC capacity to stimulate specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses. Hum Gene Ther. 2005;16(3):348-60.
- Fidler IJ, Poste G. Macrophage-mediated destruction of malignant tumor cells and new strategies for the therapy of metastatic disease. Springer Semin Immunopathol. 1982;5(2):161-74.
- Fransen MF, Sluijter M, Morreau H, Arens R, Melief CJ. Local activation of CD8 T cells and systemic tumor eradication without toxicity via slow release and local delivery of agonistic CD40 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(8):2270-80.
- French RR, Chan HT, Tutt AL, Glennie MJ. CD40 antibody evokes a cytotoxic T-cell response that eradicates lymphoma and bypasses T-cell help. Nat Med. 1999;5(5):548-53.
- Fridman WH, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Pagès F, Cremer I, Damotte D, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune microenvironment of human tumors: general significance and clinical impact. Cancer Microenviron. 2013;6(2):117-22.
- Fridman WH, Galon J, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Cremer I, Fisson S, Damotte D, Pagès F, Tartour E, Sautès-Fridman C. Immune infiltration in human cancer: prognostic significance and disease control. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2011;344:1-24.
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):298-306.
- Fridman WH, Zitvogel L, Sautès-Fridman C, Kroemer G. The immune contexture in cancer prognosis and treatment. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(3):162-74.
- Gajewski TF, Louahed J, Brichard VG. Gene signature in melanoma associated with clinical activity: a potential clue to unlock cancer immunotherapy. Cancer J. 2010;16(4):399-403.
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, Tosolini M, Camus M, Berger A, Wind P, Zinzindohoué F, Bruneval P, Cugnenc PH, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Pagès F. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313(5795):1960-4.
- Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Science. 2010;327(5966):656-61.

- Georgopoulos NT, Steele LP, Thomson MJ, Selby PJ, Southgate J, Trejdosiewicz LK. A novel mechanism of CD40-induced apoptosis of carcinoma cells involving TRAF3 and JNK/AP-1 activation. Cell Death Differ. 2006;13(10):1789-801.
- Ghirelli C, Hagemann T. Targeting immunosuppression for cancer therapy. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(6):2355-7.
- Ginhoux F, Schultze JL, Murray P, Ochando J, Biswas SK. New insights into the multidimensional concept of macrophage ontogeny, activation and function. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(1):34-40.
- Gleissner CA, Shaked I, Little KM, Ley K. CXC chemokine ligand 4 induces a unique transcriptome in monocyte-derived macrophages. J Immunol. 2010;184(9):4810-8.
- Gordon S, Taylor PR. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(12):953-64.
- Grabstein KH, Urdal DL, Tushinski RJ, Mochizuki DY, Price VL, Cantrell MA, Gillis S, Conlon PJ. Induction of macrophage tumoricidal activity by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Science. 1986;232(4749):506-8.
- Grewal IS, Flavell RA. CD40 and CD154 in cell-mediated immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 1998;16:111-35.
- Groeper C, Gambazzi F, Zajac P, Bubendorf L, Adamina M, Rosenthal R, Zerkowski HR, Heberer M, Spagnoli GC. Cancer/testis antigen expression and specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in non small cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer. 2007;120(2):337-43.
- Guerder S, Matzinger P. A fail-safe mechanism for maintaining self-tolerance. J Exp Med. 1992;176(2):553-64.
- Guiducci C, Vicari AP, Sangaletti S, Trinchieri G, Colombo MP. Redirecting in vivo elicited tumor infiltrating macrophages and dendritic cells towards tumor rejection. Cancer Res. 2005;65(8):3437-46.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646-74.
- Hangalapura BN, Timares L, Oosterhoff D, Scheper RJ, Curiel DT, de Gruijl TD. CD40-targeted adenoviral cancer vaccines: the long and winding road to the clinic. J Gene Med. 2012;14(6):416-27.
- Heath WR, Carbone FR. Cross-presentation, dendritic cells, tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2001;19:47-64.
- Hirohata S. Human Th1 responses driven by IL-12 are associated with enhanced expression of CD40 ligand. Clin Exp Immunol. 1999; 115(1): 78-85.
- Hsieh CS, Macatonia SE, Tripp CS, Wolf SF, O'Garra A, Murphy KM. Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by Listeria-induced macrophages. Science. 1993;260(5107):547-9.
- Huang J, Jochems C, Talaie T, Anderson A, Jales A, Tsang KY, Madan RA, Gulley JL, Schlom J. Elevated serum soluble CD40 ligand in cancer patients may play an immunosuppressive role. Blood. 2012;120(15):3030-8.
- Husmann LA, Bevan MJ. Cooperation between helper T cells and cytotoxic T lymphocyte precursors. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1988;532:158-69.
- Ichimura T, Morikawa T, Kawai T, Nakagawa T, Matsushita H, Kakimi K, Kume H, Ishikawa S, Homma Y, Fukayama M. Prognostic significance of CD204-positive macrophages in upper urinary tract cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(6):2105-12.
- Imaizumi K, Kawabe T, Ichiyama S, Kikutani H, Yagita H, Shimokata K, Hasegawa Y. Enhancement of tumoricidal activity of alveolar macrophages via CD40-CD40 ligand interaction. Am J Physiol. 1999;277(1 Pt 1):L49-57.
- Jenabian MA, Patel M, Kema I, Vyboh K, Kanagaratham C, Radzioch D, Thébault P, Lapointe R, Gilmore N, Ancuta P, Tremblay C, Routy JP. Soluble CD40-ligand (sCD40L, sCD154) plays

an immunosuppressive role via regulatory T cell expansion in HIV infection. Clin Exp Immunol. 2014;178(1):102-11.

- Jensen TO, Schmidt H, Møller HJ, Høyer M, Maniecki MB, Sjoegren P, Christensen IJ, Steiniche T. Macrophage markers in serum and tumor have prognostic impact in American Joint Committee on Cancer stage I/II melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(20):3330-7.
- Kang TW, Yevsa T, Woller N, Hoenicke L, Wuestefeld T, Dauch D, Hohmeyer A, Gereke M, Rudalska R, Potapova A, Iken M, Vucur M, Weiss S, Heikenwalder M, Khan S, Gil J, Bruder D, Manns M, Schirmacher P, Tacke F, Ott M, Luedde T, Longerich T, Kubicka S, Zender L. Senescence surveillance of pre-malignant hepatocytes limits liver cancer development. Nature. 2011;479(7374):547-51.
- Kawabe T, Matsushima M, Hashimoto N, Imaizumi K, Hasegawa Y. CD40/CD40 ligand interactions in immune responses and pulmonary immunity. Nagoya J Med Sci. 2011;73(3-4):69-78.
- Kawahara A, Hattori S, Akiba J, Nakashima K, Taira T, Watari K, Hosoi F, Uba M, Basaki Y, Koufuji K, Shirouzu K, Akiyama S, Kuwano M, Kage M, Ono M. Infiltration of thymidine phosphorylase-positive macrophages is closely associated with tumor angiogenesis and survival in intestinal type gastric cancer. Oncol Rep. 2010;24(2):405-15.
- Keene JA, Forman J. Helper activity is required for the in vivo generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1982;155(3):768-82.
- Kim JW, Gulley JL. Poxviral vectors for cancer immunotherapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2012;12(4):463-78.
- Kirn DH, Thorne SH. Targeted and armed oncolytic poxviruses: a novel multi-mechanistic therapeutic class for cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(1):64-71.
- Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Restifo NP. CD8+ T-cell memory in tumor immunology and immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2006;211:214-24.
- Kmieciak M, Worschech A, Nikizad H, Gowda M, Habibi M, Depcrynski A, Wang E, Godder K, Holt SE, Marincola FM, Manjili MH. CD4+ T cells inhibit the neu-specific CD8+ T-cell exhaustion during the priming phase of immune responses against breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;126(2):385-94.
- Kotowicz K, Dixon GL, Klein NJ, Peters MJ, Callard RE. Biological function of CD40 on human endothelial cells: costimulation with CD40 ligand and interleukin-4 selectively induces expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and P-selectin resulting in preferential adhesion of lymphocytes. Immunology. 2000;100(4):441-8.
- Laidlaw BJ, Craft JE, Kaech SM. The multifaceted role of CD4(+) T cells in CD8(+) T cell memory. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16(2):102-11.
- Lan C, Huang X, Lin S, Huang H, Cai Q, Wan T, Lu J, Liu J. Expression of M2-polarized macrophages is associated with poor prognosis for advanced epithelial ovarian cancer. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2013;12(3):259-67.
- Lanzavecchia A. Immunology. Licence to kill. Nature. 1998;393(6684):413-4.
- Larocca C, Schlom J. Viral vector-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. Cancer J. 2011;17(5):359-71.
- Loskog A, Maleka A, Mangsbo S, Svensson E, Lundberg C, Nilsson A, Krause J, Agnarsdóttir M, Sundin A, Ahlström H3, Tötterman TH, Ullenhag G. Immunostimulatory AdCD40L gene therapy combined with low-dose cyclophosphamide in metastatic melanoma patients. Br J Cancer. 2016;114(8):872-80.
- Loskog AS, Eliopoulos AG. The Janus faces of CD40 in cancer. Semin Immunol. 2009;21(5):301-7.
- Lum HD, Buhtoiarov IN, Schmidt BE, Berke G, Paulnock DM, Sondel PM, Rakhmilevich AL. Tumoristatic effects of anti-CD40 mAb-activated macrophages involve nitric oxide and tumour necrosis factor-alpha. Immunology. 2006;118(2):261-70. [A]

- Lum HD, Buhtoiarov IN, Schmidt BE, Berke G, Paulnock DM, Sondel PM, Rakhmilevich AL. In vivo CD40 ligation can induce T-cell-independent antitumor effects that involve macrophages. J Leukoc Biol. 2006;79(6):1181-92.
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(1):175-84.
- Ma DY, Clark EA. The role of CD40 and CD154/CD40L in dendritic cells. Semin Immunol. 2009;21(5):265-72.
- Ma J, Liu L, Che G, Yu N, Dai F, You Z. The M1 form of tumor-associated macrophages in nonsmall cell lung cancer is positively associated with survival time. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:112.
- Malmström PU, Loskog AS, Lindqvist CA, Mangsbo SM, Fransson M, Wanders A, Gårdmark T, Tötterman TH. AdCD40L immunogene therapy for bladder carcinoma--the first phase I/IIa trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(12):3279-87.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature. 2008;454(7203):436-44.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P. The interaction of anticancer therapies with tumor-associated macrophages. J Exp Med. 2015;212(4):435-45.
- Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14(7):399-416.
- Mantovani A, Sica A. Macrophages, innate immunity and cancer: balance, tolerance, and diversity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22(2):231-7.
- Mantovani A, Sozzani S, Locati M, Allavena P, Sica A. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol. 2002;23(11):549-55.
- Mantovani A. From phagocyte diversity and activation to probiotics: back to Metchnikoff. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(12):3269-73.
- Mariotti S, Nisini R. Generation of human T cell clones. Methods Mol Biol. 2009;514:65-93.
- Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyteto-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. J Immunol. 2006;177(10):7303-11.
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. F1000Prime Rep. 2014;6:13.
- Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol. 1994;12:991-1045.
- Medrek C, Pontén F, Jirström K, Leandersson K. The presence of tumor associated macrophages in tumor stroma as a prognostic marker for breast cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:306.
- Melief CJ. Cancer immunotherapy by dendritic cells. Immunity. 2008;29(3):372-83.
- Mescher MF, Curtsinger JM, Agarwal P, Casey KA, Gerner M, Hammerbeck CD, Popescu F, Xiao Z. Signals required for programming effector and memory development by CD8+ T cells. Immunol Rev. 2006;211:81-92.
- Miller KD, Siegel RL, Lin CC, Mariotto AB, Kramer JL, Rowland JH, Stein KD, Alteri R, Jemal A. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. 2016;66(4):271-89.
- Mills CD, Lenz LL, Harris RA. A Breakthrough: Macrophage-Directed Cancer Immunotherapy. Cancer Res. 2016;76(3):513-6.
- Mills CD, Shearer J, Evans R, Caldwell MD. Macrophage arginine metabolism and the inhibition or stimulation of cancer. J Immunol. 1992;149(8):2709-14.
- Mills CD. Anatomy of a discovery: m1 and m2 macrophages. Front Immunol. 2015;6:212.
- Mills CD. M1 and M2 Macrophages: Oracles of Health and Disease. Crit Rev Immunol. 2012;32(6):463-88.

- Mishra J, Drummond J, Quazi SH, Karanki SS, Shaw JJ, Chen B, Kumar N. Prospective of colon cancer treatments and scope for combinatorial approach to enhanced cancer cell apoptosis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2013;86(3):232-50.
- Mitchison NA, O'Malley C. Three-cell-type clusters of T cells with antigen-presenting cells best explain the epitope linkage and noncognate requirements of the in vivo cytolytic response. Eur J Immunol. 1987;17(11):1579-83.
- Moss B. Vaccinia virus: a tool for research and vaccine development. Science. 1991;252(5013):1662-7.
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(12):958-69.
- Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(11):723-37.
- Nebiker CA, Han J, Eppenberger-Castori S, Iezzi G, Hirt C, Amicarella F, Cremonesi E, Huber X, Padovan E, Angrisani B, Droeser RA, Rosso R, Bolli M, Oertli D, von Holzen U, Adamina M, Muraro MG, Mengus C, Zajac P, Sconocchia G, Zuber M, Tornillo L, Terracciano L, Spagnoli GC. GM-CSF Production by Tumor Cells Is Associated with Improved Survival in Colorectal Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(12):3094-106.
- Noy R, Pollard JW. Tumor-associated macrophages: from mechanisms to therapy. Immunity. 2014;41(1):49-61.
- Obar JJ, Lefrançois L. Early events governing memory CD8+ T-cell differentiation. Int Immunol. 2010;22(8):619-25.
- Ohri CM, Shikotra A, Green RH, Waller DA, Bradding P. Macrophages within NSCLC tumour islets are predominantly of a cytotoxic M1 phenotype associated with extended survival. Eur Respir J. 2009;33(1):118-26.
- Ohri CM, Shikotra A, Green RH, Waller DA, Bradding P. The tissue microlocalisation and cellular expression of CD163, VEGF, HLA-DR, iNOS, and MRP 8/14 is correlated to clinical outcome in NSCLC. PLoS One. 2011;6(7):e21874.
- O'Sullivan T, Saddawi-Konefka R, Vermi W, Koebel CM, Arthur C, White JM, Uppaluri R, Andrews DM, Ngiow SF, Teng MW, Smyth MJ, Schreiber RD, Bui JD. Cancer immunoediting by the innate immune system in the absence of adaptive immunity. J Exp Med. 2012;209(10):1869-82.
- Panni RZ, Linehan DC, DeNardo DG. Targeting tumor-infiltrating macrophages to combat cancer. Immunotherapy. 2013;5(10):1075-87.
- Pantano F, Berti P, Guida FM, Perrone G, Vincenzi B, Amato MM, Righi D, Dell'aquila E, Graziano F, Catalano V, Caricato M, Rizzo S, Muda AO, Russo A, Tonini G, Santini D. The role of macrophages polarization in predicting prognosis of radically resected gastric cancer patients. J Cell Mol Med. 2013;17(11):1415-21.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252-64.
- Parviainen S, Ahonen M, Diaconu I, Hirvinen M, Karttunen Å, Vähä-Koskela M, Hemminki A, Cerullo V. CD40 ligand and tdTomato-armed vaccinia virus for induction of antitumor immune response and tumor imaging. Gene Ther. 2014;21(2):195-204.
- Pollard JW. Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(1):71-8.
- Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. Cell. 2010;141(1):39-51.
- Quezada SA, Jarvinen LZ, Lind EF, Noelle RJ. CD40/CD154 interactions at the interface of tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:307-28.

- Rakhmilevich AL, Alderson KL, Sondel PM. T-cell-independent antitumor effects of CD40 ligation. Int Rev Immunol. 2012;31(4):267-78.
- Remer M, White A, Glennie M, Al-Shamkhani A, Johnson P. The Use of Anti-CD40 mAb in Cancer. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2015;405:165-207.
- Richman LP, Vonderheide RH. Role of crosslinking for agonistic CD40 monoclonal antibodies as immune therapy of cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(1):19-26.
- Ridge JP, Di Rosa F, Matzinger P. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. Nature. 1998;393(6684):474-8.
- Roca H, Varsos ZS, Sud S, Craig MJ, Ying C, Pienta KJ. CCL2 and interleukin-6 promote survival of human CD11b+ peripheral blood mononuclear cells and induce M2-type macrophage polarization. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(49):34342-54.
- Rousseau RF, Biagi E, Dutour A, Yvon ES, Brown MP, Lin T, Mei Z, Grilley B, Popek E, Heslop HE, Gee AP, Krance RA, Popat U, Carrum G, Margolin JF, Brenner MK. Immunotherapy of high-risk acute leukemia with a recipient (autologous) vaccine expressing transgenic human CD40L and IL-2 after chemotherapy and allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2006;107(4):1332-41.
- Ruffell B, Coussens LM. Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(4):462-72.
- Saccani A, Schioppa T, Porta C, Biswas SK, Nebuloni M, Vago L, Bottazzi B, Colombo MP, Mantovani A, Sica A. p50 nuclear factor-kappaB overexpression in tumor-associated macrophages inhibits M1 inflammatory responses and antitumor resistance. Cancer Res. 2006;66(23):11432-40.
- Sandhu SK, Papadopoulos K, Fong PC, Patnaik A, Messiou C, Olmos D, Wang G, Tromp BJ, Puchalski TA, Balkwill F, Berns B, Seetharam S, de Bono JS, Tolcher AW. A first-in-human, first-in-class, phase I study of carlumab (CNTO 888), a human monoclonal antibody against CC-chemokine ligand 2 in patients with solid tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2013;71(4):1041-50.
- Schoenberger SP, Toes RE, van der Voort EI, Offringa R, Melief CJ. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature. 1998;393(6684):480-3.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565-70.
- Sharon E, Streicher H, Goncalves P, Chen HX. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in clinical trials. Chin J Cancer. 2014;33(9):434-44.
- Shaul ME, Bennett G, Strissel KJ, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. Dynamic, M2-like remodeling phenotypes of CD11c+ adipose tissue macrophages during high-fat diet--induced obesity in mice. Diabetes. 2010;59(5):1171-81.
- Shen Y, Nemunaitis J. Fighting cancer with vaccinia virus: teaching new tricks to an old dog. Mol Ther. 2005;11(2):180-95.
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(3):787-95.
- So T, Nagashima H, Ishii N. TNF Receptor-Associated Factor (TRAF) Signaling Network in CD4(+) T-Lymphocytes. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2015;236(2):139-54.
- Sotomayor EM, Borrello I, Tubb E, Rattis FM, Bien H, Lu Z, Fein S, Schoenberger S, Levitsky HI. Conversion of tumor-specific CD4+ T-cell tolerance to T-cell priming through in vivo ligation of CD40. Nat Med. 1999;5(7):780-7.
- Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, Williams J, Meng Y, Ha TT, Gajewski TF. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(200):200ra116.

- Steiger J, Nickerson PW, Steurer W, Moscovitch-Lopatin M, Strom TB. IL-2 knockout recipient mice reject islet cell allografts. J Immunol. 1995;155(1):489-98.
- Stein M, Keshav S, Harris N, Gordon S. Interleukin 4 potently enhances murine macrophage mannose receptor activity: a marker of alternative immunologic macrophage activation. J Exp Med. 1992;176(1):287-92.
- Suresh T, Lee LX, Joshi J, Barta SK. New antibody approaches to lymphoma therapy. J Hematol Oncol. 2014;7:58.
- Todryk SM, Tutt AL, Green MH, Smallwood JA, Halanek N, Dalgleish AG, Glennie MJ. CD40 ligation for immunotherapy of solid tumours. J Immunol Methods. 2001;248(1-2):139-47.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2015;27(4):450-61.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Targeting the PD-1/B7-H1(PD-L1) pathway to activate antitumor immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(2):207-12.
- Topalian SL, Sznol M, McDermott DF, Kluger HM, Carvajal RD, Sharfman WH, Brahmer JR, Lawrence DP, Atkins MB, Powderly JD, Leming PD, Lipson EJ, Puzanov I, Smith DC, Taube JM, Wigginton JM, Kollia GD, Gupta A, Pardoll DM, Sosman JA, Hodi FS. Survival, durable tumor remission, and long-term safety in patients with advanced melanoma receiving nivolumab. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(10):1020-30.
- Topalian SL, Taube JM, Anders RA, Pardoll DM. Mechanism-driven biomarkers to guide immune checkpoint blockade in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(5):275-87.
- Tran KQ, Zhou J, Durflinger KH, Langhan MM, Shelton TE, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME. Minimally cultured tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes display optimal characteristics for adoptive cell therapy. J Immunother. 2008;31(8):742-51.
- Trella E, Raafat N, Mengus C, Traunecker E, Governa V, Heidtmann S, Heberer M, Oertli D, Spagnoli GC, Zajac P. CD40 ligand-expressing recombinant vaccinia virus promotes the generation of CD8(+) central memory T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2016;46(2):420-31.
- Tutt AL, O'Brien L, Hussain A, Crowther GR, French RR, Glennie MJ. T cell immunity to lymphoma following treatment with anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol. 2002;168(6):2720-8.
- Ullenhag G, Loskog AS. AdCD40L--crossing the valley of death?. Int Rev Immunol. 2012;31(4):289-98.
- van Kooten C, Banchereau J. CD40-CD40 ligand. J Leukoc Biol. 2000;67(1):2-17.
- van Mierlo GJ, den Boer AT, Medema JP, van der Voort EI, Fransen MF, Offringa R, Melief CJ, Toes RE. CD40 stimulation leads to effective therapy of CD40(-) tumors through induction of strong systemic cytotoxic T lymphocyte immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(8):5561-6.
- Vonderheide RH, Bajor DL, Winograd R, Evans RA, Bayne LJ, Beatty GL. CD40 immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62(5):949-54.
- Vonderheide RH, Glennie MJ. Agonistic CD40 antibodies and cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(5):1035-43.
- Vonderheide RH. Prospect of targeting the CD40 pathway for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(4):1083-8.
- Wierda WG, Cantwell MJ, Woods SJ, Rassenti LZ, Prussak CE, Kipps TJ. CD40-ligand (CD154) gene therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2000;96(9):2917-24.
- Xu L, Zhu Y, Chen L, An H, Zhang W, Wang G, Lin Z, Xu J. Prognostic value of diametrically polarized tumor-associated macrophages in renal cell carcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(9):3142-50.

- Yue C, Shen S, Deng J, Priceman SJ, Li W, Huang A, Yu H. STAT3 in CD8+ T Cells Inhibits Their Tumor Accumulation by Downregulating CXCR3/CXCL10 Axis. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(8):864-870.
- Zajac P, Oertli D, Spagnoli GC, Noppen C, Schaefer C, Heberer M, Marti WR. Generation of tumoricidal cytotoxic T lymphocytes from healthy donors after in vitro stimulation with a replication-incompetent vaccinia virus encoding MART-1/Melan-A 27-35 epitope. Int J Cancer. 1997;71(3):491-6.
- Zajac P, Schütz A, Oertli D, Noppen C, Schaefer C, Heberer M, Spagnoli GC, Marti WR. Enhanced generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes using recombinant vaccinia virus expressing human tumor-associated antigens and B7 costimulatory molecules. Cancer Res. 1998;58(20):4567-71.
- Zhang H, Wang X, Shen Z, Xu J, Qin J, Sun Y. Infiltration of diametrically polarized macrophages predicts overall survival of patients with gastric cancer after surgical resection. Gastric Cancer. 2015;18(4):740-50.
- Zhang M, He Y, Sun X, Li Q, Wang W, Zhao A, Di W. A high M1/M2 ratio of tumor-associated macrophages is associated with extended survival in ovarian cancer patients. J Ovarian Res. 2014;7:19.
- Zheng X, Turkowski K, Mora J, Brüne B, Seeger W, Weigert A, Savai R. Redirecting tumorassociated macrophages to become tumoricidal effectors as a novel strategy for cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 2017;8(29):48436-48452.
- Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Targeting PD-1/PD-L1 interactions for cancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(8):1223-1225.
- Zwaveling S, Ferreira Mota SC, Nouta J, Johnson M, Lipford GB, Offringa R, van der Burg SH, Melief CJ. Established human papillomavirus type 16-expressing tumors are effectively eradicated following vaccination with long peptides. J Immunol. 2002;169(1):350-8.

List of publications

- Fallarini S, Brittoli A, Fiore M, Lombardi G, Renaudet O, Richichi B, Nativi C. Immunological characterization of a rigid α-Tn mimetic on murine iNKT and human NK cells. *Glycoconj J*. 2017; 34(4):553-562.
- Brittoli A, Fallarini S, Zhang H, Lombardi G. 2017. "In vitro" studies on galectin-3 in human natural killer cells. *Immunol Lett.* 2017; 194:4-12.
- Trella E, Brittoli A, Mele V, Governa V, Pinamonti M, Terracciano L, Muenst S, Iezzi G, Spagnoli G, Zajac P. 2017. CD154/40L recombinant vaccinia virus induces direct and macrophage-mediated in vitro and in vivo anti-tumor effects. Submitted to Cancer Research

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all the different people that somehow took part to this 3 years work, either supporting or tolerating me during these long and hard three years.

First of all, I want to express my sincere gratitude to Professor Grazia Lombardi who made possible this work and always supported me and gave me precious advice every time I got lost. Most importantly, I want to thank her for her passion, patience and for encouraging and guiding me a lot during this experience making me mature as a scientist. Wherever I will be in the future, I will never forgive your precious teachings.

A big thank to Silvia Fallarini who has contributed to expand my knowledge in the biology field and to make me a more (though only a little bit) tidy and methodical person.

A special mention goes to the amazing research group of Prof. Giulio Spagnoli that I had the pleasure to visit in Basel. I was immediately welcomed and I felt like part of a family, being with you made me really appreciate this work, and taught me the real meaning of the word collaboration. Most notably, I want to thank you because I learned really a lot about immunology and I had the chance to expand my critical thinking.

In particular, I would like to thank Professor Giulio Spagnoli who has made available his support in a numberless of ways.

Dr. Paul Zajac whose door was always open whenever I had a question or ran into troubles.

I also have a great debt of gratitude with Emanuele Trella, renamed my life-coach. You are one of the most brilliant postdocs I ever had the pleasure to meet, and despite you taught me a lot form the scientific point of view I want to thank you because you managed to make me believe in myself, which is worthy of note. If I grow to be half of the scientist that you are, I shall be happy indeed.

A special thank goes to Valeria Governa and to our motto: "mai fine al peggio!!"

Thanks to all the people, I had the pleasure to meet, during these years in the lab., in particular, Giulia Coda Zabetta, Francesca Rocchio and Enza Torre that made really pleasant the everyday work, sharing interest (coffee) and laughs.

I want also to thanks all the people that emotionally and morally supported me along the way.

Thanks to my beautiful and enthusiastic niece, my sibling and my parents who always encouraged me and forgiven my many absences.

Many thanks to all my friends Marco Rocchini, Guia Giovannelli, Martina Pasquini, Filippo Mazzinghi, Alessandro Innocenti, who have always been able to appease my stressed mind.

Finally, I would like to thank you, even if you are not anymore near to me, I will always bring the beautiful memories of the time spent together, in my mind and tightly bounded to my finger. You probably taught me more than everyone else, supporting me when I was more fragile, when nobody else was there, holding my hand, guiding me through life, helping me to get back on my feet everytime I fell. Your love was unconditional and I will always be eternally grateful to you.



SCIENZE DEL FARMACO

L.go Donegani, 2 – 28100 Novara NO Tel. 0321 375 857 - Fax 0321 375 821

DECLARATION AND AUTHORISATION TO ANTIPLAGIARISM DETECTION

The undersigned Alvaro Brittoli student of Chemistry&Biology Ph.D course (XXX Cicle)

declares:

- to be aware that the University has adopted a web-based service to detect plagiarism through a software system called "Turnitin",
- his/her Ph.D. thesis was submitted to Turnitin scan and reasonably it resulted an original document, which correctly cites the literature

acknowledges:

 his/her Ph.D. thesis can be verified by his/her Ph.D. tutor and/or Ph.D Coordinator in order to confirm its originality.

Date: 13.11.17

Signature: